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Key Performance Indicators
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Hyder Consulting PLC   2009 Projects at a Glance

UK - Building on strong track record in utilities 
with commission for an advance component of 
the AMP5 programme with Severn Trent.

BAHRAIN - Setting a new benchmark for urban 
development at Diyar Al Muharraq.

UK - Selected as Principal Consultant for the 
£90m Overground Rail Network Upgrade for 
Network Rail.

QATAR - Developing a centre for educational 
excellence.

GERMANY - Providing design services at 
Frankfurt Airport and Berlin Brandenburg 
International Airport.

GERMANY - Design verifi cation and site 
supervision role on A5 autobahn PPP.
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Hyder Consulting operates across the UK / Europe, Middle East and Asia Pacifi c in four core market 
sectors: transportation, utilities, property and environment. The map below shows some of the key 
projects we have undertaken in 2009 which demonstrate the breadth and depth of our expertise.

CHINA - Transport planning and landscape 
design for Tangshan New Town.

ABU DHABI - 45 year presence generates new 
contracts with the Abu Dhabi Sewerage Services 
Company.

NEW ZEALAND - Design competition winner 
for Te Wero Bridge, Auckland.

HONG KONG - Development and implementation 
of the Hong Kong Greening Master Plan, the 
single largest landscape and urban improvement 
project in the territory.

DUBAI - 
Design and 
construction 
supervision 
on the 
world’s 
tallest 
building, the 
Burj Dubai.

AUSTRALIA - Independent verifi er on the 
Brisbane Airport Link. 
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Chairman’s Statement

Results

Revenue grew to £319.0m (2008: £233.7m), an increase of 37%, 25% 
on a constant currency basis. Net revenue, after deduction of sub-
consultant costs, increased by 37% to £269.9m (2008: £196.9m). 

Adjusted operating profi t grew by 16% to £17.4m (2008: £15.0m), 
although the economic climate affected the net revenue margin 
at 6.4% (2008: 7.6%).  In the second half of the year, £8.6m was 
incurred in restructuring the Group, resulting in exceptional 
costs for the full year of £9.1m. Operating profi t after exceptional 
items and amortisation amounted to £5.0m (2008: £13.4m).

Profi t before tax, exceptional items and amortisation of 
acquisition intangibles rose by 8% to £15.6m (2008: £14.4m).

The effective rate of tax on adjusted profi ts was 13.9% (2008: 
13.6%), due to profi ts earned in zero tax jurisdictions in the 
Middle East and Research and Development tax credits in both 
the UK and Australia.  A tax credit of £0.3m was recognised in 
the year (2008 charge: £1.6m).  

Adjusted fully diluted earnings per share increased by 4.5% to 
34.87p (2008: 33.36p).  Fully diluted earnings per share after 
exceptional items and amortisation was 9.10p (2008: 30.04p).

Funding

At 31 March 2009 net debt reduced to £5.7m (2008: £11.1m) due to 
a much improved cash conversion rate of 88% (2008: 23%). Cash 
balances at the year end amounted to £18.1m and our principal 
banking facilities of £38m are committed until 2012/13 contributing 
to considerable headroom. The Group operates comfortably 
within its banking covenants which we expect to continue.

Dividend

The Directors are pleased to propose a fi nal dividend of 3.15p 
per share (2008: 2.10p) making a full year dividend of 4.5p 
per share (2008: 3p), a rise of 50%.  The full year dividend is 
covered 7.7 times by adjusted fully diluted earnings per share 
(2008: 11.1 times).

Operating Highlights

In the UK our transportation business performed strongly. In 
the rail sector, we were approved for all seven of the Crossrail 

frameworks, and won a major project on the North London 
Line. Hyder is client representative on the M25 widening DBFO 
contract and works closely on projects with Transport for 
London and the UK Highways Agency. The UK’s utilities business 
has also performed well and we retain a strong presence in 
the water sector. Severn Trent Water has already appointed 
Hyder on its AMP5 programme, and our water and marine 
engineering teams have been engaged on a number of London 
2012 Olympics projects. In Northern Ireland we completed our 
design for the £120m Project Omega PFI programme. We have 
made important progress too in the energy and environment 
sectors. Though the commercial property market has softened 
considerably, we have reorganised to present a co-ordinated, 
multi-disciplinary approach towards development planning and 
design – meeting the needs of land developers and regional 
development agencies. In Germany, our recent acquisitions, 
Voigt and Seib, have performed well and have now been merged 
with our existing business into a single entity bearing the 
Hyder Consulting brand. The business has a strong profi le in 
airports and public sector infrastructure, and secured two 
major contracts at the new Berlin Brandenburg International 
Airport. In highways, we were awarded the design approval and 
construction supervision role on the A5 autobahn PPP project in 
south west Germany. This third motorway PPP win increases our 
reputation as the leading PPP consultant in the country.

In the Middle East our business performed particularly strongly 
with overall net revenue increasing by 70%. Only 25% of the 
business is related to the Dubai property sector and over 55% 
of our fee income from the region comes from the oil and gas 
based economies of Abu Dhabi, Qatar and Bahrain where our 
longstanding presence has helped us win major projects in 
the highways, infrastructure and water sectors.  Our work on 
Burj Dubai, the world’s tallest building, and the surrounding 
infrastructure is progressing well. Although the Dubai market 
slowed in the latter half of the year, which affected cash 
collections, we have adapted by downsizing our operations 
and moving work offshore whilst reinforcing our longstanding 
client relationships. Holford Associates, which we acquired 
in 2008, has integrated well and enables us to offer clients 
a multi-disciplined capability from concept through to 
commissioning. The property sector in the Northern Gulf and 
Abu Dhabi continues to be strong. Our offshore production 
centre in Manila, where we now have 200 staff, is becoming an 
increasingly important competitive asset.

In Australia, Hyder is part of high profi le alliances working 
on the West Gate Freeway Upgrade for the Victoria State 
Government and the Ipswich Motorway Upgrade for the 
Queensland State Government and is competing for fi ve other 
high profi le transport infrastructure schemes. Recent signifi cant 
contracts include:  a role on the Government’s ‘Building the 
Education Revolution’ programme, part of its economic stimulus 
package; lead designer on the large Royal North Shore Hospital 
scheme; and Australian interstate water trading reform. Hyder 
was also part of the winning team for the prestigious Te Wero 
Bridge competition in New Zealand.  In China, government 
stimulus packages aim to develop cities and infrastructure to 

I am pleased to report another year 
of growth for the Group with both 
profi ts and cash ahead of last year 
and of market expectations. 
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cater for the growing trend in urbanisation which we expect 
to create signifi cant opportunities. In Hong Kong, a major 
public sector expenditure programme, particularly transport 
infrastructure, is underway.  We have already secured a role 
on the Mass Transit Railway, with further opportunities in 
the pipeline. Our landscape and planning business (ACLA) has 
performed well across Hong Kong, China and Vietnam. Its work 
on the Hong Kong Greening Master Plan won Sustain Magazine’s 
International Project of the Year award. During the year, Hyder 
won ten awards which is testimony to the international spread 
of its engineering expertise and reputation.  

Strategy

Our central objective is to enhance shareholder value and our 
fi rst task is to grow and sustain our operating margins. To do 
so, we shall strive to maintain and enhance relationships with 
our clients, concentrating on those sectors and applications 
where we have specialist capabilities and are able to offer a 
differentiated service. We shall combine this market approach 
with close attention to high standards of project management 
and tight control over staff utilisation and overheads. We are 
attaching high priority to the conversion of profi t into cash 
and have introduced new procedures to ensure we utilise best 
practice throughout the Group.

Following a review of operations early in 2009, we restructured 
the business in order to align our services more closely with our 
core markets, to improve our operational effi ciency and to deal 
with changes in market conditions. As a result, we have reduced 
our headcount by about 8% and incurred one-off, exceptional 
costs of £8.6m in the second half of the year. We forecast that 
this will result in annualised cost savings of £19m, including 
overhead savings of approximately £4m per annum. 

We have simplifi ed the management structure, and regional 
operations have been organised on a client-facing, market-
sector basis covering transportation, utilities, property and 
environment. This lean structure aligns our resources and 
capabilities with clients’ needs, allowing regions to draw 
upon the resources of the Group to increase their competitive 
capability. This will help us build deeper client relationships and 
respond with greater agility to market opportunities.

People

We currently employ approximately 4,700 people across our 
regions, c. 4,500 on a full time equivalent basis, which is lower 
than at the half year as a consequence of the restructuring. The 
retention and development of staff remains a key priority and 
we are continuing targeted recruitment at graduate level and 
for specifi c project opportunities. We want our people to benefi t 
from the best career opportunities and fi ll vacancies by internal 
promotions wherever possible. We actively encourage staff 
to gain experience in different regions and there was a 15% 
increase in regional staff transfers during the year. 

Board of Directors

There were a number of important changes to the Board 
during the year.  Ivor Catto was appointed Chief Executive in 
December 2008 having been recruited from WS Atkins where 
he had headed its largest division. His experience and the 
steps he has already taken give the Board confi dence that we 
have the leadership necessary to address the Group’s priorities. 
Russell Down was promoted to the Board as Finance Director 
in December 2008, an experienced internal appointment to 
complement Mr Catto. Tim Wade, former Chief Executive, and 
Simon Hamilton-Eddy, former Financial Director, retired in 
November and December 2008 respectively, and Keith Reynolds, 
former Executive Director, resigned in February 2009; we wish 
them well.

In addition, as announced on 1 May 2009, Peter Morgan, our 
Senior Independent Director, has indicated his intention to 
retire from the Board, effective from the end of the 2009 
Annual General Meeting on 23 July 2009. I would like to express 
the Board’s appreciation for his much valued contribution. 
In anticipation of Mr Morgan’s retirement, Jeffrey Hume has 
replaced Mr Morgan as Chairman of the Audit Committee; 
and Paul Withers has replaced Mr Morgan as Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and Senior Independent Director.

Outlook

With over two thirds of net revenue earned overseas, the Group 
is broadly spread across both geographies and market sectors.  
Our order book has increased by 22% to £384.0m, the largest 
growth coming from our international markets. We have already 
secured approximately 60% of our budgeted revenue for the year 
ahead.

The economic climate remains uncertain and the private 
property market has declined. However, we are confi dent 
that we have taken the necessary action to respond to these 
market conditions and are encouraged that governments in 
all regions intend to maintain or expand their expenditure on 
infrastructure which should lead to increased demand in the 
transportation and utilities sectors. Our leaner structure and 
low gearing, together with our geographic and market spread, 
position us strongly to manage the challenges ahead and to 
take advantage of the opportunities which will arise.  

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express thanks 
to our clients for their co-operation and support and to our 
hardworking staff for enabling us to report these results.

Sir Alan Thomas
Chairman
8 June 2009
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Directors and Advisers

DIRECTORS

Sir Alan Thomas Chairman 

Ivor Catto Chief Executive (appointed 1 December   
  2008)

Russell Down Finance Director (appointed 11 December  
  2008)
 

Peter Morgan Non-Executive Director 

Paul Withers Non-Executive Director 

Jeffrey Hume Non-Executive Director  

DIRECTORS WHO ALSO SERVED IN THE YEAR

Tim Wade former Chief Executive                    
 (retired 30 November 2008)

Simon Hamilton-Eddy former Financial Director                
 (retired 10 December 2008)

Keith Reynolds former Regional Managing Director  
 Australasia (resigned 28 February   
 2009) 

COMPANY SECRETARY
Neil Hunt 

REGISTERED OFFICE
29 Bressenden Place, London SW1E 5DZ, UK

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER

Hyder Consulting PLC is registered in England and Wales    
with company number 768087 

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
31 Great George Street, Bristol BS1 5QD, UK

SOLICITORS
Wragge & Co LLP
55 Colmore Row, Birmingham B3 2AS, UK

REGISTRARS
Capita Registrars
Northern House, Woodsome Park, Fenay Bridge, 
Huddersfi eld HD8 0LA, UK

BROKERS
Numis Securities Limited
10 Paternoster Square, London EC4M 7LT, UK

FINANCIAL ADVISORS
Close Brothers Corporate Finance Limited
10 Crown Place, London EC2A 4FT, UK

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
HSBC Bank plc
70 Pall Mall, London SW1Y 5EZ, UK

6  

Hyder Consulting PLC Board.
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Directors’ Biographies

SIR ALAN THOMAS 
CHAIRMAN (AGE 66)

Sir Alan Thomas is also Chairman of 
Three Valleys Water plc.  Previously, 
he was President and CEO of Raytheon 
Europe International; Head of the 
British Government’s Defence Exports 
Services Organisation (DESO); a 
Director of Powergen plc; Chairman 
of Global Design Technologies LLC; a 
Senior Industrial Advisor to the Water 
Regulator; a Member of the Engineering 
Council; and Chairman of the University 
of Westminster.  He is a Chartered 
Engineer, Chartered Management 
Accountant and an Hon DSc.

IVOR CATTO
CHIEF EXECUTIVE (AGE 42)

Mr Catto was appointed to the Board 
as Chief Executive on 1 December 
2008.  Prior to joining Hyder, he was an 
Executive Board Director at WS Atkins 
and previously held roles at Scottish 
Power plc and Babtie Group.  Mr Catto 
is a member of the Industry Steering 
Panel for the New Civil Engineer and 
has particular interest in the areas of 
sustainability, energy and infrastructure 
design.  He is a Chartered Engineer, a 
Fellow of the Institution of Mechanical 
Engineers, and a graduate of Harvard 
Business School’s Advanced Management 
Program.  

RUSSELL DOWN
FINANCE DIRECTOR (AGE 44)

Mr Down was appointed to the Board as 
Finance Director on 11 December 2008. 
He joined the Group in 1997 as Finance 
Director for the Middle East region, based 
in Dubai, and has subsequently held the 
roles of Group Financial Controller and 
Group Head of Finance and Development.  
He is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales, having qualifi ed with KPMG.

PETER MORGAN MBE 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 73)

Mr Morgan is a Non-Executive Director 
of Oxford Instruments plc and the 
Strategic Thought Group.  He is also a 
Director of the Association of Lloyd’s 
Members and a UK delegate to the EU 
Economic and Social Committee based 
in Brussels.  Previously, he has been 
Director General of the Institute of 
Directors, an Executive Director of IBM 
UK and IBM Europe and an elected 
member of the Council of Lloyd’s.

PAUL WITHERS 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 53) 

Mr Withers is also a Non-Executive 
Director of Premier Farnell plc and was 
a Group Managing Director of BPB plc 
between 2001 and 2006.  

JEFFREY HUME 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 56)

Mr Hume is a Non-Executive Director 
of Heath Lambert Insurance Brokers 
and a member of the London Stock 
Exchange’s Primary Markets Group.  He 
is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants and of the Association of 
Corporate Treasurers.  He is a former 
Group Finance Director of TDG plc, AWG 
plc, Alfred McAlpine plc and Howden 
Group plc.
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Activities
Hyder is one of the world’s longest established engineering 
consultancies. With a history of over 150 years, and Freeman 
Fox & Partners among our forebears, we have created over the 
decades ground breaking solutions with our involvement in 
London’s Crystal Palace, Tower Bridge, Cape to Cairo Railway and 
Sydney Harbour Bridge. Today’s projects are equally impressive: 
the world’s tallest building, the Burj Dubai; the Hong Kong 
Greening Master Plan; Brisbane’s Hale Street Link; and China’s 
Chi Feng, Ji Zhao, Yaojiang and Fen bridges.

One of the few truly multi-national consultancies, we operate 
in Europe, the Middle East and Asia Pacifi c in four core market 
sectors: transportation, utilities, property and environment. 
In line with our heritage, we apply our extensive design and 
engineering expertise to major projects from across the Group 
for the benefi t of current and future generations.

UK / Europe
 
Regional revenues have increased by 8% this year, primarily 
as a result of prior year acquisitions, although our profi ts have 
declined due to the current economic climate in the UK and 
project related write downs in our German property business.

Our UK transport business has performed well, with the investment 
in rail bearing fruit. We secured a major win with the North London 
Line and were the only consultant to be approved for all seven 
of the Crossrail frameworks. We are also working on a number of 
other high profi le contracts for Network Rail and its partners. 

We retain our reputation for strong technical implementation.  
We are working in the client representative’s role on the M25 
widening DBFO contract and work closely with Transport for 
London as a framework supplier. In addition, we are working 
on other major road schemes in the UK, Ireland and Eastern 
Europe, as well as successfully providing services on a number 
of high profi le frameworks for the UK Highways Agency.  We are 
also supporting a number of large multi-disciplinary projects 
within the Middle East. 

Key Perfomance Indicators

In our utilities business, we retain a strong profi le in the water 
sector and have already been signed up for an advance component 
of the AMP5 programme with Severn Trent Water. Our water, 
marine and geotechnical engineering teams are working with a 
number of contractors to prepare sites and facilities which will be 
used for the London 2012 Olympics and Paralympic Games.

In Northern Ireland, we have completed our design services for 
the £120m Project Omega PFI programme for the Department of 
the Environment Water Service working with our partners Laing 
O’Rourke and Veolia.  The energy side of our utilities business 
shows good signs of growth. We entered into a partnership 
with specialist nuclear advisors Bradtec, and have subsequently 
secured important commissions for Magnox South and North and 
the Nuclear Decommissioning Agency.  We have completed the 
strategic environmental assessment for selection of several new 
build sites announced in April 2009. In addition we completed 
the concept and outline design of a 60MW biomass power 
station in the north east, wind power installations in Wales and 
Scotland and tidal lagoon energy facilities in the Severn Estuary.  

Our new structure allows the environment business to provide 
a wide range of specialist disciplines in a well co-ordinated 
offer. The business is supporting more public sector clients 
including major opportunities with the Highways Agency, Welsh 
Assembly and the Waste and Resources Action Programme.  In 
the private sector, the team are working with a range of clients 
on sustainability related issues.

Our reorganisation has also allowed us to present a more 
co-ordinated approach towards development planning and 
design – servicing the needs of land developers, and regional 
development agencies, through a multi-disciplinary service. 
We are also supporting the Building Schools for the Future 
programme in a number of locations. Our strong contractor 
relationships are helping us secure national scale contracts and 
urban regeneration, coupled with underlying demand for social 
and private residential development, and will provide us with 
good opportunities for the future.

In Germany, the integration of Hyder Acerplan, with our recently 
acquired entities Voigt and Seib has progressed well with all 
three companies trading as Hyder Consulting from 1 April 2009.

The business has built on its strong profi le in airports and 
public sector infrastructure, securing two major wins at the 
new Berlin Brandenburg International (BBI) Airport covering 
supervision and site management of the airport business park, 
together with the implementation and management of the 
plan approval procedure for the northern part of the airport 
and western apron. Our relationships with Fraport AG and FBS 
GmbH, the company behind the construction of BBI, ensure a 
good workfl ow from ongoing projects.

In highways, we were awarded the design approval and construction 
supervision role on the A5 autobahn PPP project in south west 
Germany. This was our third motorway PPP win and increases our 
reputation as the leading PPP consultant in the country.

Directors’ Report Business Review
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Middle East
 
With our 45 year presence, geographic spread and established 
client relationships, we have a strong position in the region. 
Whilst revenue almost doubled, adjusted operating profi ts 
increased by 80%. These results also benefi ted from the 
weakness of sterling during the year.

Over 55% of our work in the region comes from the oil and gas 
based economies of Abu Dhabi, Qatar and Bahrain where we 
have a longstanding presence. Hyder has good relationships 
and a strong reputation in these locations for its highways, 
infrastructure and water capabilities which represent signifi cant 
opportunities.  Recent project wins in these areas include the 
Diyaar Al Muharraq mixed use development in Bahrain and 
a number of Abu Dhabi Sewerage Services Company (ADSSC) 
improvement schemes.  Meanwhile, signifi cant infrastructure 
projects in Qatar, including Lusail and Education City, continue 
to increase in scale. Our success in infrastructure projects 
this year in these areas has led us to recruit almost 100 new 
employees to resource work effectively.

Our work on the Burj Dubai, the world’s 
tallest building, and the surrounding 
infrastructure is progressing well and 
other signifi cant projects we have been 
working on in Dubai this year include 
Jumeirah Garden City, Dubai Mall and 
Labour City.  

The Dubai market slowed in the latter half of the year and 
liquidity issues have resulted in slower payments, increasing 
our level of working capital. Through our longstanding presence 
in the region and key client relationships we are well placed 
to overcome these challenges. We have downsized our Dubai 
operations but also minimised our exposure to the market by 
previously restricting our growth and moving work offshore. 
In addition, our strategy of building strong relationships, 
and working almost exclusively for Dubai Government related 
entities on projects which have good viability leaves us well 
placed.  

Our management advisory team, with support from the UK, 
has secured roles in restructuring procurement for several PPP 
contracts for water supply and wastewater services for the 
cities of Jeddah, Medinah/Taif, Mecca and Greater Dammam 
in Saudi Arabia.  We have also supported Samsung of Korea in 
submitting signifi cant tender design schemes for two £200m 
contracts as part of the Abu Dhabi STEP Tunnel programme.  
Holford Associates, which we acquired in 2008, is integrating 
well into the business and enables us to offer clients a holistic 
concept to commissioning capability.  This, together with our 
strong property offering, particularly in high rise which has 
been well received in Abu Dhabi and Qatar, provides us with 
good opportunities outside Dubai.

Our offshore production centre in Manila, where we employ over 
200 staff, enables us to provide good quality design work in 
a fl exible and cost effective manner which is important in an 
increasingly competitive market.

Directors’ Report Business Review continued
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Asia Pacifi c
 

Revenue has increased by 36% predominantly in Australia 
as a result of infrastructure contracts, which has resulted in 
adjusted operating profi ts increasing by 22%. Margins have 
fallen as a result of lower utilisations in the current economic 
climate and increased overhead costs to drive growth. 

We have secured major project wins in the transport sector. 
Alliancing, and design and construction (D&C) contracts are the 
predominant means of implementation in Australia and Hyder 
has a good reputation in this area, being part of the high profi le 
M1 Alliance working on the West Gate Freeway Upgrade for the 
Victoria State Government, and the Ipswich Motorway Upgrade, 
a D&C contract for the Queensland State Government. We are 
also participating in bidding teams for fi ve other high profi le 
Australian transport infrastructure schemes. 

Although we have scaled back our property offering, in line 
with market demand, we have recently secured signifi cant 
contracts from the Australian Government’s ‘Building the 
Education Revolution’ programme which is part of a major 
national economic stimulus package worth over £6bn invested 
over three years. We have been appointed lead designer on 
the large Royal North Shore Hospital scheme which puts Hyder 
in prime position in the shift towards social infrastructure in 
the property sector and to capture more work from the new 
hospitals programme. 

Our work with the Council of Australian Governments, as part of 
interstate water trading reform, has been well received.  Water 
remains a key issue in Australia and presents us with good 
opportunities for the year ahead.

Hyder was part of the winning team 
for the prestigious Te Wero Bridge 
competition in Auckland, New 
Zealand.  Our innovative design was 
praised by the judging panel and 
will form an important connection 
between the city centre and the 
waterfront area.

In China, government stimulus packages aim to develop 
cities and infrastructure to cater for the growing trend in 
urbanisation.  We see signifi cant opportunities arising from this 
with both public and private sector clients.  In Hong Kong, a 
signifi cant public sector expenditure programme, with particular 
emphasis on transport infrastructure is underway.  We have 
already secured a role on the Mass Transit Railway programme, 
with further opportunities in the pipeline. 

Our landscape and planning business (ACLA) has performed well 
across Hong Kong, China and Vietnam.  We continue our work 
on the Hong Kong Greening Master Plan which won Sustain 
Magazine’s International Project of the Year award.

We have restructured our East Asian operations to align with 
our key sector strengths in transport and property.  We have 
developed differentiated service offerings in Hong Kong, 
Shanghai, Beijing and Hanoi in landscape and planning, 
transport planning and facades, and our relocation to new 
larger offi ces in Beijing and Shanghai has enabled us to grow 
the teams in those cities.  In Vietnam we see opportunities in 
both the property, and landscape and planning sectors. 

Directors’ Report Business Review continued

Key Perfomance Indicators

Order book Revenue Adjusted 
operating 
profi t

Adjusted 
operating 
margin

Number of 
employees

2008 20092008 20092008 2009 2008 20092008 2009

£4
6.

0m

£7
2.

2m
  

£6
1.

6m
   

                        

£8
3.

8m

£3
.7

m
 

£4
.5

m

6.
0%

  

5.
4%

 

1,
27

6

1,
16

9



Hong Kong Greening Masterplan    Hyder Consulting PLC Annual Report 2009    13   



14   Hyder Consulting PLC Annual Report 2009

People and Culture - Being an 
Employer of Choice
 

At the year end we had 4,694 employees across all our regions. 
We have maintained recruitment in targeted growth sectors, 
despite a number of redundancies in the Group, in order to 
ensure that we resource projects and clients effectively.  We 
are committed to providing our people with the best possible 
career development opportunities and raising Hyder’s profi le as 
an employer of choice. 

Upholding Equal Opportunities

We recruit the right people for the right job, regardless of 
gender, age and origin and we promote employees based on 
their skills, qualifi cations, abilities and aptitudes. 

As a multi-national consultancy, we aspire to best practice in 
dealing with our staff (including equal opportunities and anti-
discrimination) within each jurisdiction in which we operate.  
Local legislation lays down minimum standards and, where 
appropriate, we aim to surpass it. 

Consistency in Career Development 

In line with our HR strategy and our new structure, we have 
sought to bring greater clarity and consistency to all our roles 
including revising our career paths and introducing a new 
grading system.

These actions recognise the multi-national nature of our 
business and will assist our people when transferring between 
regions by providing a consistent framework.

Training and Development

We have undertaken a number of other HR initiatives to 
facilitate career development for our people:

we provided leadership training in all regions for senior • 
managers to help them develop the necessary skills and 
behaviours to be successful and high performing leaders; 

we have developed our talent management strategy and • 
formalised our high potential employee programmes across 
the Group; 

we have incorporated an assessment centre into our • 
graduate recruitment programme – a feature which is 
highly valued by graduates; 

we are replicating our UK graduate development • 
programme, including the Graduate of the Year 
competition, across all our regions; and

we have revised the personal development review (PDR) • 
process to introduce consistency across all regions and 
roles.  Through this process, we are better able to identify 
appropriate training, coaching and mentoring to help each 
employee’s development. 

Empowering Our Managers

Our restructure has streamlined management and brought 
greater accountability and empowerment to divisional heads. 
They now have full profi t and loss responsibility and will lead in 
driving a culture of successful client relationship management 
and high performance. We have launched a training programme 
to assist them in this and enhance their commercial and 
management skills. 

Encouraging Employee Mobility

We want to ensure that our people 
benefi t from the best career 
opportunities and seek to fi ll 
vacancies by internal promotions 
wherever possible. We actively 
encourage employee mobility 
between all regions and this year 
we have seen a 15% increase in 
employees taking up new roles in 
offi ces in other geographies. 

Employee Engagement - Key Driver to Success

This year we carried out an employee engagement survey 
which was a signifi cant step beyond our previous employee 
satisfaction surveys. Research has shown a clear link between 
employee engagement and performance/retention. Having 
conducted the survey, we are better able to understand 
employees’ motivations and loyalty towards Hyder and how we 
can build on this.

The survey generated a high response rate and positive results 
which refl ect our people’s strong loyalty and commitment to 
Hyder. It has also enabled us to pinpoint the areas we need to 
improve. Each region has developed action plans to address 
the major factors inhibiting employee engagement that will 
enhance the employee experience at Hyder.

Remuneration 

We remain committed to ensuring our remuneration policies and 
arrangements are competitive and have introduced a new bonus 
scheme for employees with a profi t and loss responsibility. This 
supports our move to increasing employee accountability and 
driving a culture of performance management. 

Directors’ Report Business Review continued
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Awards - testimony to our success
Hyder has been recognised in 2009 with a number of prestigious 
awards, as set out below, which showcase our talented people, 
innovation and strong market position.

NCE - International Consultant of the Year fi nalist: having won 
the award for International Consultant of the year in 2007 we were 
pleased to be nominated as a fi nalist for the award this year.

Sustain Magazine - International Project of the Year 
2009: awarded for developing and implementing Hong Kong’s 
Greening Master Plan for the Central district. The Hong Kong 
Greening Master Plan is the single largest landscape and urban 
improvement project which aims to improve the quality of life 
and environment for Hong Kong’s citizens.  

Hong Kong Institute of Landscape Architects - Certifi cate 
of Merit for Excellence: awarded for our work on the RF You 
Yi Cheng Park, Beijing. This 12 hectare park project takes its 
design direction from Beijing scale, climate and user activities. 
Particular emphasis was placed on landform creation to defi ne 
special character.

Te Wero Bridge - Design Competition winner: the design 
by Hyder Consulting, Denton Corker Marshall and Kenneth 
Grubb Associates selected as winning entry by Auckland City 
Council. The judging panel was impressed by the high level of 
design innovation, the dramatic effect of the bridge opening 
and closing and the landmark impact the bridge design would 
create.

Institution of Structural Engineers - Heritage Award for 
Infrastructure: awarded for our work on the Westminster 
Bridge fascia replacement project. 

Institution of Highways and Transportation/Centre for 
Protection of National Infrastructure - Security in the 
Public Realm Award 2008: awarded to West One, together with 
Westminster City Council and the Cabinet Offi ce for their work 
on the Whitehall Streetscape Project. 

Urban Development Institution of Australian NSW Awards 
for Excellence - Sustainability: awarded for the design 
measures used in the New Rouse Hill development north-west 
of Sydney. Our innovative approach of using water modelling 
in developing design solutions resulted in initiatives that 
were new to the area and also delivered community and 
environmental benefi ts. 

Investors in People - continued accreditation until 2010: 
we are proud that this award recognises our continuing 
commitment to our greatest asset, our people.

RoSPA - Gold Medal Award 2009: awarded to Hyder for sustained 
achievement in Health and Safety performance in the UK. 

MEP Middle East - Training Award: awarded to Hyder 
Consulting Middle East Ltd in recognition of the holistic internal 
training programmes which help Hyder to provide clients with 
world class services consistently. 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The Group faces a number of risks, which are regularly monitored 
by the Board. The risk management and internal control systems  
provide an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the signifi cant risks facing the Group. However, these 
systems can only operate to mitigate risk rather than eliminate 
risk completely. The Group’s principal risks are as follows:
 
Key Markets, Sectors and Clients

The Group’s workload is dependent on economic factors in 
the markets in which we operate and the relationships built 
up with our clients. Our strategy of international growth, key 
client management and acquisition has resulted in a strongly 
diversifi ed Group which is not dependent on individual markets, 
sectors or clients, leaving us well placed in the current economic 
climate.  We continue to drive our strategy of differentiation and 
diversifi cation to further strengthen our resilience.

Resources

The maximisation of staff utilisation rates, and the ability 
to manage quality staff resources is critical to the Group’s 
ability to win and execute projects and future profi tability. 
We regularly review utilisation rates throughout our business 
and monitor these against pre-set targets taking prompt action 
where appropriate.  Our human resources function plays a key role 
in assisting the business to develop recruitment and retention 
strategies, and with staff development and succession planning.

Contractual Disputes and Claims

The Group employs a Risk Manager who continues to review and 
enhance our risk management procedures in order to minimise 
claims.  Whilst the risk of claims and pressure to assume more 
onerous contractual terms can increase in an economic downturn, 
established procedures exist to deal with these and minimise any 
exposure.  It is the Group’s policy to mitigate its exposure to key 
contractual risks through insurance at commercially acceptable 
rates for appropriate limits of indemnity.

Foreign Exchange Movements

Approximately two thirds of the Group’s revenues are earned in 
currencies other than sterling.  The revenue and costs of our 
international operations largely arise in the same currency.  
Established procedures exist to reduce exposure to currency 
fl uctuations in accordance with the policy set by the Board. The 
Group does not hedge translation exposure to foreign currencies.
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Funding

The Group recognises the importance of cash management 
and regularly forecasts global cash requirements and monitors 
debt and work in progress levels with clients. In the current 
economic environment there is an increased credit risk with 
clients, particularly in Dubai, which is mitigated through 
developing close working relationships and seeking advance 
payments where possible. The Group maintains strong 
relationships with its principal bankers.

Integrity and Sustainability of IT Networks and Core 
Business Systems

The Group’s IT networks and core business systems are 
maintained and supported to provide assurance on data 
integrity and minimise the risk of data loss.  An upgrade of 
our core business systems is being progressively implemented 
on a regional basis using an in-house project team and third 
party consultants as appropriate.  This regional implementation 
programme is designed to minimise the potential for disruption 
in the business.

Competitors

The Group operates in a competitive business environment 
and whilst we are strongly diversifi ed we recognise the impact 
that the actions of competitors or potential competitors 
may have on our business.  In order to mitigate the effects 
of competition we seek to differentiate ourselves through 
our service offering, outstanding people and strong client 
management.

 

Financial Review
Revenue and Profi t

Revenue for the year increased by 
37% to £319.0m (2008: £233.7m). 
Net revenue, after deduction of sub-
consultant costs, increased by 37% to 
£269.9m (2008: £196.9m).  Organic 
growth in revenue and net revenue 
were 25% and 26% respectively.

In presenting the Group’s adjusted operating profi t below, 
amortisation of intangible assets arising on business 
combinations and certain one-off exceptional items have 
been excluded as the Directors believe that this assists with 
understanding the underlying performance of the Group: 

 2009 2008
 £’000 £’000

Group operating profi t 5,008 13,415

Add back :   
Amortisation on business 
combinations 3,241 1,802
Exceptional items 9,139 (180)

Adjusted operating profi t 17,388 15,037

Net fi nance costs (1,796) (667)

Adjusted profi t before tax 15,592 14,370

Adjusted operating profi t increased 16% to £17.4m (2008: 
£15.0m) and adjusted profi t before taxation increased 8% 
to £15.6m (2008: £14.4m), benefi ting from the weakness 
of sterling during the year. The adjusted operating margin 
on net revenue declined to 6.4% from 7.6% refl ecting the 
current economic conditions in our markets which impacted 
on utilisation levels and project margins, and an increase in 
overhead costs. The restructuring of our operations in the 
second half of the year has sought to address these issues.

Exceptional Items

Exceptional costs of £8.6m were incurred in the second half of 
the year with the restructuring of the Group to streamline and 
better align our service offerings with the markets and sectors 
in which we operate, and address areas of market weakness. 
The cash impact in the year amounted to £2.3m, approximately 
£2.9m was deferred to the new fi nancial year, with the balance 
relating to property provisions which will be paid out over the 
remaining lease terms.  An analysis of the restructuring costs 
for the full year of £9.1m is shown in Note 1 to the Financial 
Statements. In the prior year a gain of £0.2m was recognised as 
a result of members transferring out of the Acer Group Pension 
Scheme (AGPS).  

Financing

The net fi nance cost of the Group increased to £1.8m (2008: 
£0.7m) refl ecting prior year interest income received in relation 
to settlement of an overdue debt (£0.5m), and increased 
charges for fi nancing costs on pension schemes (£0.3m) and 
deferred and contingent consideration (£0.2m). 

The Group’s principal banking facilities totalling £47.1m are 
with HSBC and Barclays in the UK which include revolving credit 
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facilities of £20m and £18m expiring in April 2012 and February 
2013 respectively, and other long term facilities of £9.1m. In 
addition the Group has access to a number of overseas and 
on demand facilities of a further £7.8m. All our signifi cant 
facilities are unsecured as disclosed in Note 14 to the Financial 
Statements. Total committed banking facilities amount to £47.6m 
giving substantial headroom with year end net debt of £5.7m.

In line with market practice, under the terms of its principal 
banking facilities the Group is required to operate within 
certain fi nancial covenants related to net debt (including 
guarantee liabilities), EBITDA, debt service costs and interest 
cover. At the year end the Group had signifi cant headroom 
within all of these covenants. 

Taxation

In the year a taxation credit of £0.3m (2008: charge £1.6m) has 
been recognised.  The tax rate on adjusted profi t before tax 
amounts to 13.9% (2008: 13.6%).  The current low rate refl ects 
increased profi ts in zero tax jurisdictions in the Middle East 
and Research and Development tax credits in both the UK and 
Australia.  

Earnings per Share

Earnings per share are impacted by the amortisation of 
intangible assets arising on business combinations, and other 
one off items.  Basic earnings per share amount to 9.12p (2008: 
30.91p); diluted earnings per share amount to 9.10p (2008: 
30.04p) refl ecting the signifi cant exceptional items in the year.  
The weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year 
was 38.4m (2008: 36.1m).  Adjusted fully diluted earnings per 
share increased by 4.5% to 34.87p (2008: 33.36p).

Dividends

A fi nal dividend is proposed for the year to 31 March 2009 of 
3.15p per share (2008: 2.10p) giving a 50% increase for the year 
to 4.5p (2008: 3p).  The full year dividend is covered 7.7 times 
by adjusted fully diluted earnings per share (2008: 11.1 times).  
The dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be paid on 7 
August 2009 to shareholders on the register at 10 July 2009.

Capital Structure

During the year the Company issued 57,500 ordinary shares 
of 10p each, in relation to exercised share options and as at 
31 March 2009 had 37,754,847 (2008: 37,697,347) fully paid 
ordinary shares in issue.

During the year to 31 March 2009 shareholders’ equity increased 
by 18% to £58.8m (2008: £49.7m) refl ecting retained earnings 
for the year, foreign exchange gains and actuarial losses on 
defi ned benefi t pension schemes. Net debt amounted to £5.7m 
at 31 March 2009 (2008: £11.1m).  

Shareholder Return

Equity has increased during the year to £58.8m (2008: £49.7m), 
equating to a net asset value of 156p per share (2008: 132p).  
The closing share price on 31 March 2009 was 76p per share 
(2008: 410p) representing a market capitalisation for the Group 
of £28.7m (2008: £154.6m).

Retirement Benefi t Obligations

The Group operates both defi ned benefi t and defi ned 
contribution schemes as detailed in Note 26 to the Financial 
Statements. 

The principal defi ned benefi t scheme is the AGPS, which was 
closed to new members in 2001, and for which a pensionable 
salary freeze is currently in place until March 2012. The defi cit 
in the scheme at 31 March 2009 increased to £26.5m (2008: 
£22.5m).  The increase in the defi cit refl ects lower than 
expected asset returns, partially offset by actuarial gains due to 
increased discount rates.  

The key assumptions in valuing the defi cit are disclosed in Note 
26. The sensitivities of the AGPS scheme liabilities to changes 
in these assumptions are shown below:
  
  Indicative effect on  
Assumption Change in assumption scheme liabilities

Discount rate Increase/decrease  Decrease/increase
 by 0.5% by 9%
Rate of infl ation Increase/decrease Increase/decrease  
 by 0.5% by 6%
Longevity Increase by 1 year Increase by 3%

The Group operated a defi ned benefi t scheme in Hong Kong 
which was closed during the year resulting in a curtailment gain 
of £0.8m being recognised as an exceptional item. 

The net fi nance costs for pension schemes amounted to £0.3m 
in the year (2008 income: £19,000).

The Board acknowledges that valuations of defi ned benefi t 
schemes under IAS 19 are inherently volatile, and will continue 
to take action where appropriate to reduce the AGPS defi cit.

Overseas retirement benefi ts relate principally to benefi ts 
payable on termination to staff in the Middle East and 
increased to £7.3m (2008: £4.2m) as a result of the increase in 
staff numbers during the year.
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Cash Flow

Net debt amounted to £5.7m at 31 March 2009 (2008: £11.1m).  

Cash generated from operating activities was £19.5m (2008: 
£4.2m), primarily refl ecting improvements in working capital 
procedures made during the second half of the year.  Trade 
receivables and net work in progress increased in the year from 
£72.9m to £85.0m primarily as a result of foreign exchange 
movements (£11.0m).  The proportion of EBITDA converted into 
operating cash fl ow in the year was 88% (2008: 23%).

Acquisitions

As a result of the Group’s prior year acquisitions the charge for 
amortisation of intangible assets from business combinations 
has increased in the year to £3.2m (2008: £1.8m). No 
acquisitions have been made in the current fi nancial year.

Treasury

Established procedures exist to monitor cash fl ow, currency 
and interest rate risks in accordance with the policy set by the 
Board.  A summary of the Group’s key risk exposures and the use 
of derivative and fi nancial instruments are given in Note 14 to 
the Financial Statements.

Approximately 30% of the Group’s revenue is generated in 
sterling.  The remaining balance is generated in the Middle 
East (mainly the UAE), Germany, Hong Kong and Australia 
where revenue is normally denominated in the relevant 
local currency.  The revenue and costs of our international 
operations generally arise in the same currency and therefore 
the exposure to exchange fl uctuations is usually not signifi cant 
and consequently not hedged.  Where a mismatch does exist 
it is generally priced for in our customer contracts.  Most of 
our overseas operations maintain local currency overdraft and 
bonding facilities, which provide partial mitigation against 
balance sheet risk.  In spite of fl uctuations in exchange rates 
which occur from time to time, it is not considered necessary to 
hedge the net investment in overseas subsidiaries at this time. 

Ivor Catto  Russell Down
Chief Executive  Finance Director
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Combined Code Compliance
The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance and its Board supports the principles of 
the Combined Code on Corporate Governance, published by the 
Financial Reporting Council in June 2006 (the “Combined Code”). 

This statement, together with the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
on pages 42 to 48, describes how the Company has applied the 
principles and complied with the provisions of the Combined Code.  

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the 
provisions of the Combined Code throughout the year under review. 

Directors

The Board comprises the Chairman, two Executive Directors 
and three independent Non-Executive Directors.  A list of the 
individual Directors, their biographies and other signifi cant 
commitments is detailed on pages 6 and 7. 

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are held 
separately and there is a clear division of responsibilities 
between each position.  

The Senior Independent Director is Paul Withers.

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for the strategy 
and fi nancial performance of the Group.  Whilst the Board has 
delegated the normal operational management to the Chief 
Executive, the Board has a formal schedule of matters that are 
specifi cally reserved for its decision.  These matters include, 
inter alia, setting the Group strategy and direction, corporate 
governance, monitoring risk and fi nancial and operational 
performance and approval of all acquisitions and divestments.

Board meetings operate to a standing agenda ensuring that 
matters requiring regular or annual review are given suffi cient 
time for debate and scrutiny.  The Chairman holds meetings 
from time to time as he considers appropriate with the Non-
Executive Directors without the Executive Directors present.

On appointment, Directors receive an induction tailored to their 
needs.  This includes the provision of fi nancial and business 
information about the Group, information about the role of the 
Board and the matters reserved to it, the terms of reference and 
the powers delegated to the Board Committees.  The induction 
also includes access to senior management and offi ce visits 
to help the new Directors familiarise themselves and gain an 
understanding and appreciation of the Group’s business.  

Meetings with senior management and visits to the Group’s 
offi ces allow the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors 
to update their knowledge and familiarity with the Group’s 
activities.  The Company also provides the necessary training 
and resources for developing and updating the Directors’ 
knowledge and capabilities, including briefi ngs from external 
advisors, which included an update on Health and Safety law 
during the year. 

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretary and are empowered to take independent 
professional advice in the furtherance of their duties at the 
Company’s expense where necessary.  No such independent 
professional advice was sought during the year.  The Company 
Secretary also provides advice and support to each of the Board’s 
committees and to the Chairman on all corporate governance 
matters.  The Group maintains insurance cover in respect of the 
liability of its Directors and offi cers to third parties.

The number of formal scheduled Board and Committee meetings 
held and attended by member Directors by reference to those 
they were eligible to attend during the year was as follows:

 Full Audit Nomination Remuneration 
 Board Committee Committee    Committee
  
Sir Alan Thomas (N) 11/11 - 4/4 -
Tim Wade 6/7 - - -
Simon Hamilton-Eddy 5/7 - - -
Keith Reynolds 7/10 - - -
Ivor Catto 4/4 - - -
Russell Down  4/4 - - -
Peter Morgan (A,N,R) 11/11 5/5 4/4 6/6
Jeffrey Hume (A,N,R) 11/11 5/5 4/4 6/6

Paul Withers (A,N,R) 11/11 5/5 4/4 6/6
    

Notes:
(A) Audit Committee, (N) Nomination Committee, (R) Remuneration 
Committee.
Tim Wade retired on 30 November 2008
Simon Hamilton-Eddy retired on 10 December 2008 
Keith Reynolds resigned on 28 February 2009
Ivor Catto was appointed on 1 December 2008
Russell Down was appointed on 11 December 2008

In addition to the formal scheduled meetings, additional Board 
and Committee meetings were held during the year as required 
to consider particular matters and developments. 

Performance evaluations are carried out annually for the Board, 
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee.  Each Director completes a Board 
evaluation questionnaire, the results of which are collated 
by the Company Secretary, reviewed by the Chairman and 
discussed at the Board.  Performance evaluations of each of the 
Board Committees are undertaken by the relevant Committee 
and the results reported to the Board.  The evaluation process 
concluded that the Board and its Committees had operated 
effectively during the year and made a valuable contribution 
to the Group.  The areas for improvement identifi ed in the 
evaluation process will be actioned during the year ahead.

The Chairman reviewed the performance of each of the 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors taking into account 
the views of the other Directors.  The Non-Executive Director 
performance evaluations addressed their capabilities, time 
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commitment and effectiveness in their role.  The performance 
of the Chairman was reviewed by the Non-Executive Directors 
led by Peter Morgan, having taken into account the views of the 
Executive Directors.

Independence

In compliance with the requirements of the Combined Code, the 
Board considered the independence of each of Jeffrey Hume, 
Peter Morgan and Paul Withers who served during the year as 
Non-Executive Directors.

In considering the independent status of Peter Morgan, the 
Board had particular regard to the fact that he has served as a 
Director of the Company for more than nine years.  It was noted 
that Peter Morgan was serving at the time of the Company’s 
acquisition of Hyder Consulting Holdings Limited (“HCHL”) in 
October 2002 by way of a reverse takeover (the “Takeover”) 
under the Listing Rules.  However, since the business and the 
executive team of HCHL had no business relationship with the 
Company prior to the Takeover and in view of the fundamental 
change in the nature and structure of the Company following 
the Takeover, the Board has previously determined that Peter 
Morgan’s service with the Company should effectively date from 
October 2002.  The Board reaffi rmed its previous determination 
that, in consequence of the Takeover, Peter Morgan has 
effectively only served the Company since October 2002. Peter 
Morgan has informed the Company of his wish to retire from the 
Board at the conclusion of the 2009 Annual General Meeting.

After careful consideration, the Board determined that Jeffrey 
Hume, Peter Morgan and Paul Withers had each demonstrated 
the required degree of independence, both in character and 
judgement taking into account all the relevant circumstances.  
Therefore, during the year, the Board had three Non-Executive 
Directors determined by the Board to be independent.  

The Board acknowledges the valuable contribution that each of the 
Non-Executive Directors has made to the Group during the year.

Election and Re-election

The Articles of Association of the Company specify that all 
Directors appointed by the Board during the year are subject 
to election by the shareholders at the fi rst Annual General 
Meeting to be held following their appointment.  Accordingly, 
Ivor Catto and Russell Down will automatically retire and will be 
submitting themselves for election at the 2009 Annual General 
Meeting.  Further, in accordance with the Company’s Articles 
of Association, the number nearest to one third of the total 
number of Directors is required to retire by rotation and, if 
appropriate, submit themselves for re-election.  On this basis, 
two Directors are required to retire by rotation and Jeffrey 
Hume and Paul Withers will be submitting themselves for re-
election at the 2009 Annual General Meeting.

The Company acknowledges the provisions of the Combined Code 
which require that all Non-Executive Directors serving for periods 
in excess of nine years are subject to annual re-election.  Though 
the Board has previously determined that Sir Alan Thomas’s service 
with the Company should effectively date from October 2002, 
the date of the Takeover, he will also be submitting himself for 
re-election at the 2009 Annual General Meeting.

All Executive Directors’ service contracts and letters of 
appointment for the Non-Executive Directors are available 
for inspection during normal business hours at the Company’s 
registered offi ce address and will also be available for 
inspection at the 2009 Annual General Meeting.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated certain matters to formal committees 
of the Board.  Each committee operates under written terms of 
reference, details of which are available on the Company’s website.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had fi ve formally scheduled meetings 
during the year and comprised the three independent Non-
Executive Directors. The Auditors attended three of those 
meetings.  The Audit Committee was chaired by Peter Morgan 
during the year, with Jeffrey Hume succeeding him on 30 April 
2009. 

As required by the Combined Code the Board satisfi ed itself that 
Jeffrey Hume has recent and relevant fi nancial experience.  

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which outline 
its authority and duties, are available on the Company’s 
website.  The Committee’s activities during the year included:

(i) a review of the draft Annual Report and Financial  
 Statements and the interim results announcement  
 concentrating on the main areas of judgement and  
 reviewing the report of the Auditors;
(ii) considering the Auditors’ audit plan for the year and the  
 scope of work and proposed fees, evaluating their 
 effectiveness and independence, reviewing their terms  
 of engagement and making a recommendation to the  
 Board for their reappointment and the approval of their fees;
(iii) reviewing the Company’s policy for the Auditors providing  
 non-audit services; 
(iv) reviewing the Company’s treasury and anti-fraud policies  
 and the procedures and policy for whistleblowing;
(v) receiving and considering internal reviews on compliance  
 with Group systems and controls;
(vi) receiving and considering reports on changes to the  
 Group’s risk register and management of key risks;
(vii) receiving and considering an annual report on the  
 internal controls for risk management operated by the  
 Group;
(viii) reviewing the Company’s accounting policies; and
(ix) reviewing the Committee’s terms of reference.  
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The Committee commissioned a review during the year: to 
assess the level of further assurance available from extending 
the internal review process previously operated; establishing 
a separate internal audit function; or outsourcing (whether 
in whole or part) internal audit services. In consequence, the 
Company has created an internal audit function, headed by 
the Group Risk Manager who reports to the Audit Committee in 
respect of all internal audit matters. The function’s programme 
will be set annually by the Committee. Capability within the 
function will be augmented by external providers for specialist 
activities.  

In order to seek to preserve auditor objectivity and 
independence, the Company has a policy regulating the 
provision of non-audit services by the Auditors.  Excluding local 
taxation advice, this is subject to the approval of the Finance 
Director for work up to a limit of £25,000, and thereafter the 
Audit Committee.  Audit and non-audit fees paid or payable 
to the Auditors in the year under review are set out on page 
61. Having considered the actual level of fees for the year, the 
Audit Committee has concluded that the nature and extent of 
non-audit fees in the year did not compromise the Auditors’ 
independence.

The Audit Committee consults the Auditors without any 
Executive Directors (who may attend meetings only by 
invitation) being present, in order to obtain independent advice. 

The Auditors were appointed in March 2002 and the lead audit 
partner was changed in July 2006.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee, which had four formally scheduled 
meetings during the year, comprises the Chairman and the 
three independent Non-Executive Directors.  The Chairman 
also chairs the Committee.  The Committee’s activities include 
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board 
and Board succession. All nominations for appointment to the 
Board are dealt with by the Committee and during the year 
this included the appointment of the new Chief Executive, Ivor 
Catto and the new Finance Director, Russell Down. Detailed role 
specifi cations were prepared following an evaluation of the 
skills and experience to be looked for in the candidates. The 
Committee then appointed external consultants to assist in the 
identifi cation of suitable candidates for each position. These 
candidates were considered alongside internal candidates who 
were put forward by the Directors. The Committee interviewed all 
shortlisted candidates and made a recommendation to the Board. 

The Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of 
the Board following both the resignation of Keith Reynolds as 
Regional Managing Director for Australasia and Peter Morgan, 
Non-Executive Director, retiring on conclusion of the 2009 
Annual General Meeting. The Committee’s recommendation 
was to continue with the resultant composition of the 
Board, namely a Chairman, two Executive Directors and two 
independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee concluded 

that these Board members had the necessary range of skills, 
experience and qualifi cations and that the overall composition 
of the Board remained well balanced. This will be kept under 
review.    

The Committee has made positive recommendations to the 
Board in respect of the Directors who are being put forward for 
reappointment at the 2009 Annual General Meeting. 

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, which had six formally scheduled 
meetings during the year, comprised the three independent 
Non-Executive Directors.  The Committee was chaired by Peter 
Morgan during the year, with Paul Withers succeeding him on 
30 April 2009. The Committee has responsibility, inter alia, 
for determining the remuneration packages for the Executive 
Directors and for setting the targets and awarding payments 
under their bonus scheme; for monitoring the level and 
structure of senior management remuneration; for approving 
the performance conditions and the grant of options under the 
Hyder Consulting PLC Share Option Scheme 2002 and the Hyder 
Consulting PLC 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan; and approving 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report.  No Director is involved in 
any decision relating to his own remuneration.

A report on the Executive Directors remuneration and the 
activities of the Remuneration Committee is set out on pages 
42 to 48.

Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system 
of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.  The 
Group’s internal control system provides an ongoing process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the signifi cant risks faced 
by the Group in accordance with the Combined Code.  However, 
the system is designed to mitigate risk rather than eliminate 
it and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.  The key features of 
the system of internal control, which continued to operate 
throughout the year and up to the date of approval of the 
Annual Report and Financial Statements, are as follows: 

Comprehensive fi nancial planning and reporting, including • 
a three-year plan and a detailed annual budget, which 
is approved by the Board, monthly regional reporting of 
actual results against budget and reforecast and reporting 
against Group-wide key performance indicators.

Monthly regional performance reviews by the Chief • 
Executive and Finance Director. 

Established procedures and controls within the Group IT • 
systems designed to protect the security of Group data 
and providing disaster recovery arrangements in all regions 
with regular reviews and updates.

Board reviews for all acquisitions, investments and • 
signifi cant capital expenditure.
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Established processes for integration and control of • 
new businesses joining the Group under its acquisition 
programme.

Established procedures for managing treasury risk.• 

Maintenance of the ISO 9001 registration across the Group • 
and ISO 14001, BS OHSAS 18001 and OHS-AS/NZS-4801-
2001 registrations in different regions within the Group, 
which drive regular checks, reviews, approvals and audits 
of the relevant business processes.

Procedure for escalation of material risks from a regional • 
board through the executive management committee to 
the Board.

Monthly review and reporting on health and safety matters • 
across the Group.

Operation of a structured system of risk management • 
throughout the business, comprising risk assessments for 
all signifi cant invitations to tender for work and monthly 
review and reporting of project risks. 

Maintenance and regular review of the Group risk register • 
by the Group Risk Manager who in turn leads the risk 
management programme within the business, which is 
aimed at identifi cation and quantifi cation of risk as well as 
determining and monitoring mitigation strategies.  

During the course of the year the Board reviewed the 
effectiveness of the internal control systems and made 
recommendations for improvement where necessary.

Confl icts of Interest

Section 175 of the Companies Act 2006 introduced, from 
1 October 2008, a statutory duty on a director to avoid a 
situation in which he has, or can have, a direct or indirect 
interest that confl icts, or possibly may confl ict, with the 
interest of the Company.  This duty is not infringed if the 
situation cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise 
to a confl ict or if the matter has been authorised by the Board. 
The Articles of Association of the Company were amended at 
the 2008 Annual General Meeting to allow the authorisation, 
in appropriate circumstances, of such confl icts by the Board.  
The potentially confl icted director can not count in the quorum 
or vote at a meeting to consider his own potential confl ict of 
interest.  

In September 2008, the Directors disclosed all their then 
existing potential confl icts of interest and these were 
considered.  Nothing of signifi cance was identifi ed and all 
were subsequently sanctioned by the Board.  At that time, the 
Nominations Committee terms of reference were amended to 
allow that committee to investigate and make recommendations 
to the Board concerning confl icts of interest on the 
appointment of new directors and to undertake an annual 
review of any current authorisations.  

The Company maintains a register of any confl icts of interest 
of a Director including the date of grant of the authorisation, 
and any limitations or terms and conditions that apply.  Any 
authorisations given by the Board may be renewed, varied or 
revoked at any time.

Relations with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining good 
communications with shareholders.  The Chief Executive and 
Finance Director have a programme for dialogue with and 
presentations to shareholders, institutions, brokers and the 
media.  Periodic reports based on feedback from institutional 
investors are given to the Board to ensure all Directors 
develop their understanding and appreciation of the views 
of current and potential shareholders.  The Chairman and the 
Senior Independent Director are also available to meet major 
shareholders.  The Group’s website provides regularly updated 
information in relation to the Group’s activities and fi nancial 
performance as released via a Regulatory Information Service.  
The 2009 Annual General Meeting gives shareholders, both 
private and institutional, the opportunity to meet and ask 
questions of the Directors, including those appointed during 
the year. 
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Directors’ Report General Information and 
Disclosures
Results and Dividends

The results include those of Hyder Consulting PLC and its 
subsidiaries for the full year and are set out in the Financial 
Statements on pages 51 to 97. The profi t before taxation 
amounted to £3.2m (2008: £12.7m).  The profi t for the fi nancial 
year ended 31 March 2009 was £3.5m (2008: £11.2m).

The Directors recommend a fi nal dividend for the year to 31 
March 2009 of 3.15p per share (2008: 2.10p), to bring the total 
for the year to 4.5p (2008: 3p), an increase of 50% over last 
year.  The full year dividend is covered 7.7 times by adjusted 
fully diluted earnings per share (2008: 11.1 times).  The 
dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be paid on 7 
August 2009 to shareholders on the register on 10 July 2009.

Dividend Waivers

A dividend waiver is currently in operation in respect of all shares 
held by Lloyds TSB Offshore Trust Company Limited, the trustee 
of the Hyder Consulting PLC Employee Benefi t Trust.  As at 8 June 
2009 the trust held 543,730 shares in the Company (1.44%).

Directors and their Interests

Details of the Directors of the Company are given on page 6 and 
7 together with dates of appointment where they have joined 
the Board since 31 March 2008. Keith Reynolds served during the 
year until his resignation on 28 February 2009 and Peter Morgan 
will resign from the Board at the conclusion of the 2009 Annual 
General Meeting.

Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company are 
included in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 46.

There were no signifi cant contracts subsisting during or at the 
end of the year with the Company or any of its subsidiaries in 
which any Director is, or was, materially interested, other than 
the service contracts and letters of appointment referred to on 
page 45 of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Retirement, Election and Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, 
the Directors retiring by rotation at the 2009 Annual General 
Meeting are Paul Withers and Jeffrey Hume. As both these 
Directors are eligible, they are offering themselves for re-
election.  For the reasons detailed in the Corporate Governance 
Report on page 21, Sir Alan Thomas is also offering himself for 
re-election at the 2009 Annual General Meeting.  

Ivor Catto was appointed to the Board on 1 December 2008 
and Russell Down was appointed to the Board on 11 December 
2008.  In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association 
they will be offering themselves for election at the 2009 Annual 
General Meeting being the fi rst such meeting following their 
appointments.  

Corporate Responsibility

The Company’s Corporate Responsibility report for the year 
has been incorporated into this Annual Report and Financial 
Statements on pages 30 to 41.  

Share Capital 

As at 31 March 2009 the authorised share capital of the Company 
comprised £4,787,730.60 divided into 47,877,306 ordinary shares 
of 10p each. As at that date, 37,754,847 fully paid ordinary 
shares were in issue.  Each share carries the right to one vote on 
a poll at a general meeting of the Company.  

Throughout the year, the ordinary shares were listed on the 
offi cial list of the UK Listing Authority and remain so at the 
date of this report.  There are no specifi c restrictions on the 
size of a shareholding or on the transfer of shares (apart from 
where a share is not fully paid up).  The Directors are not aware 
of any agreements between holders of the Company’s ordinary 
shares which may result in restrictions on the transfer of shares 
or on voting rights. 

At the 2008 Annual General Meeting, the Directors were granted 
authority to purchase in the market up to 1,884,867 ordinary 
shares.  The authority was not utilised during the year. This 
authority is normally renewed annually and approval will be 
sought from shareholders at the 2009 Annual General Meeting 
to renew the authority over 5% of the issued share capital of 
the Company for a further year.

Rights attaching to Shares 

General

The rights attaching to the ordinary shares are set out in the 
Company’s Articles of Association. The Articles of Association 
may only be amended with the approval of the Company’s 
shareholders by a special resolution at a general meeting of the 
shareholders.  

A shareholder whose name appears on the register of 
members may choose whether his shares are evidenced by 
share certifi cates (i.e. are held in certifi cated form) or held in 
electronic form in CREST (i.e. uncertifi cated).

If the Company is wound up the liquidator may, with the 
sanction of a special resolution of the Company, and any other 
sanction required by law, divide among the shareholders the 
whole or any part of the assets of the Company.  He may, 
for such purposes, set such value as he deems fair upon any 
property to be divided and may determine how such division 
shall be carried out as between the shareholders.  The liquidator 
may also transfer the whole or any part of such assets to 
trustees to be held on trust for the benefi t of the shareholders. 
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Votes at General Meetings

Subject to the restrictions set out below, a shareholder 
is entitled to attend (or appoint another person as his 
representative to attend i.e. proxy) and to exercise all or 
any of his rights to speak and vote at any general meeting 
of the Company.  A shareholder may also appoint more than 
one representative, provided that each such representative is 
appointed to exercise rights attaching to a different share or 
shares held by that shareholder.  A representative need not also 
be a member of the Company.  Voting by multiple corporate 
representatives at the 2009 Annual General Meeting will be 
operated in accordance with the guidance issued in 2008 by the 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators on Proxies 
and Corporate Representatives at General Meetings.

To be valid, any form of proxy sent by the Company to 
shareholders or, where permitted, any proxy registered 
electronically in relation to any general meeting must be 
received at the address provided in the notice not later than 
48 hours before the time fi xed for holding the meeting (or any 
adjourned meeting).   

Subject to any special terms regarding voting upon which any 
shares may for the time being be held, upon a show of hands 
every shareholder (or his representative) who is present in person 
at the general meeting shall have one vote and upon a poll every 
shareholder (or his representative) present in person shall have 
one vote for every share held by him on each resolution put to 
the meeting, save that, if a shareholder appoints more than one 
representative, the representatives appointed by that shareholder 
shall have only one vote between them. 

If a person fails to give the Company any information requested 
by a notice served on him under section 793 of the Companies 
Act 2006 (which gives public companies the power to require 
information to be supplied in respect of a person’s interests in the 
Company’s shares) then the Company may, not earlier than 21 days 
later, and after warning that person, serve a disenfranchisement 
notice on him (whether or not he was the person to whom the 
section 793 notice was addressed) registered as holder of the 
shares or shares in respect of which the section 793 notice was 
given and having warned the holder that unless the information 
required by the notice is given within 14 days, the holder will not 
be entitled to receive notice of any general meeting or attend 
any such meeting and shall not be entitled to exercise, either 
personally or by proxy, the votes attaching to such share or shares 
in respect of which the disenfranchisement notice has been given 
unless and until the information required by the section 793 
notice has been provided.

Proceedings at General Meetings

At every general meeting each resolution shall be decided 
in the fi rst instance on a show of hands unless, on or before 
the declaration of the result of the show of hands, a poll is 
demanded by (a) the chairman of the meeting, (b) at least 
fi ve shareholders present in person or by proxy, (c) a member 

or members present in person or by proxy representing in 
aggregate not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of 
all the members having the right to vote on the resolution, or 
(d) a member or members present in person or by proxy holding 
shares conferring the right to vote on the resolution on which 
an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than 
one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all the shares conferring 
that right.  On a poll, every shareholder (or his representative) 
present at the meeting has one vote for every ordinary share 
in respect of which he is the registered holder, save that, if 
a shareholder appoints more than one representative, the 
representatives appointed by that shareholder shall have only 
one vote between them. 

Modifi cation of Rights

If at any time the capital of the Company is divided into 
different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class may 
be modifi ed, abrogated or varied either (a) with the consent 
of the holders of three-fourths in nominal value of the issued 
shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as 
treasury shares) or (b) with the sanction of a special resolution 
passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of shares of 
that class. 

Directors’ Powers in relation to Allotment of Shares

At the 2008 Annual General Meeting, the Directors were given 
the authority to allot a specifi c number of shares for a period 
of 5 years.  In order to renew the Board’s powers in respect of 
unissued shares and in accordance with the relevant guidelines 
issued by the Association of British Insurers (the “ABI”), it 
is proposed in the notice to shareholders of the 2009 Annual 
General Meeting that an ordinary resolution be put before the 
shareholders to renew this authority for a further 5 years.

Directors’ Powers in relation to Dis-application of 
Pre-emption Rights

At the 2008 Annual General Meeting, the Directors were, 
subject to certain limitations, given authority to allot shares 
and/or to sell shares held in treasury for cash, without regard 
to the statutory pre-emption rights in relation to offers of 
equity securities.  This authority lapses at the conclusion of 
the 2009 Annual General Meeting.  Since the 2008 Annual 
General Meeting, the Directors have not allotted and/or sold 
shares held in treasury for cash.  It is proposed in the notice to 
shareholders of the 2009 Annual General Meeting that a special 
resolution be put to the shareholders to renew this authority 
over an aggregate nominal value of 5% of the Company’s issued 
share capital which, if given, will lapse at the conclusion of 
the Company’s next Annual General Meeting in 2010 or on 23 
October 2010, whichever is the earlier.  

The Directors have no immediate plans to make use of the 
authorities to allot shares and dis-apply pre-emption rights, 
save in connection with the issue of shares under the Company’s 
employee share plans.  However the authorities give the 
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Directors fl exibility in relation to future share issues, including 
any necessary to fi nance appropriate business opportunities, 
should they arise.

Directors’ Authority to Purchase Company Shares

At the 2008 Annual General Meeting, the Company was given 
authority (the “2008 Authority”) to purchase up to 5% of its 
then existing issued ordinary shares, through market purchases 
on the London Stock Exchange at a restricted maximum price.

Since the granting of the 2008 Authority, the Directors have 
not made any market purchases of the Company’s ordinary 
shares.  Nevertheless, the Directors believe that it remains 
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company to have 
authority to make such purchases when market conditions are 
favourable, but only if earnings per share are thereby enhanced 
and if it would be in the best interests of shareholders 
generally.  The new authority would enable the Company to 
purchase up to 5% of the Company’s existing issued ordinary 
share capital.  

In the event any shares are purchased under the authority 
referred to above, then instead of immediately cancelling the 
shares, the Company may decide to hold the shares purchased 
(to the extent statutory requirements are met and provided 
they do not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued share capital) 
in treasury for future cancellation, sale for cash, or transfer 
to an employees’ share scheme.  Shares held in treasury may 
be held indefi nitely pending, for example, a suitable time to 
place them back on the market.  This will enable the Company 
to sell shares held in treasury to take advantage of capital 
growth in its own shares. Whilst held in treasury, such shares 
will not receive dividends and have no voting rights.  Sales of 
treasury shares must be for cash and are subject to statutory 
pre-emption rights.  

Substantial Shareholdings

In accordance with the Disclosure Rules and the Transparency 
Rules of the Financial Services Authority, as at 3 June 2009, 
the Company had been advised of the following interests in 
the shares of the Company which exceeded the 3% notifi cation 
threshold:

 Number % of
Shareholders  of Shares  Total

Barclays PLC 3,167,530 8.39
F & C Asset Management plc 2,100,834 5.56
Standard Life Investments Limited 1,915,786 5.07
J P Morgan Chase & Co 1,769,669 4.69
Legal & General Group PLC  1,553,657 4.11
James Eden and Jennifer Eden 1,283,604 3.40 

Annual General Meeting

The notice of the 2009 Annual General Meeting to be held on 23 
July 2009 and an explanation of the resolutions proposed are 
set out in the separate circular sent to those shareholders who 
have opted to continue receiving paper communications which 
is also available to other shareholders and the public on our 
website at www.hyderconsulting.com.

Policy on the Payment of Creditors

It is the Group’s policy to comply with the terms of payment 
agreed with suppliers.  Where payment terms are not negotiated 
the Company and Group endeavour to adhere to suppliers’ 
standard terms.  The average payment periods were 49 days 
(2008: 44 days).

Financial Instruments

As at 31 March 2009 the Group has a number of fi nancial 
instruments, and disclosures for these items can be found in 
Note 14 to the Financial Statements on pages 71 to 75.

Research and Development

The Group continues to develop and deliver innovative technical 
solutions for its clients.  In the year this has also resulted in 
Research and Development tax credits in the UK and Australia, 
which have contributed to the Group’s current low tax rate.  
The Group’s global intranet, community interest groups and 
databases help our people to identify, develop and share these 
technical advancements.

Contributions for Charitable and Political Purposes

During the year, no donations were made to EU political 
organisations, no political expenditure was incurred and no 
contributions to political parties outside the EU were made 
within the meaning of section 364 of the Companies Act 2006 
(2008: nil).  Donations made for charitable purposes amounted 
to £75,787 (2008: £18,573).
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People and Culture

Our people are critical to our business and Misti Melville, Human 
Resources and Communications Director and a member of the 
Executive Board, leads our initiatives to ensure we recruit, 
develop and retain talented people to sustain our growth.  

We place great emphasis on the continual development of 
our people.  For many years we have promoted e-learning 
throughout the Group and have provided our people with access 
to an online university which includes Harvard Business School 
materials.  In the UK, our well established graduate recruitment 
and development programme continues to attract high calibre 
candidates and we are replicating this in our other regions. 

This year we have redeveloped our intranet to help our people 
fi nd information more quickly and easily as well as enhance 
communication and two-way dialogue between employees and 
senior management. Feedback about the new intranet has been 
positive and the changes have generated a marked increase in 
visitor traffi c.  

Staff opinion is measured regularly, through Group-wide 
employee surveys and during the year we went a step further 
to explore staff “engagement”.  Our overall results indicate 
very positive levels of engagement by our people throughout 
all regions and across all sectors. The results are taken into 
account when making policy decisions and have infl uenced 
improvements in employee benefi ts and working arrangements.

Management has developed the Group’s framework of 
comprehensive policies, which seek to balance both the 
Group’s and individual’s needs.  Amongst these, the Diversity 
and Inclusion Policy underlines the Group’s commitment to 
valuing and promoting diversity and inclusion in all areas of 
recruitment, employment, training and promotion and thereby 
seeking to promote equality of opportunity and elimination of 
discrimination.

Health and Safety 

We believe that the wellbeing of our people is of paramount 
importance. Our commitment to health and safety is delivered 
through our regional health and safety staff and systems.  
The importance of safe working practices is underlined at all 
levels of the Group and during the year the Board adopted a 
new Group Health & Safety Policy, supporting framework and 
reporting structure.

We provide considerable health and safety services to clients 
in all sectors in connection with the Construction (Design and 
Management) Regulations. 

Disabled Persons 

Management monitors the Group’s equal opportunity policy, 
which offers equality of opportunity and support for disabled 
employees.  Management maintains good links with external 

organisations to encourage involvement in the workplace of 
disabled members of the wider community.  Where possible, 
arrangements are made for retraining employees who become 
disabled, enabling them to perform work identifi ed as 
appropriate to their aptitudes and abilities, in line with the 
Group’s operational requirements.

Signifi cant Agreements

Under Part VII of the Companies Act 1985, as amended by 
section 992 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company is 
required to identify signifi cant agreements that take effect, 
alter or terminate upon a change of control of the Company 
following a takeover bid and the effects of any such contracts.  
The Group’s principal banking facilities contain provisions which 
allow the relevant bank to terminate the facility and demand 
repayment of all sums due to them under the facility either 
on a change of control of the Company or alternatively on an 
application being made for a delisting of the Company’s shares 
following such a change of control.

Post Balance Sheet Events

There are no post balance sheet events that require disclosure 
in these Financial Statements.

Auditors

In accordance with section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985 
each person who is a Director at the date of the approval of this 
report confi rms that, so far as he is aware, there is no relevant 
audit information, that is, information needed by the Company’s 
auditors in connection with preparing their report, of which the 
Company’s Auditors are unaware, and that he has taken all steps 
that he ought to have taken (as detailed in section 234ZA) in 
order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the Company’s Auditors are aware of 
that information.  This confi rmation is given and should be 
interpreted in accordance with section 234ZA of the Companies 
Act 1985.    

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has indicated its willingness to 
continue as independent auditors to the Group and a resolution 
for its reappointment will be proposed at the 2009 Annual 
General Meeting.

Cautionary Statement

This Annual Report and Financial Statements have been 
prepared solely for the benefi t of the Company’s members, as 
a body. The Company, the Directors and employees accept no 
responsibility to any other person for anything contained in 
them.  They may contain certain forward-looking statements 
with respect to the fi nancial condition, performance, results, 
strategy and objectives, operations and businesses of the 
Group. By their nature, these statements involve uncertainty 
because they relate to future events and circumstances which 
are beyond the Group’s control.  As a result the Group’s actual 
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future fi nancial condition, performance and results may differ 
materially from the plans or expectations expressed or implied 
within any forward-looking statement.  Any forward-looking 
statements refl ect knowledge and information available at 
the date of preparation of this Annual Report and Financial 
Statements and the Company assumes no obligation to update 
or revise any forward-looking statement, resulting from new 
information, future events or otherwise.  Nothing in this Annual 
Report and Financial Statements should be construed as a profi t 
forecast.  

This Directors’ Report (including the content of the Chairman’s 
Statement which is deemed incorporated into this Report by 
this reference) has been drawn up and presented in accordance 
with and in reliance upon applicable English company law and 
the liabilities of the Directors in connection with this Report 
shall be subject to the limitations and restrictions provided by 
such law.

By order of the Board

Neil Hunt
Company Secretary
8 June 2009
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Directors’ Report Corporate Responsibility

“I am proud to be part of an 
organisation with such a strong track 
record in creating legacies for future 
generations. Our aim is to build on 
this heritage by providing solutions 
that are both technically excellent 
and make a positive contribution to 
our clients and the communities we 
serve for the long term.”

Ivor Catto
Chief Executive

Sustainable Legacies

Corporate Responsibility (CR) is fundamental to our business. By 
taking responsibility for the effect our work has on our clients, 
people, suppliers, partners, investors, communities as well as 
the environment, we seek to improve the quality of life for 
society at large.

Our Approach to Corporate 
Responsibility

Our policy on corporate responsibility is set out below.

Hyder Consulting’s vision is to be a trusted partner of valued 
clients – creating exceptional solutions.  We are committed 
to running our business in an ethical and responsible manner.  
We apply the principles of sustainability to all our business 
operations.

Our clients
From our advisory and design work through to the management 
of major projects, we create innovative solutions that achieve 
environmental, social and economic benefi ts for society.

Our people
We aim to be an employer of choice in our sector by embracing 
diversity and fostering an open and inclusive learning culture.  The 
Group health and safety policy reinforces our commitment to health 
and safety and demonstrates that our people’s wellbeing is of 
paramount importance.

Our suppliers and partners
We collaborate with our key suppliers, treat them fairly, and, 
where appropriate, support them in developing their own 
corporate responsibility.

Our investors
Hyder offers an opportunity for responsible investment, founded 
on our ethical approach to doing business for over 150 years.

Local communities
We support our people’s enthusiasm for helping local communities 
and contributing their expertise towards charitable work, 
educational and community programmes.

Professional communities
We are keen to promote employee involvement and participation 
in professional institutions and bodies.  We play an active role in 
developing best practice and facilitating professional collaboration 
in all our technical fi elds.

The environment
We work to minimise the environmental effects of our own 
operations and those of the projects in which we are involved.  
We continuously drive for more effi cient use of resources such as 
energy, to help reduce greenhouse gas emissions and mitigate 
climate change.

The Board of Hyder Consulting PLC is responsible for 
communicating this policy, approving actions to be taken forward, 
ensuring adequate resources are available for its implementation, 
and for reviewing progress. Implementation is overseen by our 
Executive Board. 

We are committed to producing a report annually to detail our 
progress against all of our CR objectives in a format which is easily 
accessible to all our stakeholders. We also seek to benchmark 
our performance against our peers and against recognised best 
practice.

Our Corporate Responsibility Policy
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Partnering With Our Clients 

Creating long-term environmental, social and economic benefi ts 
for our clients and their stakeholders is a key objective of our 
work, and our aim is to effectively incorporate sustainable 
practices into all we do. 

This is underpinned by our Environmentally Sustainable Design 
(ESD) expertise which we promote in all projects.  

We recognise that development can sometimes have the 
potential to have a negative effect on society or the 
environment but by guiding our clients through potential 
issues, we identify challenges at an early stage. We collaborate 
with our clients to pinpoint opportunities to mitigate any 
adverse outcomes. 

Hyder Sustainability Planning Toolkit - Making Sustainability 
More Achievable
We have developed the Hyder Sustainability Planning Toolkit 
which helps integrate sustainability considerations into all 
aspects of a project and provides a step-by-step method to 
guide engineering design project management in a sustainable 
manner. It has been designed to work in conjunction with 
the Validation Scheme (a scoring template to measure how 
many sustainability “points” a project earns via independent 
validation and/or verifi cation) through a partnership with the 
UK-based Buildings Research Establishment.

Together, these tools combine processes to achieve both a design 
solution and sustainability assessment method. They have the 
potential to transform the master planning market via promotion 
of integrated planning design practices and recognition of 
environmental leadership in the planning industry.

Some examples which highlight how we have integrated 
sustainability into our projects are:

Success on the Hong Kong Greening Master Plan
We have been working with the Hong Kong Government on the 
single largest landscape and urban improvement project in the 
territory. The project aims to improve the quality of life and 
environment for the people of Hong Kong.  

This was the largest public engagement activity on urban • 
greening ever undertaken in Hong Kong, comprising 7 
community forums, 14 district council hearings, 21 meetings 
with sub-committees and over 15 site surveys with councillors. 

We have successfully completed critical public • 
consultations and secured approval for greening proposals 
in Hong Kong and Kowloon from 7 district councils. 

We received the Sustain Magazine - 
International Project of the Year 2009 Award 
for developing and implementing the Greening 
Master Plan for the Central district.

Addressing the Implications of Climate Change in Australia
In line with the Australian Government’s commitment to 
reducing energy usage across its operations, Hyder was 
asked to conduct case study assessments at key sites and 
use information collated to help the government set strategy 
directions to reduce energy usage, lower greenhouse gas 
emissions, and generally become more energy-effi cient. Setting 
achievable but challenging targets based on sound technical 
knowledge was of paramount importance.

The Hyder team identifi ed actions to reduce energy usage by 
20% over a fi ve year timeframe. In addition, Hyder carried out 
an assessment and case study investigation of energy usage 
at fi ve government computer data centres and the results from 
this will be used to develop a strategy to reduce energy usage 
in Commonwealth Government data centres.

Minimising Berlin Airport’s Effect on the Environment 
Our German airport team has designed an innovative storm 
water drainage system for Berlin’s new international airport. 
This system, which is being constructed next to the runway, 
collects water run-off and returns it to the water table, rather 
than directing it into local waterways where it can cause fl ood 
risks to local farmland.

Helping AXA Achieve Corporate Advantage Through 
Environmental Initiatives
Hyder worked with AXA’s senior managers to consolidate 
existing environmental initiatives into a single policy to improve 
sustainability across the business.  Based on the success of this 
work, Hyder is now developing an implementation strategy to 
enable AXA to realise these benefi ts and cost savings.

Improving Costco’s Environmental Performance 
Hyder helped Costco review the carbon and wider environmental 
performance of its UK business.  Hyder identifi ed a number of 
activities which would signifi cantly reduce carbon emissions, waste 
disposal and operating costs.  We are now working with Costco to 
integrate these solutions into the operating practices of the business.
 
Enhancing CR Performance at Galliford Try
Hyder has been selected by Galliford Try to undertake an 
extensive review of its CR approach across its business.  Hyder 
has identifi ed a number of areas where Galliford Try’s robust 
systems could be further improved to make the business more 
sustainable and more profi table through better monitoring and 
management of resources and sharing good practice.

Burj Dubai - The World’s Tallest Building Embraces Sustainability
The entire 12 million square foot Downtown Burj Dubai 
development including the Burj Tower, the world’s tallest 
building, features sustainability where practicable.  Hyder has 
been at the heart of this effort. 

Public transport connections and underground car parking • 
have been designed to reduce the carbon footprint

Hyder introduced the use of solar collectors to provide up to • 
25% of the hot water demand for the Burj Dubai tower itself. 

Directors’ Report Corporate Responsibility continued
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Our People

Richness in diversity

Our policy is to recruit the right 
people for the right job, regardless
of gender, age and origin.  Our 
employees represent a diverse 
range of ethnic and geographical 
backgrounds and we view this as 
fundamental to the longevity of 
our business. Through having a
diversity-rich culture, we are better 
able to understand our clients and 
communities they serve and ensure
our solutions meet their needs.

Professional development a priority

We invest in the career development of our people in order to 
meet their aspirations and those of the Group. As part of this,
we actively encourage and support our people through training 
programmes to obtain membership of professional institutions 
and chartered status. 

The personal development review (PDR) process is critical in 
helping achieve this and is designed for employees to undertake 
it at least once a year with their line manager.  Through analysis
of people’s development plans, we are able to tailor training and 
development plans that are relevant to both the employee and 
the Group.

In order to maintain the highest standards of technical and 
professional excellence, we have developed regional and global 
Professional Excellence Groups for each discipline.  These
groups meet regularly to discuss the latest technologies and 
innovations as well as disseminate best practice throughout the 
business. 

Flexible working

We seek to offer our people real work-life balance. This is 
promoted through fl exible working hours and arrangements such
as working from home, and a variety of leave options including
parental, dependants, adoption and sabbatical leave.

The benefi ts that we offer our people vary by region, according
to differences not only in legislation but also local customs and
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values and we aim to offer our people benefi ts that are over 
and above those required by local laws - examples from our 
various regions include childcare voucher schemes, dental care, 
pension scheme and share options as well as birthday vouchers, 
employee recognition schemes, long service awards, retirement 
awards and honorarium payments. 
 
We incorporate sustainability into our benefi t schemes by 
encouraging the use of public transport. Our offi ces are located 
close to public transport links where possible to provide our 
people and clients with easy travel connections and reduce 
employees’ reliance on driving to work.  

Employee Engagement Survey 

Research has shown a clear link between employee engagement, 
high performance, retention and client satisfaction. This year 
we carried out a comprehensive employee engagement survey 
which was a signifi cant step beyond our previous employee 
satisfaction surveys. Having conducted the survey, we are 
better able to understand employees’ motivations and loyalty 
towards Hyder and how we can build on this.

The survey generated a good response rate and pleasing results 
refl ecting our people’s strong loyalty and commitment to Hyder. 

The survey also helped us to pinpoint areas for improvement 
and each region has devised an action plan to address these 
and maximise our strengths to ensure Hyder remains the best 
place to work.

Occupational Health and Safety

We are committed to providing a high level of health and safety 
for all employees, clients and stakeholders throughout all our 
regions. We have won our sixth consecutive Royal Society for 
the Prevention of Accidents Gold Award in the UK.

Upon joining Hyder, every employee is inducted into our health 
and safety management system where they take responsibility 
for their own safety and that of others around them. We comply 
with the different legal obligations for site health and safety 
standards across our regions, and where appropriate, we take 
measures to exceed local standards. In the UK, for example, 
employees who work on site are required to undertake the 
Construction Skills Certifi cation Scheme (CSCS), the Australian 
equivalent being the Greencard.  

Our Investor Relations

We are committed to the highest levels of ethical behaviour.  
We are steadfast in our determination to prevent, detect and 
report fraud and in cooperating with relevant bodies to reduce 
opportunities for it to occur in the fi rst place.  

We have a Group Whistle Blowing Policy to ensure that 
employees raise any concerns they might have about potential 
misconduct or malpractice within a clear framework in 
confi dence and with no reprisals. We have recently updated 
this policy and it is widely publicised on our Group intranet and 
notice boards. There were no formal notifi cations under the 
policy during this year.

People performance indicators (as at 31st March 2009) 

Total employees 4,694• 

Permanent technical  3,125• 

Full-time equivalent employees 4,518• 

Permanent non-technical  643• 

Permanent site staff 699• 

Agency staff  227• 

Employee turnover 15.5%• 

Sickness rates as at 31 March 2009  3.17%• 

% investment into training based                                        • 
on annual revenue  0.5%

Directors’ Report Corporate Responsibility continued
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Playing a Key Role in 
Communities Around Us 

Our corporate charitable giving totalled £75,787. This is in 
addition to contributions generated by individual employees or 
our local offi ces.

Formalising our Support for Charities

To better co-ordinate our charitable activity and make our 
contribution as effective as possible, the Group has identifi ed 
fi ve charities that we will support in all our regions. The 
charities are WaterAid, Engineers Without Borders, Room to 
Read, Engineers Against Poverty and Dubai Cares.  

We seek to work with these organisations and will make a 
donation to each of them. We will work with each organisation 
to understand their priorities and objectives and how we can 

best support them, particularly through our people’s skills and 
expertise.  

Supporting Communities Around us - Highlights from 
2008/2009

Facilitating Education for Children in Manila’s Slums

Our team in Manila has donated signifi cant time to carry out the 
structural and MEP design for the new Tondo Container School 
in Manila, Philippines, which is being constructed from used 
shipping containers. The school is located on the site of an old 
rubbish dump, which provides a living from scavenging to many 
children. 

Engineers for Overseas Development (EFOD) – Helping Society in 
the Developing World

Hyder UK has been supporting EFOD for many years through 
fundraising and the donation of our expertise. This year, 

Beijing, Jin Bao Centre, China
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Krzysztof Jaklinski from our Cardiff offi ce has worked on the 
infrastructure design for the Soroti Orphanage in Uganda.  This 
orphanage houses 100 children and Krzysztof is travelling 
to Uganda this summer to assist with the construction site 
supervision. 

In addition our Birmingham offi ce committed support for the EFOD 
West Midlands branch which is planning and raising funds for the 
design and construction of a grinding mill in Uganda which will 
enable the local community to grind their grain at no cost, and 
generate funds by grinding for neighbours at a commercial rate. 
Fundraising activities to support EFOD are planned for later in 
2009 and we will report on this in our 2010 report.

 “This is by far the most ambitious 
project EFOD has undertaken to date. 
It has been a privilege to be involved 
and help the community in Soroti.  I 
am looking forward to travelling to 
Uganda this summer to assist with 
the project on the ground, as well 
as meet the people who will benefi t 
from this new facility.” 

Krzysztof Jaklinski, Civil Engineer

Hyder Helps with Dubai School Bus Route Planning

Our highways experts in the Middle East stepped in to help the 
Dubai English Speaking School with its transport planning. New 
legislation introduced by the Roads and Transport Authority 
(RTA) Dubai in September 2008 prompted the school to review 
its bus service.  It  soon realised the extent of the task and 
a Hyder employee alerted her transport colleagues, who 
developed a number of routes for the bus service in compliance 
with the local regulations.

Inspiring Engineers of the Future 

Tim Belcher, Hyder UK’s Graduate of the Year 2009, has been 
an engineering ambassador with the Engineering in Education 
Scheme, run by the Royal Academy of Engineers, for three years. 

He has assisted a group of students from Watford Grammar School 
for Girls, one of the UK’s top science and technology schools, on 
a real life engineering project. He mentors the students through 
the project, to help them develop their ideas, as well as providing 
them with a window into professional engineering life. 

 “The scheme really stretches 
participants and they just excel under 
pressure. This year’s team came up 
with a brilliant design for a lifting 
footbridge and produced a working 
scale model. The project has really 
inspired them – they are telling 
their friends about how much fun 
it was and they are all considering 
engineering careers. The scheme 
has also helped them to develop 
their teamwork, presentation and 
communication skills.”

Tim Belcher, Graduate Engineer

Rebuilding Communities in Sichuan

Eric Li and Rupert Leung from our Hong Kong offi ce have 
contributed regularly to the Sichuan earthquake relief effort 
since May 2008.  They have travelled with Sowers Action, an NGO 
to the southern area of Gansu province which was also affected 
to provide engineering assessments for damaged schools.  

Rupert is also a member of Hong Kong Institution of Engineers’ 
(HKIE) 512 Reconstruction Task Force, which reviews the 
engineering designs of reconstruction projects funded by the 
Hong Kong government.  He has visited the most devastated 
areas along the Longmenshan Fault, (where the earthquake 
began) to inspect geo-hazards caused by the earthquake.

Bushfi re Support

Hyder’s Australian offi ces all rallied to raise money for the bush 
fi re appeal. In Victoria alone, a morning tea raised over $4,000. 
Hyder matched our people’s contributions and separately 
donated $10,000 to the appeal.

Promoting Social Engagement in Berlin 

Hyder Germany is a major sponsor of Initiative Hauptstadt 
Berlin (IHB), a forum established in 1990 to support the German 
capital’s move from Bonn to Berlin. IHB provides a platform for 
the city’s residents to implement ideas and community projects 
to help increase social cohesion. 

Directors’ Report Corporate Responsibility continued
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Alan Roberts, Judo Coach, with Hyder Consulting’s Jo Kenward and 
Muyeeduz Zaman at the Dartford Dojo judo centre
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We share knowledge and best practice by our experts 
speaking at seminars, conferences and workshops. Some 
examples include:

Shaping the Future of Abu Dhabi Through Sustainable 
Development, Abu Dhabi – roundtable hosted by 
Hyder Abu Dhabi which brought together our leading 
sustainability consultants and a representative from the 
Environment Agency-Abu Dhabi to review industry best 
practices and determine how Abu Dhabi should maintain its 
current fast-paced development in a sustainable manner. 

International Forum of Local Governmental 
Countermeasures against Climate Change, South Korea, 
“Case Study 2 - London: The Mayor’s Climate Change Action 
Plan”, Bob Sargent. 

International Conference on Sustainable Communities, 
Switzerland, “Sustainable master planning at the mega city 
scale”, Stephanie Wray.

Danish Concrete Institute, Denmark, “History Rising: The 
Burj Dubai Tower”, Angus McFarlane.

Sixth Annual British Geotechnical Association 
Conference, UK, keynote presentation on the design and 
construction of the Burj Dubai foundations, Grahame Bunce 
and Catherine Murrells.

Sixth International Conference on Case Histories in 
Geotechnical Engineering, USA, paper on the response of 
the foundation of the Burj Dubai Tower, Grahame Bunce. 

Second Annual Middle East Water and Wastewater 
Conference, Dubai, “More water for your dollar – arriving at 
an economic water loss”, Craig Demanuele.

Young Engineers National Summit, Australia, “SMART 
span - a new precast concrete modular bridge system”, Daniel 
Thomy.

Ninth National Conference on Hydraulics in Water 
Engineering and Ozwater 2009, Australia, “Fill in the 
Dams?”, Alexandra Bennett.

IABSE (International Association of Bridge and 
Structural Engineering), USA, “Dubai Tower Doha”, John 
Merrick, Mike Haysler, Andrew Davids and Darko Popovic.

World Tunnel Congress 2008, “Challenges in Smoke Control 
Design of a High Altitude Road Tunnel”, Richard Lau and Nai 
Chin.

European Transport Conference 2008, The Netherlands, 
“Forecasting and appraising travel time variability in urban 
areas”, Clive Gilliam.

Middle East Wastewater Treatment and Re-use 
Conference, Abu Dhabi, “Reviewing recent advances in 
wastewater treatment and re-use”, Dr Saad Alani.

Assessing and Managing Cumulative Environmental 
Effects - Cumulative Effects Assessment (CEA) 
conference 2008, for the International Association for 
Impact Assessment (IAIA), Canada, “Network Analysis 
in CEA, Ecosystem Services Assessment and Green Spaces 
Planning” and “CEA in Policies and Plans: Case Studies in the 
UK”, Dr Lourdes Cooper.

Utilising Precast Concrete to Maximise Cost-
effectiveness, Effi ciency, Sustainability and Safety for 
the Middle East Construction Market, Dubai, “Design 
Principles of Precast Concrete Structures”, Dr. Ali Mahdi.

Green Building Asia, Singapore, pre-conference master 
class “Developing Sustainable Cities: Insights to the Future of 
Urbanisation and Performance Accreditation”, Robbert van 
Nouhuys, Hendrik Rosenthal and Michael Koks. 
 
Financial Times Urban Regeneration Summit 2008, 
Shanghai, Robbert van Nouhuys participated in the panel 
discussion on “The importance of design: Sustainable living 
and working environments”.

Hong Kong Institution of Engineers 29th Annual 
Seminar - Natural Hillsides & Risk Mitigation Measures, 
four Hyder papers:

“Study of Landslides with Long Travel Distances Across • 
Natural Terrain, Lantau Island, Hong Kong”, Alexander 
Mackay

“Engineering Geology Assessment of the Natural Terrain • 
Risks at Halong Bay, North Vietnam”, Alexander Mackay 
and Vivian Wong

“Natural Terrain Hazard Assessment study for a Housing • 
Development at Kwun Lung Lau, Hong Kong”, Peter 
N. Onuselogu, Steve T.M. Kok, Rupert Leung and  
Alexander Mackay

“Mitigation measures for potentially unstable natural • 
terrain adjacent to multi storey developments, Kwun 
Lung Lau”, Peter N. Onuselogu, Steve T.M. Kok,  Rupert 
Leung and Alexander Mackay.

Sharing our Expertise

Directors’ Report Corporate Responsibility continued
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Our Approach to Corporate Governance

Hyder maintains high standards of corporate governance and the Board supports the principles of the Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance, published by the Financial Reporting Council in June 2006.  Full details of our approach to organisational governance 
can be found on pages 20 to 23 of our Annual Report 2009.

Hyder Consulting PLC’s Board remains the highest decision making authority for all CR matters.

Progress Against Last Year’s Targets

Category 2008 Objectives Status Commentary 

Work with our clients to ensure 
sustainability opportunities for 
their projects are recognised.

Achieved and 
ongoing

We actively seek to integrate sustainability into all aspects of our 
projects.

Manage our operations to ensure 
that we have no claims against us 
for any breach of environmental 
or health and safety standards or 
discrimination.

Achieved No claims brought about.

Facilitate global communication 
between our internal employee 
environmental management 
groups.

Achieved and 
continuous

Communications have improved between our internal environment 
groups since the appointment of a global champion for environment.  
An intranet discussion site has been established, and there is a 
quarterly virtual meeting to exchange ideas and review issues.  This 
will be further improved in the next year by the planned review of 
our EMS.

Implement formal offi ce 
environmental management 
systems (EMS) for all our existing 
operations.

Ongoing 

We are reviewing our EMS in our regions which is accredited to ISO 
14001 to ensure that it is fully aligned with our corporate strategy, 
meets the challenges of the current market and addresses our most 
signifi cant environmental aspects. 

We will review the suitability of ISO 14001 to roll it out in our other 
regions.

Develop a strategy for 
implementing our EMS in all 
new offi ces, including those 
companies acquired.

Ongoing
Progressing in embedding this into our procurement policy in our 
regions.

In the UK our goal will be to gain 
ISO 14001 certifi cation for a 
further six offi ces.

Achieved All offi ces in the UK are accredited to ISO 14001.

Undertake teleconference 
training in all of our offi ces to 
ensure we make the best use 
of the facilities we have and 
reduce carbon emissions from 
transportation.

Partially 
achieved and 
ongoing

Microsoft Offi ce Communicator, an internet communications tool, is 
being rolled out selectively throughout our offi ce network.

En
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The table below lists actions identifi ed in our CR report for 2008 and our progress against these targets.
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Category 2008 Objectives Status Commentary 

Integrate environmental criteria 
within our selection process for 
approved suppliers.

Achieved in the 
UK

The approach used in the UK will be rolled out in our other regions 
in 2009-2010.

Implement green travel plans in 
the UK as a test for our global 
business.

Achieved Approach used in UK to be explored by other regions.

Encourage our employees to 
develop their careers by moving 
around our business, both in 
service area and geography.

Achieved and 
continuous

Our restructure and new grading system will bring greater clarity 
and consistency to roles throughout our regions.

To raise employee awareness about internal vacancies, we produce a 
regular bulletin, Hyder Hot Jobs. This is sent to all employees, put on 
notice boards and on our intranet.

In addition, we have two global mobility offi cers from our group 
HR team whom employees can contact in confi dence if they are 
considering a move overseas.

Develop an alumni programme to 
maintain contact with employees 
who previously worked for us.

On hold This was reviewed and will be reconsidered in the future.

Implement global programmes for 
our high potential employees.

Achieved and 
continuous

We have refi ned our high potential employee development programme 
to create better consistency, clarity and transparency in the scheme.

In 2008-2009 we held a competition for high potential employees 
from all regions, inviting them to explore a business or process 
issue. They identifi ed and implemented solutions to overcome the 
challenge. Each region selected a winner whose prize was to attend  
a Group Conference in Berlin to present their work to our most 
senior managers.

Create an internal focus group 
to apply lessons learned from 
previous acquisitions to the 
future expansion of the business. 

Achieved

We have enhanced our cultural due diligence processes and 
established a virtual global acquisition team to review cultural 
gaps and what impact these may have on the success of future 
acquisitions. Representatives from this team have been assisting 
our German business with the integration of the three companies 
which now form Hyder Germany.

Use the expertise of our technical 
specialists in managing our 
internal operations - in particular 
by involving our sustainability 
experts within offi ce upgrades 
and relocations.

Partially 
achieved

Employees with sustainability expertise have been consulted to 
varying degrees.  We will seek to promote their involvement at an 
earlier stage much more in the year ahead. 

Maintain health and safety 
records for all employees.

Achieved

Promote engagement with the 
community and record linked 
activities in all offi ces.

Achieved and 
continuous

Our offi ces undertake a signifi cant number of community activities, 
but there is still considerable work to be done in linking these and 
recording what is done.  This is addressed in our plan going forward.

Incorporate feedback from our 
stakeholders about this report 
into next year’s corporate 
responsibility report. 

Achieved and 
continuous

Feedback was received from staff and external stakeholders about 
our 2008 report.  We welcome feedback on this year’s report and will 
seek to act on comments and suggestions where possible.
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Next Year’s Objectives 

We are committed to upholding sustainability as a guiding 
principle and implementing it through all our operations.  Over 
the next year we will pursue the following actions:

Monitoring and Reducing Waste 

During the year 2009-2010 we will apply Hyder UK’s process for 
monitoring and reducing waste across the Group. We will also 
record water and energy consumption in a consistent manner in 
all our regions. 

Target: To establish and implement an effective and consistent 
monitoring and targeting process for capturing data from 
each region on waste, energy and water consumption. We will 
benchmark our results against our peers in our 2011 report.

Reducing Air Travel

The Group will reduce air travel by encouraging greater use of 
video, phone and web conferencing. 
Target: Establish system for capturing employee travel data so 
that we can set reduction targets in 2010. 

Supporting the Global Community 

We wish to make a positive contribution to society and are 
supporting fi ve charities as a Group: WaterAid, Engineers 

Without Borders, Room to Read, Engineers Against Poverty and 
Dubai Cares.  We will give each charity a donation and produce 
a strategy outlining how we support them. We are keen to 
encourage our people – many of whom are actively engaged 
in community work – to give their time and skills to the work 
these fi ve charities are undertaking so that this becomes a 
highly regarded activity in Hyder.

Target: We will actively participate in the above charities, 
contributing both funding and expertise to assist their work.

Helping our Local Communities

We encourage and support our people in helping communities 
which are local to our offi ces.

Target: 4,000 hours of employee time to be given to local 
charity work in the year 2009-2010. 

Benchmark our Corporate Responsibility Performance 
against our Peers

To date, we have not benchmarked our CR performance against 
our peers, although we have been reporting on this for longer 
than several other major multi-disciplinary engineering 
consultancies.

Target: Hyder’s 2010 CR report to include an assessment of how 
we compare to similar companies based on a review of their CR 
reports and/or informal benchmarking clubs.

Outlook

Driving sustainability across our operations and projects is a continuous 
process. Our work in 2008-2009 has generated tangible benefi ts 
for society, and by applying the latest best practice and technical 
innovation we will build on this track record in the year ahead.

We recognise that internally we need to develop a more consistent 
approach to CR and to this end we will be enhancing our processes to 
ensure we generate benefi ts for our stakeholders.  This, together with 
our close client relationships and action in the community, will ensure 
we achieve our vision of being the trusted partner of valued clients - 
creating exceptional solutions. 
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

This report has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee 
(“the Committee”) and complies with the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and the June 2006 
edition of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued 
by the Financial Reporting Council. Not all of the information 
in this report is required to be audited and the information is 
not covered by the Auditors’ Report unless otherwise indicated.  
This report has been approved by the Board of the Company and 
a resolution to approve this report will be proposed at the 2009 
Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Committee Membership and Meetings

The Committee is a committee of the Board of Directors 
with written terms of reference, which are available on the 
Company’s web site: www.hyderconsulting.com.  The Non-
Executive Directors who served on the Committee during the 
year are: Peter Morgan, Paul Withers and Jeffrey Hume. The 
Board has determined that each of the Committee’s members 
are independent. 

Peter Morgan chaired the Committee throughout the year. He 
will retire from the Board and Committee at the conclusion 
of the 2009 Annual General Meeting, and was succeeded as 
chairman by Paul Withers on 30 April 2009. 

The Committee had six scheduled meetings during the year.  
The Committee has responsibility, inter alia, for determining 
the remuneration packages for the Executive Directors, which 
included agreeing the packages for the new Chief Executive 
and Finance Director and the payments on termination to 
Keith Reynolds, assessing awards under annual incentive 
schemes, establishing performance targets for future annual 
incentive schemes, monitoring the level and structure of senior 
management remuneration, the grant of options under the ESOS 
and LTIP (each as defi ned below), and approval of this report.

Remuneration Policy 

The Company’s remuneration policy aims to attract, motivate 
and retain high calibre executives by rewarding them with 
appropriate and competitive salary and benefi t packages that 
are linked to both individual and business performance and are 
closely aligned with delivering the Company’s business strategy 
and enhancing shareholder value.  This policy was applied 
during the year and will, subject to regular review, be applied 
during the current and future years.  

Remuneration Information 

The main elements of the remuneration packages agreed by 
the Committee for the Executive Directors in the year are: base 
salary, short term incentives through an annual performance 
related bonus, long term incentives through awards under the 
Hyder Consulting Long Term Incentive Plan 2006 (“LTIP”), 
pension, permanent health and life assurance benefi ts. 

LTIP awards for Executive Directors were introduced in the 
year. This followed the approval by the shareholders at the 
2008 Annual General Meeting of a new Part B to the LTIP 
to allow Executive Directors to participate. The change in 
policy recognised that whilst certain Executive Directors had 
previously held signifi cant shareholdings in consequence of the 
reverse takeover of the Company in 2002, which had in turn 
aligned their interests closely with those of the shareholders 
in the performance of the Company, Board succession would 
require the ability to recruit and retain successors and allow 
them to build up meaningful shareholdings in the Company.

During the year Deloitte LLP advised the Committee in relation 
to the structure of Part B of the LTIP. Deloitte LLP were also 
retained by the Company during the year to provide tax advice. 

Appointment of New Chief Executive

The Company announced on 9 July 2008 the appointment of 
Ivor Catto as Chief Executive with effect from 1 December 
2008. Mr Catto was previously Group Managing Director of the 
Design & Engineering Solutions division of WS Atkins plc. The 
Committee agreed a remuneration package which it considered 
to be both competitive and appropriate to incentivise him to 
leave WS Atkins to join the Company and deliver the next phase 
of the Company’s strategy. This package comprised an annual 
base salary of £310,000 and benefi ts (as detailed below), an 
annual bonus opportunity of 100% of base salary (comprising 
for the period to 31 March 2009 only a guaranteed bonus of 
£73,713 and a performance based opportunity of £103,429), and 
an initial nil cost option under Part B of the LTIP equivalent 
in value to 200% of annual base salary (granted subject to 
performance conditions as detailed below).  Deloitte LLP 
advised the Committee in respect of the relative value of the 
share based benefi ts Mr Catto would forfeit with WS Atkins in 
accepting the role with the Company.

Appointment of New Finance Director

The Company announced on 1 October 2008 the appointment of 
Russell Down as Finance Director with effect from 11 December 
2008. Mr Down was Group Head of Finance and Development, 
having worked with Hyder for 11 years, holding previous positions 
of Group Financial Controller and Finance and Commercial 
Director for the Middle East Region. The Committee agreed a 
remuneration package which it considered to be both competitive 
and appropriate, comprising an annual base salary of £170,000 
and benefi ts (as detailed below), an annual bonus opportunity 
of 60% of base salary (pro-rated for the year with no guaranteed 
minimum), and an initial nil cost option under Part B of the LTIP 
equivalent in value to 100% of annual base salary (granted subject 
to performance conditions as detailed below).  

Base Salary 

The Executive Directors’ salaries are reviewed annually by the 
Committee with changes effective from 1 April.  The Committee 
has regard to: current remuneration trends; remuneration 
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information for Executive Directors of a comparable status 
employed by comparable companies; relative performance; and 
increases in pay for the Group staff as a whole.  In view of the 
current economic situation, the Company decided in respect 
of the review effective on 1 April 2009, that there would be 
no infl ation or merit based increases for Executive Directors 
or senior management. Within this policy, the Company has 
retained the fl exibility to respond to any particular conditions 
in a country or region in which the Group operates and to 
reward promotion or increased responsibility.

Short Term Incentives - Annual Performance Bonus 

Bonus entitlement is related to the performance of the 
Executive Directors and the Group and is determined by the 
Committee.  The bonus is paid in June in respect of performance 
in the fi nancial year ended on the previous 31 March.  

The maximum bonus potential of the Executive Directors 
serving during the year was 100% of base salary, save for 
Russell Down (60% of base salary) and Keith Reynolds (40% of 
total remuneration). Bonus payments are not pensionable. 

The bonus opportunity of Ivor Catto for the year included a 
guaranteed element as detailed above.  The bonus opportunity 
of Tim Wade was adjusted during the year, to include a fi xed 
amount of £60,000 for the period from 31 August 2008 until his 
retirement on 30 November 2008 in recognition of his assistance 
in the transition to Mr Catto joining the Company on 1 December 
2008. Mr Wade’s bonus for the period before 31 August 2008 and 
Simon Hamilton-Eddy’s bonus for the year to his retirement on 10 
December 2008 were determined by the Committee having regard 
to performance against the agreed measures. 

The Committee continues to set bonus targets around business 
specifi c measures. Sixty percent of the bonus opportunity in 
2008-2009 was based around improvement in earnings per share 
against pre-agreed targets, with the balance against other 
strategic objectives which included cashfl ow.  This policy was 
aimed at ensuring that Executive Director rewards are aligned 
with the continued creation of shareholder value. The bonus 
scheme for the current year will operate on a similar basis, save 
that the proportion determined by reference to improvement in 
earnings per share against pre-agreed limits has been increased 
to 80% and the measure is subject to cash conversion targets. 
These changes refl ect the importance of these measures in the 
current climate.

Retirement Benefi ts 

From their appointment on 1 and 11 December 2008 respectively, 
Ivor Catto and Russell Down participated in the Company’s 
stakeholder pension scheme.  The Company pays 12.5% of base 
salary by way of contribution to the scheme.  The scheme is 
approved by HM Revenue & Customs and is not a contracted-out 
scheme for the purposes of the Pension Schemes Act 1993.

Tim Wade and Simon Hamilton-Eddy participated in the Group 
Personal Pension Plan (the “Plan”) which is a money purchase 
scheme.  The Company contributed 24% of their annual 
pensionable salary, up to a cap of £115,000 for the year.  The 
Plan is approved by HM Revenue & Customs and is not a 
contracted-out scheme for the purposes of the Pension Schemes 
Act 1993.  Benefi ts under the Plan included life cover of six 
times their salary.

Until his resignation on 28 February 2009, Keith Reynolds was 
an active member of the defi ned benefi ts Acer Group Pension 
Scheme (the “AGPS”).  The AGPS provides Mr Reynolds with a 
pension on retirement equal to 1/50th of basic salary (subject 
to a cap of £95,200) for each year and proportionately for 
each month of pensionable service.  The AGPS provides for a 
pension at a normal retirement age of 65. Mr Reynolds made 
contributions to the AGPS for the year until his resignation 
on 28 February 2009, amounting to £13,090.  In addition, 
the Group contributed 9% of salary (subject to a salary cap of 
£24,309 p.a.) into a personal pension plan under the Australian 
superannuation arrangements, and agreed to pay up to a 
further £5,000 p.a. through matching of any contribution he 
made into a personal pension plan.

On joining the Board on 11 December 2008, Russell Down 
became a deferred member of the AGPS.  

The normal retirement age for Executive Directors is 65. 

Other Benefi ts

Other benefi ts for Executive Directors include entitlement to 
a non-contributory private healthcare scheme for themselves, 
their spouse and dependent children, a permanent health 
insurance scheme, life assurance or payments in lieu of each.  

Executive Directors are entitled to a car and payment of its 
operating expenses (or an equivalent car allowance). This 
benefi t was not enjoyed by Keith Reynolds. 

Keith Reynolds also received an allowance for payment of his 
dependent child’s school fees and a travel allowance for leave 
passage whilst he was working in Australia.

Share Option Scheme and Long Term Incentive Plan

Hyder Consulting PLC Executive Share Option Scheme 2002 (the 
“ESOS”)

The ESOS was approved by the Company on 21 October 2002.  
Part A of the ESOS is HM Revenue & Customs approved and 
restricts the granting of options to £30,000 per person; Part 
B of the ESOS is unapproved.  The objective of the ESOS is 
to promote amongst the senior management group a longer 
term involvement in the profi tability of the Group. The grant 
of all share options under the ESOS is at the discretion of 
the Committee.  The exercise of options is subject to the 
satisfaction of performance conditions, as determined from 
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time to time by the Committee and imposed at the time of 
grant, which to date have been based on earnings per share 
growth above the Retail Price Index over a three year period.

During July 2008 options over 259,250 shares were granted 
under the ESOS bringing total options granted over shares under 
the ESOS to 1,733,750 with current options outstanding at 
31 March 2009 of 1,127,309 (representing 3% of the enlarged 
issued share capital).  Russell Down is the only director holding 
current awards under the ESOS (see page 47). These were 
granted during his employment with the Group prior to his 
joining the Board of the Company. There are currently no plans 
to grant Executive Directors options under the ESOS.

Hyder Consulting PLC 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)

The participation of Executive Directors in the LTIP was 
approved by the shareholders at the 2008 Annual General 
Meeting through the adoption of Part B of the LTIP with the 
existing plan being renamed Part A. 

Awards under the LTIP are discretionary and the Committee’s 
current policy is to use the LTIP for incentivising and retaining 
senior employees.  Awards are considered annually and under 
Part A are subject to a maximum annual award of 100% of an 
employee’s base salary and allowances and under Part B are 
subject to a maximum annual award of 100% of base salary other 
than in the fi rst year of appointment where the maximum is 200%.  

During the year, the Committee approved awards under Part A of 
the LTIP to seven senior employees, including Russell Down (in 
respect of his employment with the Group prior to his joining 
the Board of the Company).  The awards were made on the basis 
of the employee’s performance and contribution to the business 
and comprised an award of deferred shares and an award of 
matching shares by way of nil cost options.  The deferred share 
award will be capable of exercise in the event the individual is 
employed by the Group on the third anniversary of the award.  
The matching share award will be capable of exercise on the 
third anniversary of the date of grant if the individual is still 
employed by the Group and the performance condition has 
been satisfi ed. The performance condition for the matching 
shares is based on growth in earnings per share over the three 
year performance period and provides for the award to vest in 
accordance with a sliding scale based around the earnings per 
share target. The Committee considers that this remains an 
appropriate measure for the performance element of awards to 
senior employees who are not members of the Board. 

The total number of shares which were the subject of awards 
under Part A of the LTIP made during the year was 73,000, 
bringing the total number of shares the subject of current 
awards under Part A of the LTIP the scheme to 194,220.  

During the year the Committee approved awards under Part B of 
the LTIP to the Executive Directors as detailed on page 47 in the 
form of nil cost options. The options are capable of exercise three 
years after the date of grant provided the performance conditions 

have been satisfi ed and the participant is still employed. 
The performance period is 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2011. No 
consideration is payable on the grant or exercise of the options.

Prior to any award the Committee reviews performance targets 
to ensure they are demanding and stretching in the context 
of the prospects of the Company and the prevailing economic 
environment. The performance conditions for the awards to the 
Executive Directors during the year were structured as follows: 

Vesting of half of the award is subject to achievement of a 
performance target based on the compound annual growth in 
the Company’s earnings per share (“EPS”) compared to growth in 
the Retail Price Index (“RPI”) over the three year performance 
period.

The EPS target is set out in the table below:

Compound Annual EPS Growth 
over the Performance Period

Vesting % of 50% of the 
Shares the subject of the 
Award

RPI +  15% p.a. 100%

RPI + 5% p.a  to  RPI + 15% p.a. 25% to 100% (pro-rated)

RPI + 5% p.a. 25%

Less than  RPI + 5% p.a. 0%

EPS will be measured based on the basic earnings per ordinary 
share reported in the Company’s Financial Statements adjusted 
to remove the effect of any signifi cant non-recurring items 
and amortisation of intangible assets arising on business 
combinations.

Vesting of the second half of the award is subject to 
achievement of a performance target based on total shareholder 
return (“TSR”) on the Company’s shares over a three year 
performance period relative to the TSR performance of 
companies within the Business Support Services sub-sector 
within the FTSE Small Cap Support Services Index (the “Index”) 
as at the beginning of that performance period.
   
The TSR target is set out in the table below:

TSR Performance when Measured 
Against the Companies 
Comprised in the Index over the 
Performance Period

Vesting % of 50% of 
the Shares the subject 
of the Award 

Upper 20% 100%

Median to Upper 20% 25% to 100% (pro rated)

Median 25%

Below Median 0%

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued
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TSR is measured based on the changes in share value over the 
performance period and the value of any dividends received 
during that period (on the basis that dividends are re-invested 
in shares of the relevant company on the ex-dividend date). A 
three-month averaging period is applied at the beginning and 
end of the performance period.

The Committee considers that performance targets based on 
a combination of EPS and TSR remain the most appropriate 
measures for awards made to Executive Directors under the LTIP. 
The measures provide a clear line of sight for the Executive 
Directors and a direct alignment with shareholders’ interests. 
The EPS target rewards any signifi cant increase in earnings 
across the period and the TSR target rewards good relative 
stock market performance.

In accordance with the rules of the LTIP, in the event of 
exercise the options are satisfi ed by way of a transfer of 
existing shares.  The Company has funded the Hyder Consulting 
PLC Employee Benefi t Trust (“EBT”) which has acquired Company 
shares for this purpose.  As at 8 June 2009 the EBT held 
543,730 ordinary shares in the capital of the Company through 
its trustee: Lloyds TSB Offshore Trust Company Limited.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment

The Company’s general policy on service agreements is 
that notice periods should not exceed 12 months and that 
compensation payable on termination should not exceed 12 
months’ remuneration. 

Executive Directors 

Each of the Executive Directors who served during the year had 
a rolling twelve month contract, with a twelve month notice 
period due from either employer or employee, save for Tim Wade 
and Simon Hamilton-Eddy who were only required to give the 
Company six months’ notice.

Mr Wade and Mr Hamilton-Eddy were also entitled to receive 
payment on termination by the Company of a sum equal 
to twelve months’ pension contributions that would have 
otherwise been made by the employing company.

The service contracts for Ivor Catto and Russell Down allow the 
Company to make a payment of twelve months’ base salary in lieu 
of the twelve month notice period and do not contain provisions 
entitling the executive to terminate his contract or receive 
damages in the event of a change of control of the Company.

Payments on Termination

As announced on 11 February 2009, Keith Reynolds, the 
Regional Managing Director for Australasia, resigned from 
the Board with effect from 28 February 2009. He received 
a payment on termination of £237,000 in respect of his 
contractual and statutory rights on termination.

Non-Executive Directors and Chairman

Sir Alan Thomas’s contract is terminable in writing by either 
party giving twelve months’ notice.  Jeffrey Hume and Paul 
Withers’s contracts are terminable on three months’ notice. 
Peter Morgan’s contract is terminable on reasonable notice.

The Board determines the remuneration of the Non-Executive 
Directors and their remuneration is reviewed from time to 
time within the limits set out in the Articles of Association.  
The relevant Non-Executive Director is not present during 
the discussion of his remuneration package.  Non-Executive 
Directors are not entitled to pensions, annual bonus or any 
similar payments other than expenses properly incurred in 
connection with the performance of their duties.  

Performance Graph 

The performance graph below shows Hyder Consulting PLC’s 
total shareholder return compared to the FTSE All-Share Index.  
The FTSE All-Share Index has been selected as a comparison 
as it represents a more stable comparative fi gure than other 
potential indices. 

 

The total shareholder return for the fi ve-year period to 31 March 
2009 of (42.9%) compares to the total return provided by the 
FTSE All-Share Index of (9.7%).

Share Price 

The share price at close of business on 31 March 2009 was 76p.  
The high for the year was 418p and the low was 73.75p.

Return on £100 worth of shares in Hyder Consulting PLC in
March 2004 against the FTSE All Share market values
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Directors’ Shareholdings 

The benefi cial interests of the Directors (including their connected persons) in the share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2009 
are set out below:

Ordinary Shares of 10p 
31 March 2009

Ordinary Shares of 10p
31 March 2008

Sir Alan Thomas 301,307 141,307
Ivor Catto 62,625 -*
Russell Down 23,581 8,581*
Peter Morgan 52,640 42,640
Paul Withers 50,000 15,000
Jeffrey Hume 10,000 10,000

Note:
* As at the date of appointment.

There have been no changes in the Directors’ benefi cial interests during the period from the end of the fi nancial year on 31 March 
2009 to 8 June 2009. 

Auditable Information

The following information has been audited by the Group’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, as required by Schedule 7A 
to the Companies Act 1985.

Directors’ Emoluments and Compensation

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Basic 
Salary

Fees Bonus
Benefi ts 
in Kind

Payment on 
Termination 

Total 
2009

Total 
2008

Pension Contributions

2009 2008

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Executive Directors
Ivor Catto 103 - 100 5 - 208 - 13 -
Russell Down 52 - 9 4 - 65 - 7 -
Tim Wade 150 - 69 10 - 229 363 19 27
Simon Hamilton-Eddy 127 - 43 11 - 181 299 19 27
Keith Reynolds 220 - 17 14 237 488 31 24 2
Non-Executive 
Sir Alan Thomas - 60 - 2 - 62 61 - -
Peter Morgan - 28 - - - 28 28 - -
Paul Withers - 25 - - - 25 25 - -
Jeffrey Hume - 25 - - - 25 23  -  -

652 138 238 46 237 1,311 830 82 56

Notes 
Ivor Catto was appointed on 1 December 2008. The bonus stated includes the 
guaranteed element referred to on page 42.
Russell Down was appointed on 11 December 2008.
Tim Wade retired on 30 November 2008.  The bonus stated included the fi xed 
element of £60,000 referred to on page 43.
Simon Hamilton-Eddy retired on 10 December 2008.
Keith Reynolds resigned on 28 February 2009. 

During the year certain of the Executive Directors’ salaries were subject to 
caps for the purposes of pension contributions as detailed on page 43.

Benefi ts in kind are calculated in terms of UK taxable values.  For Executive 
Directors they comprise: a non-contributory private healthcare scheme, a 
permanent health scheme and life assurance. For all Executive Directors (other 
than Keith Reynolds) they include a company car or car allowance and for Keith 
Reynolds they included payment of a dependent child’s school fees and a travel 
allowance for leave passage.
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Directors’ Share Options 

The following options are held by Directors:

Notes 

Directors’ Share Option (“DSO”)

Sir Alan Thomas’s option is a stand alone option approved by shareholders at the time of the reverse takeover of the Company on 21 October 2002.  The option is subject 
to a condition that growth in the basic earnings per share of the Company exceeds the Retail Price Index by not less than 4% per annum on a compound basis, 
measured annually over the three years ended 31 March 2004, 2005 and 2006. The condition has been satisfi ed.

Executive Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)

Options granted under the ESOS are ordinarily exercisable between the third and the tenth anniversary of grant. The maximum duration of the option is ten years.

Performance Criteria for 2004-2006 Grants:

The Option is exercisable if, during the three year performance period commencing 1 April in the year of award, there has been an increase in EPS that in aggregate 
equates to a compound annual growth rate of at least RPI + 10% p.a. for each year of the relevant performance period. This condition has been satisfi ed for the 
03/08/04 and 10/06/05 ESOS awards.

Long Term Incentive Plan – Part A (“LTIP(A)”)

Performance Criteria for 2007 Grant:

50% of the award is exercisable if the employee remains in Group employment, subject to good leaver provisions.  The remaining 50% is exercisable if the average 
annual adjusted EPS for the three year performance period, commencing 1 April 2007, calculated as a percentage of the target EPS of 41.53p is as follows:

Percentage of Target EPS Achieved Vesting % of 50% of the Award

90%  or less 0%

91%  to 110% 0% to 100% on a straight line basis

110% and above 100%

Director Scheme
Award 

Date

Market 
Price at 

Award Date 
(p)

Exercise 
Price

Number of 
Shares at 
01 April 

2008
Granted in 

the year

Number 
of Shares 
Exercised 

No.

Number of 
Shares at 
31 March 

2009

Earliest 
Vesting 

Date

Share Price 
at Vesting 

Date (p)

Period 
Exercisable 

End

Sir Alan 
Thomas

DSO 27/09/02 72.00  72.00 575,473  -    -   575,473 01/04/04  128.13 26/09/12

Total 575,473  -    -   575,473

Ivor Catto LTIP(B) 11/12/08 155.84  Nil  -   388,106  -   388,106 11/12/11 - 10/12/18

Total  -   388,106  -   388,106

Russell LTIP(A) 15/06/07 525.00  Nil 5,332  -    -   5,332 15/06/10 - 14/06/17
Down LTIP(A) 18/07/08 348.50  Nil  -    7,000  -   7,000 18/07/11 - 17/07/18

LTIP(B) 11/12/08 155.84  Nil  -   106,416  -   106,416 11/12/11 - 10/12/18
    

ESOS 03/08/04 139.50  139.50  5,000  -    -   5,000 03/08/07  510.00 02/08/14
ESOS 10/06/05 194.00  194.00  10,000  -    -   10,000 10/06/08  375.00 09/06/15
ESOS 30/06/06 256.25  256.25  10,000  -    -   10,000 30/06/09 - 29/06/16

Total 30,332 113,416  -   143,748
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Notes continued

Performance Criteria for 2008 Grant:

50% of the award is exercisable if the employee remains in Group employment, subject to good leaver provisions. The remaining 50% is subject to achievement of a 
performance target based on the compound annual growth in EPS compared to growth in RPI over the three year performance period, commencing 1 April 2008. The 
EPS target is set out in the table below:

Compound Annual EPS Growth over the 
Performance Period

Vesting % of 50% of the Award

RPI + 12.5% p.a. 100%

RPI + 5% p.a. to  RPI + 12.5% p.a. 25% to 100% (pro-rated)

RPI + 5% p.a. 25%

Less than RPI + 5% p.a. 0%

Long Term Incentive Plan – Part B (“LTIP(B)”)

The performance criteria for the awards made under Part B of the LTIP are detailed at page 44 of this report. 

Directors’ Pension Benefi ts

Two Directors earned pension benefi ts in the AGPS in the year which is a defi ned benefi t scheme. The following sets out the change 
in their accrued pension entitlements under the AGPS during the period and accrued benefi ts in the AGPS at the year end, together 
with the cash equivalent transfer value (“Transfer Value”), calculated in a manner consistent with “Retirement Benefi t Scheme 
Transfer Values (GN11)” published by the Institute of Actuaries and the Faculty of Actuaries.

 
Notes:
* Keith Reynolds resigned from the Board on 28 February 2009 and became a deferred member of the AGPS from that date.  The values are shown as at that date.
** Russell Down became a deferred member of the AGPS on appointment to the Board on 11 December 2008.  The values are shown as at that date.
 

Approved on behalf of the Board

Paul Withers
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
8 June 2009

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

 Accrued 
Pension 

31 March 
2009

Accrued 
Pension 

31 March 
2008

Real 
Increase 

in Accrued 
Pension in 

Year

Increase 
in Accrued 

Pension

Transfer 
Value of Real 

Increase 
in Accrued 

Pension (less 
Director 

Contributions)

Increase in 
Transfer Value 
(less Director 
Contributions)

Transfer 
Value 31 

March 2009

Transfer 
Value 31 

March 2008

Executive 
Director 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000) £’000) £’000 £’000

Keith 
Reynolds 

32* 30 - 2 (10) (33) 272* 292

Russell 
Down 

19 19** - - -) 3) 109) 106**
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Group and the 
Company Financial Statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial 
Statements for each fi nancial year.  Under that law the 
Directors have prepared the Group Financial Statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, and the Company 
Financial Statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report in 
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (UK GAAP)).  The Group and Company Financial 
Statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the 
profi t or loss of the Group and the Company for that period.

In preparing those Financial Statements, the Directors are 
required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them • 
consistently;

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and • 
prudent;

state that the Group Financial Statements comply with • 
IFRS as adopted by the European Union and with regard to 
the Company Financial Statements that applicable United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards have been followed, subject 
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 
Financial Statements; and

prepare the Group and Company Financial Statements • 
on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the Group will continue in business, in 
which case there should be supporting assumptions or 
qualifi cations as necessary.  

The Directors confi rm that, to the best of their knowledge:

(a)  the Group and the Company Financial Statements in this  
 Annual Report, which have been prepared in accordance  
 with IFRS and UK GAAP respectively, give a true and fair  
 view of the assets, liabilities, fi nancial position and profi t  
 of the Group and the Company taken as a whole; and

(b)  the management report (which comprises the Chairman’s  
 Statement and the Directors’ Report) includes a fair  
 review of the development and performance of the  
 business and the position of the Group and the Company  
 taken as a whole, together with a description of the  
 principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the Company’s website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of fi nancial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to The Members 
of Hyder Consulting PLC
We have audited the group fi nancial statements of Hyder 
Consulting PLC for the year ended 31 March 2009 which 
comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated 
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense, the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the 
Principal Accounting Policies and the related notes. These 
group fi nancial statements have been prepared under the 
accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company fi nancial 
statements of Hyder Consulting PLC for the year ended 31 March 
2009 and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report that is described as having been audited. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual 
Report and the group fi nancial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the group fi nancial statements 
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for 
and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance 
with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other 
purpose.  We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come 
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the group fi nancial 
statements give a true and fair view and whether the group 
fi nancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS 
Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the 
group fi nancial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not 
received all the information and explanations we require for 
our audit, or if information specifi ed by law regarding directors’ 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Directors’ Report - Corporate Governance 
refl ects the company’s compliance with the nine provisions 
of the Combined Code (2006) specifi ed for our review by the 
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we 
report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether 
the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks 
and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control 
procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report 
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited group 

fi nancial statements. The other information comprises only the 
the Chairman’s Statement, the Directors’ Report, the unaudited 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report, and all of the 
other information listed on the contents page. We consider the 
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the group 
fi nancial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any 
other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, 
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the 
group fi nancial statements. It also includes an assessment of 
the signifi cant estimates and judgments made by the directors 
in the preparation of the group fi nancial statements, and of 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary in 
order to provide us with suffi cient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the group fi nancial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated 
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
group fi nancial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

the group fi nancial statements give a true and fair view, in • 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, 
of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 March 2009 and 
of its profi t and cash fl ows for the year then ended;

the group fi nancial statements have been properly • 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent • 
with the group fi nancial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors, Bristol
8 June 2009

Notes:

(a) The maintenance and integrity of the Hyder Consulting PLC website is the 
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does 
not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors 
accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the 
fi nancial statements since they were initially presented on the website.

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of fi nancial statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.



  2009 2008
 Note £’000 £’000
    

Revenue  1 318,970  233,672
 
Cost of sales    
    Sub-consultant costs 2 (49,067) (36,765)
    Other operating costs 2 (190,499) (139,325)
   
Gross profi t  79,404  57,582 
   
Administration expenses 2 (74,396) (44,167)
   
Group operating profi t 1 5,008  13,415 
    

Analysed as:    
   
EBITA (Pre-exceptional items)  18,677  16,041  
   
Amortisation of intangible assets    

- Software  (1,289) (1,004)
- Business combinations  (3,241) (1,802)
Exceptional items  (9,139) 180 
   
Group operating profi t 1 5,008  13,415 
    
    

Finance costs 3 (2,129) (1,641)
Finance income 3 333  974 
   
Profi t before taxation  3,212  12,748 
   
Taxation 4 291  (1,575)
    
Profi t for the year  3,503  11,173 
   
Profi t attributable to minority interest  - 3 
Profi t attributable to equity holders of the parent  3,503  11,170 
    
   
Earnings per share (pence)    

Basic 5 9.12  30.91 
Diluted 5 9.10  30.04 
   
Equity - Ordinary 10p shares    

Dividends (£’000) - Paid 6 1,295  823 
Dividend per share (pence) 6 3.45  2.30
 
Dividends (£’000) - Proposed 6 1,172  792 
Dividend per share (pence) 6 3.15  2.10 
   
All activities are continuing.
Adjusted earnings per share is disclosed in Note 5.    

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000
    

Profi t for the fi nancial year  3,503  11,173 
   
Exchange adjustments  12,250  3,156 
Cash fl ow hedges recognised  (506) (99)
Transfer from minority interest  - 16 
Actuarial (loss) / gain on defi ned benefi t pension schemes  (6,242) 5,352 
Deferred taxation on actuarial loss / (gain)  1,644  (1,682)
Effect of UK tax rate change  - (663)
   
Net income recognised directly in equity  7,146  6,080 
   
Total recognised income for the fi nancial year  10,649  17,253 
   
Attributable to:    

     Equity shareholders  10,649  17,250 
     Minority interests  - 3 
    

  10,649  17,253 
    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE  
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  2009 2008
 Note £’000 £’000
   
Non-current assets    
Intangible assets  7 & 8 46,728  45,452 
Property, plant and equipment 9 13,477  11,142 
Deferred tax assets  16 12,240  8,559 
  72,445  65,153  
  
Current assets     
Trade and other receivables  10 138,139  102,718 
Corporation tax recoverable  1,611  1,866 
Cash and cash equivalents  11 18,129  14,823 
  157,879  119,407 
   
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 12 (93,788) (64,461)
Current tax liabilities  (1,742) (1,694)
Borrowings 13 (2,512) (2,696)
Provisions 15 (8,588) (2,930)
  (106,630) (71,781)
   
Net current assets  51,249  47,626 
    

Non-current liabilities    
Borrowings 13 (21,346) (23,252)
Retirement benefi t obligations 26 (34,520) (27,363)
Provisions 15 (1,748) (367)
Deferred tax liabilities 16 (4,316) (4,111)
Other non-current liabilities 17 (2,914) (7,952) 
  (64,844) (63,045) 
  
Net assets  58,850  49,734 
   
Equity    
Called up ordinary share capital 18 3,776  3,770 
Share premium 20 28,840  28,667 
Retained earnings 21 13,556  15,939 
Other reserves 22 12,648  1,332 
   
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  58,820  49,708 
Minority interest 23 30  26 
   
Total equity  58,850  49,734 
   

The Financial Statements on pages 51 to 97 were approved by the Board of Directors on 8 June 2009 and were signed on its behalf by:  
  
    

Russell Down    
Finance Director    
8 June 2009    

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH 2009 
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  2009 2008
 Note £’000 £’000
   
Cash fl ows from operating activities    
Cash generated from operations 24(a) 19,535 4,195 
Interest received  333  974 
Interest paid  (1,546) (1,442)
Taxation paid  (2,850) (1,805)
    
Net cash from operating activities  15,472  1,922 
   
Cash fl ows from investing activities    
Deferred and contingent consideration paid  (3,361) (1,072)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired)  - (16,451)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment (incl. software)  264  40 
Purchase of minority interests  - (159)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (incl. software)  (6,759) (4,067)
    
Net cash used in investing activities  (9,856) (21,709)
    
Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities    
Proceeds on issue of shares  99 4,320 
Employee trust purchase of own shares  (654) (300)
Repayments of obligations under fi nance leases  (1,854) (1,665)
Proceeds from issue of new borrowings  30,807  31,619 
Repayment of borrowings  (32,130) (17,447)
Dividends paid 6 (1,295) (823)
    

Net cash (used in) / from fi nancing activities  (5,027) 15,704 
   
Effects of exchange rate fl uctuations on cash and cash equivalents  2,717  243 
   
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   3,306  (3,840)
   
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April  14,823  18,663 
   
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  18,129  14,823 
   
    

    

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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The Group’s Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRS”) and IFRIC 
interpretations endorsed by the European Union (”EU”) and with those 
parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS.
    
The consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on a going 
concern basis under the historical cost convention, as modifi ed by 
the valuation of intangible assets acquired on business combinations, 
fi nancial instruments and pension assets and liabilities which are 
measured at fair value.
  
The principal accounting policies set out below have been used in 
preparation of the Financial Statements.  These policies have been 
consistently applied to the presented information unless stated 
otherwise.   

Basis of preparation 
 
The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS that are applicable as at 31 March 2009.  IFRS are subject 
to amendment or interpretation by the International Accounting 
Standards Board and there is an ongoing process of review and 
endorsement by the EU. 
 
The preparation of the Financial Statements in conformity with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) requires the use of 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities at the date of the Financial Statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period.  
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge 
of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ 
from those estimates. 
 
At the date of approval of these Financial Statements, the following 
Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in these 
Financial Statements were in issue but not yet effective: 
 
IFRS 8  –  Operating Segments
IFRS 3 (R) –  Business Combinations  (Amendment effective 1  
  January 2010)
IFRIC 8  –  Scope of IFRS 2 – Share Based Payment
IFRIC 9  –  Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
IFRIC 10  –  Financial Reporting and Impairment
IFRIC 12  –  Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 14  – IAS 19 – The limit on a Defi ned Benefi t Asset,  
  Minimum Funding Requirements and their  
  interaction
 
The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and 
Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the 
Financial Statements of the Group except for changes in accounting 
for business combinations, which will only be applied prospectively.  
 

Basis of consolidation 
 
The Group Financial Statements comprise a consolidation of the 
Financial Statements of Hyder Consulting PLC (“the Company”) and 
all its subsidiary undertakings (together “the Group”), and include 
the Group’s share of profi ts or losses and net assets of associated 
undertakings and the Group’s share of its joint ventures and 
associates.  The Financial Statements of each Company in the Group 
are prepared to 31 March 2009.  Intra-Group transactions and balances 
have been eliminated on consolidation. 
 
A subsidiary is an entity controlled, either directly or indirectly, by 
the Company, where control is the power to govern the fi nancial 
and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefi t from its 
activities.  Where necessary, adjustments are made to the Financial 
Statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into 
line with those used by the Company and Group. 
 
In accordance with IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” the Group 
accounts for Joint Ventures and Associates under the proportional 
consolidation method.  The Group’s share of Joint Ventures’ and 
Associates’ assets, liabilities and results are included from the date on 
which the Group acquires an interest in the Joint Venture or Associate. 
 
The results, assets and liabilities of Joint Ventures and Associates 
are stated in accordance with Group accounting policies.  Where 
Joint Ventures or Associates adopt different accounting policies to 
the Group, their reported results are restated so as to comply with 
the Group’s accounting policies.  Where Joint Ventures or Associates 
have a different accounting date to that of the Group, results and net 
assets are based upon management accounts for the relevant period. 
 
 
Revenue recognition 

Revenue is stated net of sales tax and is recognised only when the 
outcome of the transaction can be measured reliably and it is probable 
that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Group.  Any loss on a 
contract is recognised as soon as it is foreseen. 
 
Where fee income is determined by time charged, revenue represents 
the amount of services provided during the period.  Revenue on long 
term contracts is recognised according to the stage of completion 
at the balance sheet date and the terms of the contract including 
agreed variations.  The stage of completion is based upon a review of 
the contract progress and the proportion of costs incurred for work 
performed compared to the estimated total cost of the contract after 
making a prudent allowance for uncertainties. 
 

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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Goodwill  

Goodwill carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, is 
not amortised and is tested at least annually for impairment.  If the 
recoverable amount of goodwill is less than the carrying value, an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Income Statement. 
 
Goodwill recognised under UK GAAP prior to 1 April 2004, the 
transition date to IFRS, is stated at net book value at this date under 
the exemption permitted by IFRS 1. 
  

Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment within the Balance Sheet is carried at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation.   
 
Depreciation is calculated so as to write-off the cost of the property, 
plant and equipment, less the estimated residual value including 
estimated selling costs, over the estimated useful life on a straight 
line basis as follows:  

Freehold buildings  –   40 years
Leasehold properties  –   the term of the lease
Leasehold improvements  –   the term of the lease
Fixtures, fi ttings and equipment  –   2 to 5 years
 

Leased assets 
 
Leasing arrangements which transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of an asset to the Group are classifi ed as fi nance 
leases.  All other leases are classifi ed as operating leases. 
 
Assets held under fi nance leases are included within property, 
plant and equipment.  The asset is initially measured at fair value, 
or if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.  A 
corresponding liability is recognised within obligations under fi nance 
leases.  The assets are either depreciated using the same method as 
similar fi xed assets, or the length of the lease, whichever is shorter. 
 
Leasing payments are treated as consisting of a capital element 
and fi nance costs, the capital element reducing the obligation to 
the lessor and the fi nance charges being written off to the Income 
Statement over the period of the lease in reducing amounts in relation 
to the written down amount. 
 
Rental costs arising under operating leases are charged to the Income 
Statement in the period to which they relate. 
 
Lease incentives received are amortised over the life of the full lease 
term on a straight-line basis. 
 
 

 
 

Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets acquired are capitalised at cost and those identifi ed 
in a business combination are capitalised at fair value as at the date 
of acquisition.  Following initial recognition, the carrying amount 
of an intangible asset is its’ cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment provisions.  Useful lives of 
intangible assets are assessed on acquisition to be either indefi nite 
or fi nite.  Amortisation is charged as appropriate on those intangibles 
with fi nite lives, while those with indefi nite lives are tested for 
impairment.  Computer software that does not form part of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised separately as an intangible asset.  
Amortisation is provided in line with the expected benefi t derived 
from each asset over its expected useful life.  The annual amortisation 
rates applicable are as follows: 

Brand names – 5 years
Customer contracts and relationships – 3 to 15 years
Computer software – 3 to 8 years
 
 
Impairment 
 
Goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment.  Reviews of other 
intangible and tangible assets are conducted where there is an 
indication of impairment on an annual basis to determine whether 
the carrying value of the assets may be irrecoverable.  If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is calculated as 
the greater of value in use or fair value less costs to sell, where the 
value in use is calculated as the present value of future cash fl ows 
resulting from the asset’s continued use and eventual disposal.  This 
value is compared to the carrying value of the asset with any resultant 
loss recorded as a charge in the Income Statement.  A summary of the 
key assumptions used is set out in Note 7. 

Dividends 
 
Dividends payable are recognised as a liability in the accounting 
period they are approved by the Company’s shareholders.   
 
 
Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised based on the amounts invoiced less a 
provision for impairment. 

Trade receivables include amounts recoverable on contracts, which are 
stated at cost plus attributable profi t to the extent that such profi t 
is reasonably certain and after making provision for any foreseeable 
losses in completing contracts, less payments on account received.  
Cost comprises the direct costs of providing the service, together with 
directly attributable overheads.  Payments on account represent the 
excess of amounts billed over that earned and are included separately 
within trade and other payables. 
 
 

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
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Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at banks and in hand and 
short term bank deposits.  The amounts are carried at cost in the 
Balance Sheet.  The bank deposits have a maturity date of less than 
three months from the date the deposit was made.  For the purposes 
of the Group Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents also 
include bank overdrafts.   
 
 
Retirement benefi t costs 
 
Payments to defi ned contribution pension schemes are charged as an 
expense to the Income Statement as they fall due. 

For defi ned benefi t pension schemes, the obligation is calculated 
by independent actuaries using the Projected Unit Credit Method.  
Actuarial gains and losses, which represent differences between 
the expected and actual return on the plan assets and the effect of 
changes in the actuarial assumptions, are recognised in full in the 
period in which they occur in the Statement of Recognised Income and 
Expense.  

The defi ned retirement benefi t obligation recognised in the Balance 
Sheet comprises the total for each plan of the present value of the 
benefi t obligation using a discount rate determined by market yields 
on high quality corporate bonds, less the fair values of the scheme 
assets at the balance sheet date. 
 
Current and past service costs, together with settlements and 
curtailments, are charged to operating profi t.  
 

Foreign currency translation 
 
At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that 
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing on the balance sheet date. 
 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the date of the transaction.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the exchange rate ruling on the balance sheet 
date.  Currency translation differences are recognised in the Income 
Statement. 
 
On consolidation, Balance Sheets of the Group’s overseas operations 
are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.  
Any gains or losses arising on translation of opening and closing 
reserves are accounted for in the Statement of Recognised Income 
and Expense.  Income and expense items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period.   
 
 

   
Financial instruments  
The Group’s global coverage exposes it to a variety of fi nancial risks, such 
as liquidity, foreign exchange and interest rate risks.  A risk management 
programme is in place that seeks to limit the adverse effect of these risk 
factors on the fi nancial performance of the Group.  Where appropriate 
the Group enters into interest rate and currency instruments in order 
to hedge against the effects of future interest and exchange rate 
fl uctuations, in line with the Group’s risk management policy. 
 
Derivative fi nancial instruments utilised by the Group during the year 
included an interest rate cap, interest rate swaps, forward foreign 
exchange contracts and forward foreign exchange options.   
 
Hedges are classifi ed as follows: 
 
Fair value hedges  –  instruments that mitigate exposure to  
  changes in the fair value of recognised  
  assets or liabilities.

Cash fl ow hedges  – instruments that mitigate exposure to  
  cash fl ow fl uctuations from a risk associated  
  to recognised assets or liabilities, or for a  
  forecast transaction.

The gains generated on foreign currency options are recognised on 
maturity of the underlying transaction in the Income Statement.  
Foreign currency options that generate a loss lapse with no additional 
charge to the Group’s Income Statement. 

For cash fl ow hedges, the element of the gain or loss that is 
determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in equity, with any 
ineffective portion recognised in the Group’s Income Statement.  

Any gains or losses arising from fl uctuations in the fair value of 
derivative fi nancial instruments not designated as hedges are 
recognised immediately in the Group’s Income Statement.   
 
The fair value of interest rate and foreign currency hedges are based 
on the market price of comparable fi nancial instruments at the balance 
sheet date.  The fair value of short term deposits, loans and bank 
overdrafts with a maturity of less than one year have been assumed to 
approximate to their book value. 
 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised in the Balance Sheet when the Group has 
a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that an outfl ow of resources will be required to settle this 
obligation and a reliable estimate of this obligation can be made.  The 
following provisions are currently held by the Group:  

 Vacant properties 
 Provisions are made based on the estimated net present value  
 of future rental payments less sublease income where  
 properties are vacant, using independent professional advice  
 and the Group’s weighted average cost of capital. 

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
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  Professional indemnity claims including excesses 
 The Company provides for excesses on professional indemnity  
 insurance claims at the point these are notifi able to its  
 insurers.  Amounts provided are based on estimates derived  
 by applying percentage probabilities to the expected outturn  
 of the claim.  Claims deemed to have a low chance of success,  
 set at 30% probability or less, are not provided for.  The  
 amounts provided against specifi c indemnity claims are  
 necessarily judgemental and reviewed regularly in light of  
 known circumstances.   
 

Share based payments 
 
Equity settled share-based incentives are provided to employees under 
the Hyder Consulting PLC Executive Share Option Scheme 2002 and the 
Hyder Consulting PLC 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan.  Equity settled 
share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant.  
The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight- 
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of 
shares that will eventually vest. 
 
Fair value is measured by using the Black-Scholes model which the 
Directors believe to be the most suitable calculation technique.  The 
expected life used in the model is based on management’s best 
estimate taking account of employees’ behaviour. 
 

Taxation 
 
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and deferred tax. 
 
The tax currently payable is based on the forecast taxable profi t for 
the year.  Taxable profi t differs from net profi t as reported in the 
Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other fi nancial years and it further 
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.  The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using the tax rates that have 
been enacted in each jurisdiction as at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences that 
have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date.  Deferred 
tax is measured on a non-discounted basis using tax rates (and laws) 
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet 
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is 
realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only when it is probable that 
suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be recovered. 

Deferred tax is not recognised on any unremitted overseas earnings.  
These earnings are continually reinvested within the Group, and 
therefore no tax is anticipated to be payable on these earnings in the 
foreseeable future. 

Key assumptions and estimates 

In producing the Financial Statements, the Group has to make 
judgements, assumptions and estimates that directly affect the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses, assets and liabilities, 
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.  The Directors base their 
key assumptions and estimates on historical experience and various 
reasonable assumptions based upon the circumstances.  The result 
forms the basis for making judgements regarding the carrying value 
of assets and liabilities that may not be readily available from other 
sources.  Under different assumptions or circumstances, actual results 
may be different to these estimates. 
 

Signifi cant judgements 
 
The Group is of the opinion that the most signifi cant judgement 
is made in the recognition of revenue and the assessment of the 
percentage of work completed on projects.  In applying the Group’s 
accounting policies an assessment of contract progress is completed 
which determines the proportion of contract work achieved at the 
balance sheet date with reference to the total contract works required.  
The other principal areas where judgements are required are defi ned 
benefi t pension assumptions, recognition of deferred consideration 
due under earn-out arrangements and provisions made for professional 
indemnity insurance excesses and the assessment of trade receivables 
for impairment.   
 
 

 
 
 
 

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
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Refl ecting the Group’s management and internal reporting structure, primary segmental information is presented within the Financial Statements 
in respect of geographical segments. The Group manages its business on a global basis with operations in three main geographical regions, 
UK / Europe, Asia Pacifi c and the Middle East. The UK is the home country of the parent. Inter-segment revenue relates to contracts priced on 
an arm’s length basis. The secondary reporting format is by business segment. The Directors consider that there is only one secondary business 
segment, being engineering design, planning, environmental and management consultancy.  Therefore, the disclosures for the secondary segment 
have already been given in these Financial Statements.
     
   
(a) Segment revenue     
   Inter-segment   
   revenue Total Total
  2009 2009 2009 2008
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
     
UK / Europe  - Continuing operations 129,472  (1,257) 128,215  113,051 
 - Acquisitions - - - 5,191 
Asia Pacifi c - Continuing operations 85,286  (1,451) 83,835  60,964 
 - Acquisitions - - - 605 
Middle East - Continuing operations 117,264  (10,344) 106,920  53,183 
 - Acquisitions - - - 678 
      
  332,022  (13,052) 318,970  233,672 
      
   
(b) Segment results     
    Total Total
Regional operating profi t   2009 2008
    £’000 £’000

UK / Europe - Continuing operations   8,306  8,799 
 - Acquisitions   - 946 
Asia Pacifi c - Continuing operations   4,472  3,543 
 - Acquisitions   - 116 
Middle East - Continuing operations   8,317  4,508 
 - Acquisitions   - 56 
Corporate overheads   (3,707) (2,931)
      
    17,388 15,037 
      
    
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on business combinations     
 
UK / Europe - Continuing operations   (1,362) (672)
 - Acquisitions   - (389)
Asia Pacifi c - Continuing operations   (979) (551)
 - Acquisitions   - (59)
Middle East - Continuing operations   (900) (79)
 - Acquisitions   - (52)
      
   
Exceptional items      
   
Redundancy costs    (5,031) -
Vacant property costs   (3,895) -
Other    (213) 180  
  
    (9,139) 180 
    
Group operating profi t   5,008  13,415 

1. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS BY LOCATION OF OPERATIONS   
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(c) Segment assets and liabilities     
    
  UK / Europe Asia Pacifi c Middle East Total
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
  
2009      
Segment assets  84,787  51,615  93,922 230,324 
Segment liabilities  (83,230) (22,891) (65,353) (171,474)
      
  1,557  28,724  28,569  58,850 
      
   
2008      
Segment assets  86,181  44,215  54,164  184,560 
Segment liabilities  (76,068) (21,121) (37,637) (134,826)
      
  10,113  23,094  16,527  49,734 
      
   
      
   
      
   
(d) Other information     
    
  UK / Europe Asia Pacifi c Middle East Total
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2009      
Capital expenditure - property, plant & equipment 1,329  1,408  2,231  4,968 
Capital expenditure - software 1,820  314  300  2,434 
Depreciation  1,479  873  1,058  3,410 
Amortisation - software 782  260  247  1,289 
Amortisation - business combinations 1,362  979  900 3,241 
      
   
2008      
Capital expenditure - property, plant & equipment 1,236  1,426  777  3,439 
Capital expenditure - software 1,644  104  480  2,228 
Depreciation  1,279  616  551  2,446 
Amortisation - software 666  194  144 1,004 
Amortisation - business combinations 1,061  610  131  1,802 

1. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS BY LOCATION OF OPERATIONS continued   
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The following expenses have been included in arriving at Group operating profi t:  
 
 Note 2009 2008
  £’000 £’000
   
Staff costs 25 194,193  139,847 
Sub-consultant costs  49,067  36,765 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:    
 - Owned assets  2,806  1,860 
 - Under fi nance leases  604  586 
Operating lease rentals payable   
 - Plant and machinery  2,494  1,930 
 - Property  7,286  4,878 
Amortisation of intangible assets    
 - Software  1,289  1,004 
 - Business combinations  3,241  1,802 
Loss on disposal of fi xed assets  57  -
Other operating expenses  44,831  33,925 
Other operating income  (759) (1,040)
Net exchange differences  (525) (644)
Exceptional items  9,139  (180)
Fair value loss / (gain) on fi nancial instruments  239  (476) 
   
Net operating costs  313,962  220,257 
    
 

   
Services provided by the Group’s auditor and network fi rms    
  
During the year the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor  as detailed below:  

   
  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000
 
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of parent company and     
consolidated fi nancial statements  89  79 
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:  
- The audit of Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation  361  225 
Tax services  150  79 
Other services not covered above  11  53 
    
  611  436 
    
 
Other services include one off projects.    
 
    
 
 

2.  NET OPERATING COSTS
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  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000
    
  
Bank borrowings  (1,377) (1,048)
Interest expense on tax balances  (22) (149)
Finance leases  (148) (237)
Bond facilities  -  (3)
Unwinding of discounts in provisions  (20) (48)
Unwinding of discounts in deferred and contingent consideration  (314) (156)
Net fi nance cost on pension scheme  (248) - 
   
Interest payable and similar charges  (2,129) (1,641)
   
Investment interest income  268  251 
Interest income received on tax refunds  65  153 
Interest income received on recovered debts  -  537 
Interest rate fi nancial instruments  -  14 
Net fi nance income on pension scheme  -  19 
  
Interest receivable  333  974 
   
Net fi nance costs  (1,796) (667)

3.   NET FINANCE COSTS
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  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000
Current tax   
UK Corporation tax  355 159 
    Adjustment in respect of prior years  (39) (1,058)
Overseas taxation  1,266  905 
    Adjustment in respect of prior years  37  121 
   
Total current tax  1,619  127 
   
Deferred tax   
Current year  (1,672) 1,725 
Adjustment in respect of prior years  (238) (25)
Impact of change in UK tax rate  -  (252)
   
Total deferred tax  (1,910) 1,448 
   
Total taxation  (291) 1,575 

   
The tax credit of 9.1% for the year (2008: charge of 12.4%) is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (28%).  The differences are 
explained below:   
   
  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000

Profi t before taxation  3,212  12,748 
   
Tax at UK effective rate of 28% (2008: 30%)  899  3,824 
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior year  (240)  (962)
Adjustments in respect of foreign tax rates  (1,634) (1,277)
Expenses not deductible for tax  1,226  486 
Other timing differences  (542) (244)
Remeasurement of deferred tax - change in UK tax rate  -  (252)
   
Total taxation  (291) 1,575 

4.  TAXATION
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(a) Number of shares
  
  2009 2008

Weighted average number of shares in issue  38,405,272  36,132,838 

Effect of dilution   
Share options  103,232  1,051,573 
   
Weighted average shares (diluted)  38,508,504  37,184,411 
   
   
(b) Earnings used in the calculation of earnings per share   
   
  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000

Profi t attributable to equity shareholders  3,503  11,170 
   
Add back / (less) exceptional items  9,139  (180)
Add back amortisation of intangible assets on business combinations  3,241  1,802 
Less tax on adjusted items  (2,459) (386)
   
Adjusted earnings  13,424  12,406 
   
   
(c) Earnings per share   
   
  2009 2008
  Pence Pence
   
Basic earnings per share  9.12  30.91 
   
Add back / (less) exceptional items  23.80  (0.50)
Add back amortisation of intangible assets and business combinations  8.44  4.99 
Add back tax on adjusted items  (6.40) (1.07)
  
Adjusted basic earnings per share  34.96  34.33 

  
  2009 200 
  Pence Pence

Diluted earnings per share  9.10  30.04 
  
Add back / (less) exceptional items  23.73  (0.48)
Add back amortisation of intangible assets and business combinations  8.42  4.84 
Add back tax on adjusted items  (6.38) (1.04)
   
Adjusted diluted earnings per share  34.87  33.36 

5.  EARNINGS PER SHARE
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  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000
   
Dividends charged to equity in the year  1,295  823
    

Equity - Per Ordinary 10p share    
    Final dividend paid (pence)  2.10  1.40 
    Interim dividend paid (pence)  1.35  0.90 
    
 
The directors are proposing a fi nal dividend of 3.15 pence per share (2008: 2.10 pence). In accordance with IFRS the dividend has not been 
recognised in the Financial Statements but if approved by shareholders will be paid on 7 August 2009 to shareholders on the register as at 10 July 
2009.     

    

    

    

6.  DIVIDENDS
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  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000
    
At 1 April  31,649  12,014 
Exchange adjustments  6,083  507 
Additions  -  18,055 
Amendments to fair value of consideration  (5,116) 1,115 
Amendments to provisional fair value of net assets acquired  466  - 
Credit from deferred tax relating to UK tax rate change  -  (42)
  
Cost and net book amount at 31 March  33,082  31,649 
    

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently where indicators of impairment become apparent.  As at 31 March 2009, the 
value of goodwill acquired was tested for impairment using the following key assumptions: 
    
Future cash fl ows    

The most recent fi nancial forecast approved by the Board was used in assessing goodwill for impairment and an appropriate growth rate of 2%, 
based upon historical performance, has been assumed for extrapolated periods for the purposes of impairment testing.  Gross margins are based 
on the latest forecasts and are consistent with the Directors’ future expectations.  However, actual future cash fl ows may differ signifi cantly from 
these estimates, due to the effect of changes in market conditions or to subsequent decisions on the use of the assets.  These differences may 
have a material impact on the asset values, impairment, depreciation and amortisation expense reported in future periods.

The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the impairment test of each cash generating unit’s (CGU) carrying value. An increase in the 
discount rate of 4% would not result in an impairment of goodwill.    
    
Discount rate    
  
A discount rate of 9.2% (2008: 8.5%) pre-taxation, which approximates the Group’s pre-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital, was applied.  The 
Directors’ estimate of the pre-tax discount rate refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the specifi c risks associated 
with the business.    

Cash generating units    
 
Goodwill has been allocated to the geographic region in which the acquisitions were made with each geographic region representing a CGU.   
   
On the basis of the above assumptions the Directors concluded that no impairment was deemed necessary.     
   
The amendments to fair value of consideration refl ect adjustments made during the year in relation to the estimated values assigned to contingent 
consideration.     
   
During the year the provisional fair values of certain net assets, primarily trade receivables and amounts recoverable on contracts, in relation to 
acquisitions at 31 March 2008 were reduced by £0.5m against the carrying value of goodwill acquired.   
   
The carrying value of goodwill by segment is as follows:   
   
Cash generating units   
 UK / Europe Asia Pacifi c Middle East Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
2009    
Goodwill 13,041  11,049  8,992  33,082 
    
2008    
Goodwill 12,967  9,304  9,378  31,649 

7.   GOODWILL
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   Customer 
   contracts and  Computer
  Brand names relationships Software Total
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation    
At 1 April 2007  697  5,860  7,912  14,469 
Exchange adjustments 11  165  145  321 
Additions - Separately acquired -  -  2,228  2,228 
Additions - On business combinations 779  6,498  1,145  8,422 
Disposals  -  -  (1,312) (1,312)
Transfer from tangible assets -  -  862  862 
    
At 31 March 2008  1,487  12,523  10,980  24,990 
    
Exchange adjustments 200  2,287  788  3,275 
Additions - Separately acquired -  -  2,434  2,434 
Disposals  -  -  (437) (437)
Revaluation  -  83  -  83 
    
At 31 March 2009  1,687  14,893  13,765  30,345 
    
Accumulated amortisation    
At 1 April 2007  (260) (1,965) (6,212) (8,437)
Exchange adjustments (11) (111) (122) (244)
Charge for the year  (161) (1,641) (1,004) (2,806)
Impairment losses  -  -  (1,011) (1,011)
Disposals  -  -  1,311  1,311 
    
At 31 March 2008  (432) (3,717) (7,038) (11,187)
    
Exchange adjustments (26) (796) (580) (1,402)
Charge for the year  (328) (2,913) (1,289) (4,530)
Disposals  -  -  420  420 
    
At 31 March 2009  (786) (7,426) (8,487) (16,699)
    
Net book amount:    
At 31 March 2009  901  7,467  5,278  13,646 
    
At 31 March 2008  1,055  8,806  3,942  13,803 
    

There are no intangible assets with indefi nite lives.  Amortisation is provided in line with the expected benefi t derived from each asset over its 
expected useful life.   
    
The following useful lives have been determined for the intangible assets carried in the Balance Sheet:   
     
Brand names  - 5 years  
Customer contracts and relationships - 3 to 15 years  
Computer software  - 3 to 8 years  
    
An element of  acquisition consideration has been allocated to the trading names that have been retained by the Group for future marketing 
purposes.      
    
Through acquisitions, order book backlog and a number of long term contracts have been acquired.  The principal contracts are for periods up to 3 
years while acquired customer relationships are expected to provide value for between 5 and 15 years.     
 
    

8.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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   Leasehold Vehicles, offi ce
  Freehold land properties and equipment and 
  and buildings improvements fi t-out Total
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost or valuation     
At 1 April 2007  4,791  1,614  13,404  19,809 
Exchange adjustments 1,012  -  871  1,883 
Additions - Separately acquired -  62  3,377  3,439 
Additions - On business combinations -  -  4,465  4,465 
Disposals  -  (17) (303) (320)
Transfer to intangible assets -  -  (862) (862)
    
At 31 March 2008  5,803  1,659  20,952  28,414 
    
Exchange adjustments 1,100  112  2,336  3,548 
Additions - Separately acquired -  350  4,618  4,968 
Disposals  -  (7) (1,967) (1,974)
    
At 31 March 2009  6,903  2,114  25,939  34,956 
    
Accumulated depreciation     
At 1 April 2007  (2,418) (882) (7,066) (10,366)
Exchange adjustments (596) 1  (562) (1,157)
Charge for the year  (68) (261) (2,117) (2,446)
Additions - On business combinations -  -  (3,583) (3,583)
Disposals  -  17  263  280 
    
At 31 March 2008  (3,082) (1,125) (13,065) (17,272)
    
Exchange adjustments (668) (96) (1,703) (2,467)
Charge for the year  (70)  (260) (3,080) (3,410)
Disposals  -  4  1,666  1,670 
    
At 31 March 2009  (3,820) (1,477) (16,182) (21,479)
    
Net book amount:    
At 31 March 2009  3,083  637  9,757  13,477
    
At 31 March 2008  2,721  534  7,887  11,142 
    

    
Assets held under fi nance leases have the following net book amount:   
    2009 2008
    £’000 £’000

Cost    10,505  10,263 
Aggregate depreciation   (6,216) (5,315)
    
Net book amount   4,289  4,948 
    
Assets held under fi nance leases are vehicles, offi ce equipment and fi t-out.  The Group has a long term bank loan secured against certain property.  
   

    

9.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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      2009 2008
      £’000 £’000
Amounts falling due within one year:   
Trade receivables      95,251  74,407 
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables     (12,059) (7,318)
  
Trade receivables - net of provisions     83,192  67,089 
Amounts recoverable on contracts     44,879  29,204 
Other receivables       4,516  2,366
Prepayments and accrued income     5,552  3,578 
Derivative fi nancial instruments     -  481 
  
      138,139  102,718 
  
The Group experiences its maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its principal fi nancial assets, comprising cash and cash equivalents, and 
trade and other receivables.  A provision is made for potential impairment of receivables, based on prior experience and an assessment of the 
current economic climate.  The Board believes there is currently no further credit risk provision required in excess of the provision for impairment 
of receivables.   
  
Amounts due from the Group’s joint arrangements are included as trade receivables.  Additional information regarding these amounts is included in Note 29.  
 
Book values of receivables approximate their fair values.  
  
As of 31 March 2009, trade receivables of £50.5m (2008: £24.0m) were past due but not impaired.  The ageing analysis of these trade receivables 
from date of issue is as follows:  
  
      2009 2008
      £’000 £’000

Less than 30 days      -  - 
Between 30 days and 60 days     13,709  3,939 
Between 60 days and 90 days     5,666  551 
Between 90 days and 120 days     5,703  510 
Greater than 120 days     25,424  19,007 
  
      50,502  24,007 
  
The allocation of the provision for impairment of receivables according to the date from issue of invoice is as follows:
  
      2009 2008
      £’000 £’000

Less than 30 days      2,028  766 
Between 30 days and 60 days     173  46 
Between 60 days and 90 days     162  52 
Between 90 days and 120 days     447  380 
Greater than 120 days     9,249  6,074 
  
      12,059  7,318 
  
The movement in the provision is analysed below:  
      2009 2008
      £’000 £’000

At 1 April      7,318  5,480 
Exchange differences     1,560  23 
On acquisition of subsidiaries     -  1,373 
Provision made      6,416  2,683 
Released      (1,134) (2,123)
Utilised      (2,101) (118)
  
      12,059  7,318 
 

10.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
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      2009 2008
      £’000 £’000
  
Cash at bank and in hand     13,767  14,725  
Short term bank deposits     4,362  98  
     
      18,129  14,823  

     
The above includes restricted cash of £2.3m, mainly related to the Group’s Captive Cell insurance arrangement.   
  
     

      2009 2008
    Note £’000 £’000

Trade payables     14 13,529  9,196 
Payments in advance on contracts     43,101  23,379 
Other tax and social security payable    14 4,485  5,594 
Other payables     14 15,346  11,358 
Accruals     14,881  12,050 
Lease incentives     145  160 
Derivative fi nancial instruments   14 738  5 
Contingent consideration   14 1,563  2,719 
    
      93,788  64,461 
  
     

      2009 2008
      £’000 £’000
Current   
Bank loans and overdrafts:   
Secured      422  364 
Unsecured      1,079  741 
      1,501  1,105 
   
Obligations under fi nance leases     1,011  1,591 
   
      2,512  2,696 
   
Non-current   
Bank loans:   
Secured      115  462 
Unsecured      20,123  21,279 
      20,238 21,741 
   
Obligations under fi nance leases     1,108  1,511 
   
      21,346  23,252 
   
Bank loans are denominated in a number of currencies and bear interest at base rates,LIBOR or foreign equivalents appropriate to the country in 
which the borrowing is incurred.  In line with the Group’s treasury policy, the Group has entered into a number of interest rate swaps and a cap, in 
the UK and Germany.  The Group has a long term bank loan secured against certain fi xed asset property.   

11.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

12.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES - CURRENT

13.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS
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The Group’s worldwide operations and debt fi nancing arrangements 
expose it to a variety of risks, such as foreign currency, interest 
rate and liquidity risks.  These risks are monitored by the Board on 
a periodic basis and a Group Treasury policy and risk management 
controls are in place for managing these risks.  The Group risk register 
is maintained and reviewed by the Group Risk Manager, who in turn 
leads the risk management programme within the business.   

The Group’s fi nancial instruments comprise cash, bank loans 
and overdrafts, certain payables, and deferred consideration on 
acquisitions, together with various items arising directly from 
operations.  An explanation of the Group’s objectives, policies and 
strategies for the use of derivatives and other fi nancial instruments 
to manage and control the risks of the Group is set out in the Business 
Review on page 18.  
 

Foreign currency risk 
 
With over half of the Group’s revenue generated in currencies other 
than sterling, the Group’s Balance Sheet and Income Statement 
can be affected by movements in exchange rates.  The revenue and 
costs of overseas operations normally arise in the same currency and 
consequently the exposure to exchange differences is not normally 
signifi cant and consequently not hedged.  Overseas operations 
maintain local currency overdraft and bonding facilities, which provide 
partial mitigation against balance sheet risk.   
 
The Group has £15.8m (2008: £13.0m) of cash and cash equivalents at the 
year end held in bank accounts which is immediately available for use. 

At 31 March 2009, if sterling had weakened or strengthened by 10% 
against the Euro with all other variables held constant, post-tax profi t 
for the year would have been £0.2m (2008: £0.02m) higher or lower 
respectively. 
 
At 31 March 2009, if sterling had weakened or strengthened by 10% 
against the UAE Dirham with all other variables held constant, post-
tax profi t for the year would have been £0.5m (2008: £0.4m) higher or 
lower respectively. 

At 31 March 2009, if sterling had weakened or strengthened by 10% 
against the Australian Dollar with all other variables held constant, 
post-tax profi t for the year would have been £0.1m (2008: £0.1m) 
higher or lower respectively. 

 
Interest rate risk 

The Group holds a number of bank facilities that are primarily fl oating 
rate in nature.  Of these facilities the Group has one long term bank 
loan secured against certain fi xed asset property.  Given the long 
term nature of this loan the Group elected to mitigate this risk with 
an interest rate cap.  In order to fund special contributions and the 
incentive payments made to transferring members of the AGPS the 

Group negotiated an unsecured fl oating rate loan facility.  Given the 
long term nature of this loan the Group elected to mitigate this risk 
through an interest rate swap.   

At 31 March 2009 the Group had no other signifi cant hedge 
arrangements in place.  It is the Group’s policy where necessary to 
enter into interest rate instruments and currency options in order 
to hedge against the effects of future interest and exchange rate 
fl uctuations.  Surplus funds are invested on short term deposits for 
varying periods of between one and three months depending on the 
immediate cash requirements of the Group and interest rates available.   

At 31 March 2009, if interest rates on borrowings had decreased or 
increased by 2% with all other variables held constant, post-tax profi t 
for the year would have been £0.02m (2008: £0.02m) higher or lower 
respectively. 
 

Liquidity risk 

The Group has a policy of maintaining a blend of short and long term 
committed facilities designed to ensure there are suffi cient funds 
available for operations.  To manage working capital and funding 
requirements the Group has two principal revolving credit facilities in 
the UK, with HSBC (£20m) and Barclays (£18m) which expire in April 
2012 and February 2013 respectively, a £1.5m overdraft with HSBC in 
the UK and other working capital facilities through local relationship 
banks in the countries that we operate in.  In order to fund special 
contributions to the AGPS and incentive payments to members, who 
accepted the offer to transfer their liabilities out of the AGPS, the 
Group has 15 year term facilities totalling £9.1m with HSBC in the UK.  
All of the above facilities are unsecured. Total committed facilities 
amount to £47.6m. 

 
Credit risk
 
The Group’s main exposure to credit risk is on amounts due from 
customers and is reported under the relevant Balance Sheet heading.  
In line with Group policy, where possible, appropriate credit checks are 
performed on new customers to identify potential risks.  The Group 
recognise the increased credit risk in the current economic climate, 
particularly in Dubai, and seeks to mitigate this through strong client 
relationships and advance payments.  There are no signifi cant credit 
risks associated with the balances reported as fi nancial instruments 
and the Group does not utilise derivatives to manage its credit risk.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

14.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
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Collateral      
 
Contained within borrowings is a loan of £0.5m (2008: £0.8m), secured on property with a net book value of £3.1m (2008: £2.7m).    
      
Fair values      
  
The fair value of fi nancial assets and liabilities of the Group are not considered to be materially different to their reported book value.    
 
Hedging activities     
 
At 31 March 2009 the Group had two signifi cant hedging arrangements in place being; an interest rate cap whereby interest is payable up to a 
maximum of 3.5% against a variable rate loan with a principal amount of €0.6m (2008: €1.0m), and an interest rate swap fi xed at a rate of 5.1% 
against a portion of a variable rate loan with a principal amount of £6.1m (2008: £3.3m).     
 
Interest rate risk of fi nancial liabilities     
 
The following tables set out the contractual maturity of the undiscounted cash fl ows of the Group’s fi nancial liabilities.   

 
  Weighted
  average period Weighted    More Total
  for which rate is average Within 1 to 2 2 to 5 than 5 carrying
  fi xed interest rate 1 year years years years amount
  Months % £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed rate:       
Bank loans   31  7.1% 307  162  195  -  664 
Finance leases   36  6.8% 1,011  719  389  -  2,119 
    1,318  881  584  -  2,783 
       
Floating rate:       
Bank loans    1,194  684  15,533  3,664  21,075 
    1,194  684  15,533  3,664  21,075 
       
Non-interest bearing:       
Trade payables    13,529  -  -  -  13,529 
Other tax and social security payable    4,485  -  -   -  4,485 
Other payables     15,346  -  -   -  15,346 
Derivative fi nancial instruments    738  -  -   -  738 
Contingent consideration     1,563  -  2,445   -  4,008 
Deferred consideration    -  557  -  - 557

Total     38,173  2,122  18,562   3,664  62,521 
       

Interest on fi xed rate fi nancial instruments is fi xed until maturity, while interest on fl oating rate fi nancial instruments is re-priced at intervals of 
less than one year. 
      
The effect of interest rate swaps is to modify the amount and interest rates of bank loans as below:     
   
   Weighted       More Total
   average  Within 1 to 2  2 to 5  than 5 carrying
   interest rate  1 year  years   years  years amount
   %  £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000

Fixed rate   5.1%  788  643  1,640   3,664  6,735 
Floating rate   -   713  203  14,088   -  15,004 
       
Bank loans after hedging    1,501 846  15,728   3,664  21,739 
  
    

14.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   continued   
    

72   Hyder Consulting PLC Annual Report 2009



Interest rate risk of fi nancial instruments

The following table sets out the Groups’ interest bearing fi nancial instruments, modifi ed for the effect of interest rate swaps, which are 
denominated in the following currencies      
 
  Cash and Derivative 
  cash fi nancial Fixed Floating
  equivalents instruments Rate Rate Total
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
      
Sterling  3,925  (537) (7,831) (14,028) (18,471)
UAE Dirham  4,193  -  -  (235) 3,958 
Euro  1,766  -  (21) (741) 1,004 
Australian Dollar  5,469  -  (922) -  4,547 
Hong Kong Dollar  490  -  (80) -  410 
Other  2,286  -  -  -  2,286 

Total  18,129  (537)  (8,854) (15,004) (6,226)
       

The cash at bank and in hand balance includes £2.3m, predominantly held by the Captive Insurance Cell, which is restricted and not available to 
the Group for general use.      
 
Foreign currency risk      

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than their own functional cur-
rency.  Any foreign exchange gain or loss in relation to the translation of these assets and liabilities was taken directly to the Income Statement of 
the Group companies and the Group during the year.       

Foreign currency monetary assets      
    Amounts  
   Trade recoverable Other 
   receivables on contracts receivables Total
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sterling   15,450  6,021  869  22,340 
UAE Dirham   35,372  12,128  2,070 49,570
Euro   5,237  12,610  267   18,114 
Australian Dollar   7,356  2,021  610   9,987 
Hong Kong Dollar   3,483  4,167  245  7,895 
United States Dollars  7,604  -  -   7,604 
Bahrain Dinar   3,694  2,499  87  6,280 
Other   4,996  5,433  368  10,797 

Total   83,192  44,879  4,516  132,587 
       

Finance leases     
  
The Group’s fi nance lease arrangements relate to the procurement of vehicles, offi ce equipment and fi t-out.   
  
Available borrowing facilities    
  
The Group has £35.1m of undrawn committed borrowing facilities, as at 31 March 2009. Of this amount £23.9m relates to the undrawn parts of two 
revolving credit facilities in the UK of £20m and £18m, which expire in April 2012 and February 2013 respectively. These facilities are unsecured. 
£6.9m relates to annual facilities in various  jurisdictions and are subject to review within 12 months. A further loan balance of £3m can be utilised 
for special contributions and incentive payments to members of the AGPS and can be drawn down before 31 May 2009. These facilities incur 
committment fees at market rates. The remaining undrawn balance of £1.3m relates to leasing facilities.   
 
Capital management    
   
The Group aims to maintain a prudent capital structure combining a low cost of capital with its continued operation as a successful going concern.  
The Group manages its capital structure through the issue of new shares, payments of dividends to shareholders, incurring new borrowings, or 
repaying existing borrowings.

14.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   continued   
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Interest rate risk of fi nancial liabilities     
     
The following tables set out the contractual maturity of the undiscounted cashfl ows of the Group’s fi nancial liabilties.    
  
  Weighted        
  average period Weighted       More TotaL
  for which rate is average  Within 1 to 2  2 to 5  than 5 carrying
  fi xed intereste rate  1 year years  years  years amount
  Months %  £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000
Fixed rate:       
Bank loans   41  6.47  282  202  384   -  868 
Finance leases   33  7.14  1,591  777  734   -  3,102 
     1,873  979  1,118   -  3,970 
       
Bank loans     823  15,506  1,388   4,261  21,978 
     823  15,506  1,388   4,261  21,978 
              
Non-interest bearing:       
       
Trade payables      9,196  -  -  - 9,196 
Other tax and social security payable     5,594  -  -  - 5,594 
Other payables      11,358  -  -  - 11,358 
Derivative fi nancial instruments     5  -  -  - 5 
Contingent consideration      1,170  2,220  2,719   - 6,109 
Deferred consideration    1,549  1,950  610   -  4,109 
       
Total     31,568  20,655  5,835   4,261  62,319 
       

Interest on fi xed rate fi nancial instruments is fi xed until maturity, while interest on fl oating rate fi nancial instruments is re-priced at intervals of 
less than one year. 
       
The effect of interest rate swaps is to modify the amount and interest rates of bank loans as below:
          
   Weighted       More TotaL
   average  Within 1 to 2  2 to 5  than 5 carrying
   intereste rate  1 year years  years  years amount
   %  £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000
       
Fixed rate   5.06  961  917  1,015   758  3,651 
Floating rate   -  144  14,791  757   3,503  19,195 
       
Bank loans after hedging    1,105  15,708  1,772   4,261  22,846 
       
Interest rate risk of fi nancial instruments 

The following table sets out the Groups’ interest bearing fi nancial instruments, modifi ed for the effect of interest rate swaps, which are 
denominated in the following currencies:        
    Cash and  Derivative 
     cash fi nancial  Fixed  Floating 
    equivalents instruments  rate  rate Total
     £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000
       
Sterling     5,639  (31) (5,044)  (18,211) (17,647)
UAE Dirham     4,572  -  (391)  -  4,181 
Euro     1,792  -  (74)  (984) 734 
Australian Dollar     1,479  -  (1,124)  -  355 
Hong Kong Dollar     809  -  (120)  -  689 
Other     532  -  -   -  532 
       
Total     14,823 (31) (6,753)  (19,195) (11,156)

       
The cash at bank and in hand balance includes £1.7m, predominantly held by the Captive Insurance Cell, which is restricted and not available to 
the Group for general use.       
  
    

14.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - DISCLOSURES RELATING TO MARCH 2008   
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Foreign currency risk       
       
The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than their own functional 
currency.  Any foreign exchange gain or loss in relation to the translation of these assets and liabilities was taken directly to the Income 
Statement of the Group companies and the Group during the year.        
       
Foreign currency monetary assets       

  Amounts  Derivative  
 Trade recoverable Other fi nancial 
 receivables on contracts receivables instruments Total
 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000

Sterling 20,555  6,388  455  -  27,398 
UAE Dirham 17,440  5,958  992  462  24,852 
Euro 7,398  8,639  189  8  16,234 
Australian Dollar 11,829  3,954  190  11 15,984 
Hong Kong Dollar 3,524  1,302  175  -  5,001 
United States Dollars 2,876  -  -  -  2,876 
Bahrain Dinar 1,161  1,528  21  -  2,710 
Other 2,306  1,435  343  -  4,084 
     
Total 67,089  29,204  2,365  481  99,139
       
Finance leases       
       
The Group’s fi nance lease arrangements relate to the procurement of vehicles, offi ce equipment and fi t-out.     
  
        
Available borrowing facilities       
       
The Group has £30.6m of undrawn committed borrowing facilities, as at 31 March 2008, all of which are unsecured.  Of this amount £4.1m are 
annual facilities in various jurisdictions and subject to review within 12 months.  A further £23.5m relates to the undrawn parts of two revolving 
credit facilities in the UK of £20m and £18m, which expire in April 2012 and February 2013 respectively.  Interest costs are fi xed at the time 
drawings are made.  The remaining undrawn loan balance of £3m can be utilised for special contributions and incentive payments to members of 
the AGPS and can be drawn down at anytime before May 2009.  All these facilities incur commitment fees at market rates.   
           
Capital management       
       
The Group aims to maintain an optimal capital structure ensuring the lowest possible cost of capital and the continued operation of the Group as 
a going concern.  The Group manages its capital structure through the issue of new shares, payments of dividends to shareholders, incurring new 
borrowings, or repaying existing borrowings.       
       
    

14.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - DISCLOSURES RELATING TO MARCH 2008 continued   
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   Professional
   indemnity Vacant
  Reorganisation insurance property Total
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2008  -  2,897  400  3,297 
Exchange adjustments 193  438  406  1,037 
Charged to the Income Statement 2,666  -  3,895  6,561 
Released to the Income Statement -  (538) (41) (579)
Amortisation of discount -  -  20  20 
    
At 31 March 2009  2,859  2,797  4,680  10,336 
    
At 31 March 2009    
Current liabilities  2,859  2,797  2,932  8,588 
Non-current liabilities -  -  1,748  1,748 
    
  2,859  2,797  4,680  10,336 
    
At 31 March 2008    
Current liabilities  -  2,897  33  2,930 
Non-current liabilities -  -  367  367 
    
  -  2,897  400  3,297 
    

Reorganisation    
    
The provision represents the estimated staff and other costs payable as a result of the Group’s restructuring.   
 
    
Professional indemnity insurance    
    
The provision refl ects management’s estimate of the likely cost of claims including professional indemnity insurance excesses and has been 
provided in accordance with Group policy.  These provisions will be carried forward until the claims to which they relate are agreed and amounts 
utilised or released as appropriate.    
    
Vacant property    
    
The provision represents the estimated net present value of future rentals where properties are vacant.  These provisions will be utilised until such 
time as the vacant properties are re-let (when the requirement for a provision will be reassessed), or the lease terminates, whichever occurs earlier. 
   
     
     

15.  PROVISIONS
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Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the appropriate statutory tax rates in each jurisdiction.  
Deferred tax has been measured at the tax rates that have been enacted in each jurisdiction which will apply on reversal of the related temporary 
differences.    
    
    2009 2008 
    £’000 £’000 
     
At 1 April    4,448  9,968  
Exchange adjustments   (39) 92  
Credit / (Charge) to Income Statement   1,910  (1,448) 
Credit / (Charge) to Equity for the year   1,644  (2,392) 
(Charge) / Credit to Goodwill for the year   (39) 42  
Arising on acquisitions   -  (1,814) 
 
At 31 March    7,924  4,448  
 
    
    

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets only where it is 
probable that these assets will be recovered in the foreseeable future.  A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the defi ned benefi t 
pension scheme defi cit in the UK and Germany, based on the expected taxable profi ts of these businesses.   
     
Deferred tax assets of £1.6m (2008: £1.2m) have not been recognised in respect of losses amounting to £6.5m (2008: £7.1m) that can be carried 
forward and offset against future taxable income.      
    
Deferred income tax liabilities of £7.0m (2008: £4.0m) have not been recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes which would be payable 
on the unremitted earnings of certain overseas subsidiaries.  Such amounts are permanently reinvested by the Group and therefore no tax is 
expected to be payable on them in the foreseeable future.  Unremitted earnings totalled £25.1m at 31 March 2009 (2008: £14.2m).  
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and there is an intention to settle the balances 
net.  The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to the offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction as permitted by IAS 12) 
during the year are shown below:    
    
 
   Accelerated Other short
  Pension capital term timing
  defi cit allowances differences Total
Deferred taxation assets £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
    
At 1 April 2008  5,145  388  3,026  8,559 
    
(Charge) / Credit to Income Statement:    
Current year  (928) (28) 2,314  1,358 
Adjustment in respect of prior years -  199  76  275 
  (928) 171  2,390  1,633 
    
Credit to equity:    
Current Year  1,644  -  -  1,644 
  1,644  -  -  1,644 
    
Exchange adjustments 5  -  399  404 
    
At 31 March 2009  5,866  559  5,815  12,240 
     
     

16.  DEFERRED TAX
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   Amounts Other short 
  Intangible recoverable term timing 
  assets on contracts differences Total
Deferred taxation liabilities £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2008  1,883  1,724 504  4,111
    
Charge / (Credit) to Income Statement    
Current year  (593) -  279  (314)
Adjustment in respect of prior years -  37  -  37 
  (593) 37  279  (277)
    
Charge / (Credit) to Goodwill (31) 70  -  39 
Exchange adjustments 164  244  35  443 
    
At 31 March 2009  1,423 2,075  818  4,316 

     

    2009 2008
    £’000 £’000
   
Deferred and contingent consideration   2,618  7,499 
Other payables    296  453 
  
    2,914  7,952 
  
  
 

16.  DEFERRED TAX continued

17.  OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Authorised    2009 2008
    £’000 £’000
  
47,877,306 (2008: 47,877,306) ordinary shares of 10p each   4,788 4,788
  
  
    Shares £’000
Issued and fully paid:  
  
At 1 April 2007    35,847,114 3,585
  
Issued in relation to exercised share options   82,896 8
Issued as part of acquisition consideration for Voigt Ingenieure Group   186,383 19
Placing to fund acquisitions   1,050,000 105
Issued as part of acquisition consideration for Crescent PSS Pty Limited   58,980 6
Issued as part of acquisition consideration for Holford & Associates   471,974 47
  
At 31 March 2008    37,697,347 3,770
  
Issued in relation to exercised share options   57,500 6
  
At 31 March 2009    37,754,847 3,776
  
  
During the year, options were exercised on 6,500 shares at 87.5p, 11,000 shares at 139.5p and 40,000 shares at 194p. The total consideration for 
these shares was £0.1m.  
 

18.  CALLED UP ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
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All share based payment schemes are detailed in the Directors Remuneration Report on pages 42 to 48.

Share Options
           
 Set out below are summaries of options granted under Hyder Group schemes:

As at 31 March 2009         
     Awards    Awards Awards 
  Exercise   outstanding Granted Exercised Forfeited outstanding exercisable
  price Fair value Number of at 31 during the during the during the at 31  at 31
Scheme Award date (pence) (pence) employees March 2008 year year year March 2009 March 2009
          
DSO 27-Sep-02 72.0  - 1  575,473  -  -  -  575,473  575,473
 
ESOS 19-Jun-03 87.5  35.5  80  69,900  -  (6,500) -  63,400  63,400 
ESOS 03-Aug-04 139.5  57.1  80  155,000  -  (11,000) -  144,000  144,000 
ESOS 10-Jun-05 194.0  76.4  35  270,000  -  (40,000) (5,000) 225,000  225,000 
ESOS 30-Jun-06 256.3  99.1  47  300,000  -  -  (5,553) 294,447  - 
ESOS 03-Jul-06 254.8  98.9  1  5,000  -  -  -  5,000  - 
ESOS 15-Jun-07 525.0  139.0  34  171,500  -  -  (9,908) 161,592  - 
ESOS 18-Jul-08 348.5  71.0  42  -  259,250  -  (25,380) 233,870  - 
          
LTIP 24-Aug-06 Nil 302.4  3  76,308  -  (8,478) -  67,830  - 
LTIP 15-Jun-07 Nil 505.9  7  55,612  -  (2,222) -  53,390  - 
LTIP 18-Jul-08 Nil 337.7  7  -  73,000  -  -  73,000  - 
LTIP 11-Dec-08 Nil 150.7  2  -  494,522  -  -  494,522  - 
          
     1,678,793  826,772  (68,200) (45,841) 2,391,524  1,007,873 
          
Weighted average exercise/transfer price (pence)    144.62   147.94  109.85 
          
          
          
As at 31 March 2008          
     Awards    Awards Awards 
  Exercise   outstanding Granted Exercised Forfeited outstanding exercisable
  price Fair value Number of at 31 during the during the during the at 31  at 31
Scheme Award date (pence) (pence) employees March 2007 year year year March 2008 March 2008
          
DSO 27-Sep-02 72.0  - 1  575,473  -  -  -  575,473  575,473
 
ESOS 19-Jun-03 87.5  35.5  80  98,000  -  (28,100) -  69,900  69,900 
ESOS 03-Aug-04 139.5  57.1  80  205,000  -  (48,538) (1,462) 155,000  155,000 
ESOS 10-Jun-05 194.0  76.4  35  310,000  -  (6,258) (33,742) 270,000  - 
ESOS 30-Jun-06 256.3  99.1  47  325,000  -  -  (25,000) 300,000  - 
ESOS 03-Jul-06 254.8  98.9  1  5,000  -  -  -  5,000  - 
ESOS 15-Jun-07 525.0  139.0  34  -  185,500  -  (14,000) 171,500  - 
          
LTIP 24-Aug-06 Nil 302.4  3  76,308  -  -  -  76,308  - 
LTIP 15-Jun-07 Nil 505.9  7  -  55,612  -  -  55,612  - 
          
     1,594,781  241,112  (82,896) (74,204) 1,678,793  800,373 
          
Weighted average exercise/transfer price (pence)    125.99   175.74  86.43 
          
No options expired during the periods covered by the above tables.    
     
The fair value of share options has been calculated using the Black Scholes option-pricing model. No performance conditions were included in 
the fair value calculation. The expected volatility used for the options issued has been based on the Company’s own share price volatility. The 
expected life is expected period from option to exercise. The risk free rate of return is an average yield based on the zero-coupon UK Government 
Bonds issued at the date the share options were issued with a similar life to the options.    
      

19.  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS  
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The assumptions used in the model are as follows:     
      
   ESOS LTIP LTIP
   July July December
   2008 2008 2008
      
Risk free rate of return  5.058% 5.058% 2.812%
Dividend yield   0.866% 0.866% 1.935%
Share price volatility  18.15% 18.15% 35.62%
Vesting Period   3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected Life   3.6 years 3 years 3 years
Share price at grant date     
- 18 July 2008   348.50p  348.50p - 
- 11 December 2008  -  -  155.8p
  

      
     £’000
Issued and fully paid: 
 
At 1 April 2007     21,262
Premium on ordinary shares issued during the year less expenses of issues    7,405
 
At 31 March 2008     28,667
Premium on ordinary shares issued during the year less expenses of issues    173
 
At 31 March 2009     28,840

 
  
  

    2009 2008
   Note £’000 £’000
 
At 1 April    15,939  2,437 
  
Profi t for the year    3,503  11,170 
Dividends paid   6 (1,295) (823)
Actuarial (losses) / gains on defi ned benefi t pension schemes  26 (6,242) 5,352 
Deferred taxation on actuarial losses / (gains)   16 1,644  (1,682)
Effect of UK tax rate change   -  (663)
Share option charges  23 10  179 
Deferred taxation on share option charges  23 (3)  (47)
Transfer from minority interests   -  16 
  
At 31 March    13,556  15,939 

  

19.  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS  continued    

20.  SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT
    

21.  RETAINED EARNINGS
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  Capital  Cash fl ow
  redemption Translation hedge ESOP 
  reserve reserve reserve Reserve Total
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2007  80  (1,546) 68  (194) (1,592)
Cash fl ow hedges recognised -  -  (99) -  (99)
Incentives granted in the year -  -  -  (300) (300)
Charge for the year   -  -  -  167  167
Exchange adjustments -  3,156  -  -  3,156 
     
     
At 31 March 2008  80  1,610  (31) (327) 1,332 
Cash fl ow hedges recognised -  -  (506) -  (506)
Incentives granted in the year -  -  -  (653) (653)
Charge for the year  -  -  -  225  225
Exchange adjustments -  12,250  -  -  12,250 
     
     
At 31 March 2009  80  13,860  (537) (755) 12,648 
     

The capital redemption reserve is not distributable.     
     
The translation reserve consists of cumulative gains and losses arising on the translation of overseas operations.     
      
The cash fl ow hedge reserve includes the fair value of hedging derivatives where such instruments are designated and effective as hedges of future 
cash fl ows.      
     
The ESOP reserve arises because the Hyder Consulting PLC Employee Benefi t Trust holds shares in Hyder Consulting PLC in order to satisfy awards 
made under the Hyder Consulting PLC 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan.     

22.  OTHER RESERVES
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  Share Share Retained Other  Minority  
  capital premium earnings reserves Total interests Total
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2007  3,585 21,262 2,437 (1,592) 25,692  242  25,934 
New shares issued  185  - - - 185  - 185 
Premium on new shares issued - 7,405  - - 7,405  - 7,405 
Profi t for the year  - - 11,170  - 11,170  3  11,173 
Dividends paid  - - (823) - (823) - (823)
Actuarial gains on defi ned benefi t 
pension schemes  - - 5,352  - 5,352  - 5,352 
Deferred tax on actuarial gains - - (1,682) - (1,682) - (1,682)
Effect of UK tax rate change - - (663) - (663) - (663)
Share option charges - - 179  - 179  - 179 
Deferred tax on share option charges - - (47) - (47) - (47)
Cash fl ow hedges recognised - - - (99) (99) - (99)
Incentives granted in the year - - - (300) (300) - (300)
Charge for the year  - - - 167  167  - 167 
Minority interest acquired - - - - - (195) (195)
Transfer to retained earnings - - 16  - 16  (16) -
Exchange adjustments  - - - 3,156  3,156  (8) 3,148 
        
At 31 March 2008  3,770  28,667  15,939  1,332  49,708  26  49,734 
        

New shares issued  6  - - - 6  - 6 
Premium on new shares issued - 173  - - 173  - 173 
Profi t for the year  - - 3,503  - 3,503  - 3,503 
Dividends paid  - - (1,295) - (1,295) - (1,295)
Actuarial losses on defi ned benefi t 
pension schemes  - - (6,242) - (6,242) - (6,242)
Deferred tax on actuarial losses - - 1,644  - 1,644  - 1,644 
Share option charges - - 10  - 10  - 10 
Deferred tax on share option charges - - (3) - (3) - (3)
Cash fl ow hedges recognised - - - (506) (506) - (506)
Incentives granted in the year - - - (653) (653) - (653)
Charge for the year  - - - 225  225  - 225 
Exchange adjustments  - - - 12,250  12,250  4  12,254 
        
At 31 March 2009  3,776  28,840  13,556  12,648  58,820  30  58,850 
        

23.  SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS AND STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
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(a) Cash fl ows from operating activities      
      
       2009 2008
       £’000 £’000

Profi t for the fi nancial year      3,503  11,173 
Adjustments for:      
Taxation       (291) 1,575 
Depreciation       3,410  2,446 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment     57  -
Amortisation - Software      1,289  1,004 
Amortisation - Business Combinations      3,241  1,802 
Interest receivable       (333) (974)
Interest payable and similar charges      2,129  1,641 
Fair value gain on fi nancial instruments      239  (476)
Share option costs       323  388 
Increase / (decrease) in provisions      7,039  (306)
Defi ned benefi t scheme charges      4,877  2,598 
Pension scheme curtailments      (766) -
Pension scheme settlements      - (350)
Contributions to defi ned benefi t schemes      (5,080) (6,012)
Changes in working capital (excluding effects of acquisitions):      
Increase in trade and other receivables      (32,522) (12,916)
Increase in trade and other payables      32,420  2,602 
      
Cash generated from operations      19,535  4,195 

     
(b) Reconciliation of movement in net debt
 
     
        At 31
    At 1 April  Non cash Exchange March 
    2008 Cash fl ow Movement Movement 2009
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank    14,823  589  - 2,717  18,129 
      
Debt due within 1 year   (1,105) 284  (584) (96) (1,501)
Debt due after 1 year   (21,741) 1,039 584  (120) (20,238)
Finance leases due within 1 year   (1,591) 1,854  (1,101) (173) (1,011)
Finance leases due after 1 year   (1,511) -  456  (53) (1,108)
      
    (25,948) 3,177  (645) (442) (23,858)
      
    (11,125) 3,766 (645) 2,275  (5,729)
       

The cash at bank balance includes £2.3m that is restricted and not available to the Group for general use.    
  

24.  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT     
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(a) Employee costs   
   
  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000
   
Wages and salaries  174,145 124,160
Social security costs  9,430 7,856
Pension costs  10,295 7,354
Share based payment expense  323 388
Other costs  - 89
   
  194,193 139,847
   

(b) Aggregate cost of persons discharging managerial responsibility remuneration   
   
Salaries and benefi ts  2,057 1,613
Pension costs  195 147
Compensation for loss of offi ce  440 -
Long term incentive costs  206 146
   
  2,898 1,906
   
The Group has identifi ed 16 persons (2008: 11) discharging managerial responsibility comprising the Hyder Consulting PLC Directors and the 
Regional Managing Directors.  Full details of the Hyder Consulting PLC Directors’ remuneration can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
on pages 42 to 48.   
   

(c) Average monthly number of employees during the year (including Directors) by function   

  
  2009 2008
  Number Number
  
Technical  3,973 3,650
Administration (including executive Directors)  670 607
  
  4,643 4,257
   
As at 31 March 2009 the Group had 4,694 employees (2008: 4,756) including 2 executive Directors (2008: 3).   

   
(d) Average monthly number of employees during the year (including executive Directors) by geography   

   
   
  2009 2008
  Number Number
   
UK / Europe  1,832 1,863
Asia Pacifi c  1,178 1,149
Middle East  1,633 1,245
  
  4,643 4,257
   
  

25.  EMPLOYEE COSTS  
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Employees of the Group participate in a number of pension schemes both in the UK and overseas.  The assets of each pension scheme are held 
separately from the assets of the Group and are administered by trustees.  The principal scheme in the UK is the Acer Group Pension Scheme 
(AGPS) which is a defi ned benefi t scheme.  During the year contributions were also made to the Hyder Consulting (UK) Limited Group Personal 
Pension Plan, a defi ned contribution scheme.  The pension cost for the AGPS, being the principal UK scheme for Hyder Consulting (UK) Limited, has 
been assessed in accordance with actuarial advice, using the projected unit method.  For this purpose the main actuarial assumptions used are a 
discount rate of 6.5% (2008: 6.2%) per annum, investment return of 7.2% (2008: 6.9%) per annum, pay growth and infl ationary increases of 3.2% 
(2008: 3.6%) per annum, and increases to pensions in payment of 3.0% (2008: 3.0%), 3.2% (2008: 3.6%) and 2.5% (2008: 2.5%) per annum for 
increases in line with the RPI capped at 3%, 5% and 2.5% respectively.  The overall assumption for the expected rate of return on the assets for 
the year starting 1 April 2009 is 7.2% (2008: 7.5%) per annum.    

A full actuarial valuation of the AGPS was carried out as at 1 April 2008 and updated to 31 March 2009 by a qualifi ed independent actuary.  The 
contributions made to the scheme in the accounting period were £3.3m (2008: £5.6m).    

As the AGPS is closed to new members, under the projected unit method the current service cost will increase as the members of the scheme 
approach retirement.     

The post retirement mortality assumption incorporates a scheme specifi c base table and an allowance for future improvements in mortality rates 
from 2008 onwards in line with the “1992” projections, the “medium cohort effect” and minimum improvement of 1% per annum.  
  
The total retirement benefi t cost, excluding settlement gains, recognised in the Income Statement for the period was £10.3m (2008: £7.4m), of 
which £5.9m (2008: £3.2m) relates to overseas Schemes.  Audit fees for the AGPS amounted to £17,000 for the year (2008: £17,000).  
  
The key assumptions and the sensitivities of the AGPS liabilities to changes in these assumptions are shown below.   
 
    

Assumption Change in assumption  Indicative effect on scheme liabilities 

Discount rate Increase / decrease by 0.5%  Decrease / increase by 9% 
Rate of infl ation Increase / decrease by 0.5%  Increase / decrease by 6% 
Longevity Increase by 1 year  Increase by 3% 
    

The Group’s net liabilities in respect of retirement benefi ts comprise the following:     

  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000

AGPS and unfunded Annuitants scheme  27,178  23,159 
Overseas schemes  7,342  4,204 
   
  34,520  27,363 
    

Pension costs for defi ned contribution schemes are as follows:     

    

  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000

Defi ned contribution schemes  5,936  4,756 
   
  

26.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS  
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AGPS and Annuitants scheme    

The key assumptions used were:  2009 2008
    
Rate of increase in salaries  3.20% 3.60%
Rate of increase to pensions in payment:    
- Index linked pensions with max 3% per annum increases  3.00% 3.00%
- Other index linked pension  3.20% 3.60%
Discount rate  6.50% 6.20%
Infl ation assumptions  3.20% 3.60%
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners    
- Men   22.0 years 21.9 years
- Women  23.9 years 23.8 years
Longevity at age 65 for future pensioners    
- Men  23.9 years 23.8 years
- Women  25.8 years 25.7 years

The assets in the scheme and the expected rates of return were:     
   
 Long term rate of  Value at Long term rate of Value at
 return expected 31 March return expected at 31 March 
 at 31 March 2009 2009 31 March 2008 2008
 % per annum £’000 % per annum £’000

Equities 8.00 53,880  8.30 61,032 
Bonds 5.20 21,360  5.50 26,063 
Other 0.50 474  5.25 435 
Total market value of assets  75,714   87,530 
    
Present value of scheme liabilities  (102,239)  (110,011)
Defi cit in the scheme  (26,525)  (22,481)
    
Present value of unfunded Annuities scheme  (653)  (678)
Defi cit in UK based schemes  (27,178)  (23,159)
    
Related deferred tax asset  5,866   5,123 
    
Net pension defi cit  (21,312)  (18,036)
    
    
Amounts recognised in the Income Statement in respect of the AGPS and Annuitants scheme are as follows:   
 
    
   2009 2008
   £’000 £’000
    
Current service costs   (1,395) (1,519)
Pension scheme settlements and curtailments   -  350 
Notional interest on pension liability   (6,814) (5,778)
Expected return on scheme assets   6,542  5,793 
    
  (1,667) (1,154)

26.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS  continued
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Movements in the present value of AGPS and Annuitants scheme obligations are as follows:    
  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000

At 1 April  110,689  110,574 
Current service costs  1,395  1,519 
Notional interest on pension liability  6,814  5,778 
Settlements   -  (350)
Actuarial gain  (13,035) (2,160)
Contributions by plan participants  210  226 
Benefi ts paid from plan  (3,181) (4,898)
    
At 31 March  102,892  110,689 
    

Movements in the fair value of AGPS and Annuitants scheme assets are as follows:    

  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000
    
At 1 April  87,530  77,254 
Expected return on plan assets  6,542  5,793 
Contributions by employers  3,522  5,707 
Actuarial (loss) / gain  (18,909) 3,448 
Contributions by plan participants  210  226 
Benefi ts paid from plan  (3,181) (4,898)
 
At 31 March   75,714  87,530 
    

History of experience gains and losses:
 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair value of scheme assets 75,714  87,530  77,254  75,415 64,254
Present value of scheme obligations (102,892) (110,689) (110,574) (118,499) (101,633)
    
Defi cit in the schemes (27,178) (23,159) (33,320) (43,084) (37,379)

Experience adjustments on scheme assets    
Amount (£’000) (18,909) 3,448  (2,209) 5,199 1,175
Percentage of scheme assets (25%) 4% (3%) 7% 2%

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities    
Amount (£’000) 13,035  2,160  2,095 (15,002) (7,629)
Percentage of scheme liabilities (13%) 2% 2% (13%) (8%)
    

The estimated amount of contributions expected to be paid into the AGPS during the year ended 31 March 2010 is £6.3m (2008: £3.7m), including 
special contributions of £3m.    

Notes:    

1.        At the date of the last funding valuation (1 April 2008), the AGPS held assets to the value of £87.1m.  This represented a funding level of 
73% of the AGPS’ accrued liabilities at that date.    

    

26.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS  continued
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Other retirement benefi t schemes    

Further funded and unfunded retirement benefi t schemes are maintained in Germany, Hong Kong and the Middle East.  The most signifi cant of 
these is the requirement in certain Gulf States to pay termination gratuities to employees based on the length of service when they leave the 
employment of the Group.  Amounts recognised in the Income Statement in respect of the overseas employee benefi t schemes are as follows:  
  
  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000

Current service costs  (3,482) (1,079)
Pension scheme settlements and curtailments  766  - 
Notional interest on pension liability  (56) (80)
Expected return on scheme assets  80  84 

At 31 March  (2,692) (1,075)
    

Movements in the present value of overseas obligations were as follows:    

  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000

At 1 April  5,306  3,765 
Exchange adjustments  2,022  137 
Current service costs  3,482  1,079 
Pension liability acquired  -  665 
Notional interest on pension liability  56  80 
Curtailments  (766) - 
Settlements  (867) - 
Actuarial loss   113  182 
Contributions by plan participants  18  17 
Benefi ts paid from plan  (1,737) (619)
    
At 31 March  7,627  5,306 
    

Movements in the fair value of overseas assets were as follows:    

 
  2009 2008
  £’000 £’000

At 1 April  1,102  1,374 
Exchange adjustments  386  15 
Expected return on plan assets  80  84 
Contributions by employers  1,558  305 
Settlements  (867) - 
Actuarial loss  (255) (74)
Contributions by plan participants  18  17 
Benefi ts paid from plan  (1,737) (619)
   
At 31 March  285  1,102 
 
During the year, the Hong Kong defi ned benefi t scheme was wound up.  This resulted in settlements of £867,000, and a curtailment gain of 
£766,000.    

26.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS   continued
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At 31 March 2009, the Group’s total remaining commitments as lessee under non-cancellable operating leases for certain of its offi ce properties 
and vehicles, plant and equipment were as follows:    
    
  Vehicles,  Vehicles,
  plant and  plant and
 Property equipment Property equipment
 2009 2009 2008 2008
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Rental payable:    
In one year or less 6,482  2,578  5,099  1,517 
In more than one year but no more than two 4,927  1,935  4,361  1,172 
In more than two years but no more than fi ve 9,766  1,400  9,142  891 
Greater than fi ve years 5,669  -  6,933  - 
    
 26,844  5,913  25,535  3,580 

    
Where the Group has vacated a property prior to the end of the lease term, the Group will attempt to sublease such vacant space on short term 
lets.  The sublease rental income for the year to 31 March 2009 was £242,000 (2008: £168,000).  The minimum rent receivable under non-
cancellable operating leases is as follows:    
    
   2009 2008
   £’000 £’000
Rental receivable:    
In one year or less   122  168 
In more than one year but no more than two   102  155 
In more than two years but no more than fi ve   142  319 
Greater than fi ve years   -  24 
    
   366  666 

The Group maintains professional indemnity insurance against claims for professional negligence which in the ordinary course of business have 
been, or may in the future be, received. The Directors assess each claim and make provision for legal and settlement costs where, on the basis of 
advice received, it is considered that a liability may exist.   
    
Hyder Consulting PLC and various Group companies have entered into performance guarantees and performance bonds supporting project 
requirements and certain other bonds and guarantees in the ordinary course of business.  The Group’s liabilities under performance guarantees 
are only limited to the extent of the underlying contracts.  The Directors do not consider any provision is necessary in respect of guarantees and 
bonds.    

27.  OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS - MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS 
  

28.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
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The Group has entered into transactions on an arm’s length basis with related parties, mostly joint arrangements, during the year.  Transactions 
relating to sales of consulting services to these joint arrangements amounted to £13.0m (2008: £13.9m).  
  
Net amounts due from these joint arrangements amounted to £3.6m (2008: £2.4m), and are included within trade receivables (Note 10), as 
the Group utilises these arrangements primarily as special purpose billing vehicles on project related ventures with our partners.  A listing of 
signifi cant joint arrangements is set out below:  
  
  Country of incorporation /
 Legal status  Region of operation
  
McCarthy Hyder Consultants Limited* Incorporated Republic of Ireland
Hyder Halcrow JV Unincorporated UK / Europe
Maunsell Hyder JV Unincorporated Asia Pacifi c
Hyder Atkins JV Unincorporated  Middle East 
  

* The Group holds a 50% interest in the joint arrangement’s ordinary share capital.  
  
Unincorporated joint arrangements are normally operated from the relevant Hyder regional offi ce.  

The following key subsidiaries are consolidated within the Group results.     
 
 Country of 
 incorporation, 
 registration and  Direct Indirect
   operation shareholding shareholding 
Subsidiary  % %
 
Hyder Consulting Holdings Limited England and Wales 100  
 Hyder Consulting Group Limited England and Wales  100 
  Hyder Consulting Germany GmbH Germany  100
  Hyder Consulting Limited Hong Kong  100
  Hyder Australia Pty Limited  Australia  100
  Hyder Consulting Middle East Limited Guernsey  100
 Hyder Consulting Europe Limited England and Wales  100
  Hyder Consulting (UK) Limited England and Wales  100

Hyder Consulting Overseas Holdings Limited England and Wales 100 
 Hyder Consulting Holdings Pty Limited Australia  100
 Hyder Consulting MEP Limited Guernsey  100
     

 
The Group owns 100% of the preference shares in the Hyder Consulting Cell within HSBC Insurance PCC Limited, a Guernsey registered company.  
   

29.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
  

30.  PRINCIPAL GROUP UNDERTAKINGS
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members 
of Hyder Consulting PLC
We have audited the parent company fi nancial statements of 
Hyder Consulting PLC for the year ended 31 March 2009 which 
comprise the Balance Sheet, the Reconciliation of Movements 
in Shareholders’ Funds, the Principal Accounting Policies and 
the related notes. These parent company fi nancial statements 
have been prepared under the accounting policies set out 
therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the group fi nancial statements 
of Hyder Consulting PLC for the year ended 31 March 2009

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the parent company 
fi nancial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company fi nancial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared 
for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance 
with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other 
purpose.  We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come 
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company 
fi nancial statements give a true and fair view and whether 
the parent company fi nancial statements and the part of 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. 
We also report to you whether in our opinion the information 
given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the parent 
company fi nancial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has 
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all 
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if 
information specifi ed by law regarding directors’ remuneration 
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report 
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent 
company fi nancial statements. The other information comprises 
only the Chairman’s Statement, Directors’ Report, the unaudited 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and all of the other 
information listed on the contents page. We consider the 
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the parent 
company fi nancial statements. Our responsibilities do not 
extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test 
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in 
the parent company fi nancial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes 
an assessment of the signifi cant estimates and judgments 
made by the directors in the preparation of the parent company 
fi nancial statements, and of whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary in 
order to provide us with suffi cient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the parent company fi nancial statements and 
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we 
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of 
information in the parent company fi nancial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

the parent company fi nancial statements give a true and • 
fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the 
company’s affairs as at 31 March 2009;
the parent company fi nancial statements and the part of • 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 1985; and
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent • 
with the parent company fi nancial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors, Bristol
8 June 2009

Notes:

(a) The maintenance and integrity of the Hyder Consulting PLC website is the 
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does 
not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors 
accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the 
fi nancial statements since they were initially presented on the website.

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of fi nancial statements may differ from legislation in other 

jurisdictions.



    2009 2008
   Note £’000 £’000
 
Fixed assets   
Fixed asset investments  2 14,676 14,676
   
Current assets   
Debtors   3 28,260 23,365
Cash at bank and in hand   12 5,047
    28,272 28,412
Current liabilities   
Creditors : amounts falling due within one year  4 (1,736) (1,189)
Net current assets   26,536 27,223
   
Total net assets    41,212 41,899
   
   
Capital and reserves   
Called up share capital   5 3,776 3,770
Share premium account   6 28,840 28,667
Other reserves   7 & 8 608 601
Retained earnings   9 7,988 8,861
   
   
Total shareholders’ funds   41,212 41,899

    2009 2008
    £’000 £’000
 
Profi t / (loss) for the year   422 (187)
Dividends    (1,295) (823)
  
    (873) (1,010)
  
Issue of ordinary shares   6 185
Premium on issue of ordinary shares   173 7,405
Share option costs    10 179
Deferred tax on share options   (3) -
  
Total (loss) / gain for the year   (687) 6,759
  
Shareholders’ funds at 1 April    41,899 35,140

Shareholders’ funds at 31 March   41,212 41,899

  

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH 2009
    

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009   
 

   Hyder Consulting PLC Annual Report 2009    93   



PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance 
with Accounting Standards applicable in the United Kingdom 
and comply with the Companies Act 1985. A summary of the 
principal accounting policies, which have been consistently 
applied, is set out below.

Basis of accounting

These fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the historical cost convention and on a going concern basis. 

Investments

Long term investments held as fi xed assets are stated at cost 
less amounts written off or provided to refl ect impairment.  
Those held as current assets are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.

Foreign currencies

All exchange gains or losses on settlement or translation at 
closing rates of exchange of monetary assets and liabilities are 
included in the determination of the profi t (2008: loss) for the 
year.

Share based payments

Equity settled share-based incentives are provided to employees 
under the Hyder Consulting PLC Executive Share Option Scheme 
2002 and the Hyder Consulting PLC 2006 Long Term Incentive 
Plan.  Equity settled share-based payments are measured at fair 
value at the date of grant.  The fair value determined at the 
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period, based on an estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

Fair value is measured by using the Black-Scholes model which 
the Directors believe to be the most suitable calculation 
technique.  The expected life used in the model is based on 
management’s best estimate taking account of employees’ 
behaviour.

Financial instruments

The Company is exposed to a variety of fi nancial risks, such 
as liquidity, foreign exchange and interest rate risks.  A risk 
management programme is in place that seeks to limit the 
adverse effect of these risk factors on the fi nancial performance 
of the Company.  Where appropriate the Company enters into 
interest rate and currency instruments in order to hedge against 
the effects of future interest and exchange rate fl uctuations, in 
line with the Company’s risk management policy.

Derivative fi nancial instruments utilised by the Company during 
the year included an interest rate cap, forward foreign exchange 
contracts and forward foreign exchange options.

Hedges are classifi ed as follows:

Fair value hedges - instruments that mitigate exposure  
  to changes in the fair value of  
  recognised assets or liabilities.

Cash fl ow hedges - instruments that mitigate exposure  
  to cash fl ow fl uctuations from a risk  
  associated to recognised assets or  
  liabilities, or for a forecast 
  transaction.

The gains generated on foreign currency options are recognised 
on maturity of the underlying transaction in the Income 
Statement.  Foreign currency options that generate a loss lapse 
with no additional charge to the Company’s Income Statement.

For cash fl ow hedges, the element of the gain or loss that is 
determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in equity, 
with any ineffective portion recognised in the Company’s 
Income Statement.

Any gains or losses arising from fl uctuations in the fair value of 
derivative fi nancial instruments not designated as hedges are 
recognised immediately in the Income Statement.  

The fair value of interest rate and foreign currency hedges are 
based on the market price of comparable fi nancial instruments 
at the balance sheet date.  The fair value of short term 
deposits, loans and bank overdrafts with a maturity of less 
than one year have been assumed to approximate to their book 
value.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided on an undiscounted basis on all 
timing differences that have originated but not reversed at 
the balance sheet date except as referred to below.  Amounts 
provided are calculated with reference to tax rates that 
are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing 
differences are expected to reverse based on tax rates and laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date.   

Provision is made for tax that would arise on the remittance 
of the retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries, only to the 
extent that the dividends have been accrued as receivable.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it 
is considered more likely than not that there will be suitable 
taxable profi ts from which the future reversal of the underlying 
timing differences can be deducted.  



1. Profi t and loss account

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Profi t and Loss Account of the Company has not been included in these Financial 
Statements.  The retained loss for the year dealt with in the Financial Statements of the Company was £873,000 (2008: £1,010,000).

2. Fixed asset investments

Interests in subsidiary undertakings   2009 2008
     £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation  
At 1 April    14,676 14,676
  
At 31 March     14,676 14,676

3.    Debtors

     2009 2008
     £’000 £’000
Amounts falling due within one year:  
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings   27,208 22,950
Deferred taxation    214 -
Prepayments and accrued income   28 8
Derivative fi nancial instrument   4 7
Other debtors    806 400
  
     28,260 23,365

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings include amounts related to fi nancing the activities of Hyder Consulting PLC (Group) and are repayable on 
demand.

4. Creditors

     2009 2008
     £’000 £’000
Amounts falling due within one year:  
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings   1,199 894
Derivative fi nancial instruments   201 -
Other creditors    336 295
  
     1,736 1,189

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5. Called up share capital

Authorised     2009 2008
     £’000 £’000
  
47,877,306 (2008: 47,877,306) ordinary shares of 10p each   4,788 4,788
  
     Shares £’000
Issued and fully paid  
  
At 1 April 2007    35,847,114 3,585
  
Issued in relation to exercised share options   82,896 8
Issued as part of acquisition consideration for Voigt Ingenieure Group   186,383 19
Placing to fund acquisitions   1,050,000 105
Issued as part of acquisition consideration for Crescent PSS Pty Limited   58,980 6
Issued as part of acquisition consideration for Holford & Associates   471,974 47
  
At 31 March 2008    37,697,347  3,770
  
Issued in relation to exercised share options   57,500 6
  
  
At 31 March 2009    37,754,847 3,776

During the year, options were exercised on 6,500 shares at 87.5p, 11,000 shares at 139.5p and 40,000 shares at 194.0p. The total consideration for 
these shares was £0.1m.

6. Share premium account

      £’000
 
At 1 April 2007     21,262
Premium on ordinary shares issued during the year less expenses of issues    7,405
 
At 31 March 2008     28,667
Premium on ordinary shares issued during the year less expenses of issues    173
 
At 31 March 2009     
      28,840

7.         Capital redemption reserve 

     £’000
 
At 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009    80

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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8. Share option reserve

      £’000
 
At 1 April 2008     521
Value of employee services    88
Share options exercised    (81)
 

At 31 March 2009     528

9. Profi t and loss reserve

      £’000
 
At 1 April 2008     8,861
Profi t for the year     423
Dividends paid     (1,296)
 

At 31 March 2009     7,988

10. Employees and Directors 

(a)  Staff costs

There were no employees other than Directors in the years ended 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008. 

(b) Average monthly number of employees during the year (including Directors) 

   
    2009 2008
    Number Number
  

Administration    8 6

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The following information is illustrative only and does not form part of the Financial Statements.    
   
    31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
    2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Consolidated Income Statement       
       
Revenue    318,970  233,672  203,145  171,314  136,233 
       
Net Revenue    269,903  196,907  167,445  139,213  112,858 
       
Operating profi t before amortisation 
and other adjustments   17,388  15,037  11,401  8,380  4,714 
       
Amortisation of goodwill and intangibles   (3,241) (1,802) (1,407) (671) 351 
Exceptional items and other adjustments   (9,139) 180  4,338  2,057  (318)
       
Profi t before interest and taxation   5,008  13,415  14,332  9,766  4,747 
       
Net fi nance costs    (1,796) (667) (983) (1,427) (2,154)
       
Profi t before taxation   3,212  12,748  13,349  8,339  2,593 
       
       
Consolidated Balance Sheet       
       
Goodwill and other intangibles   46,728  45,452  18,046  12,332  6,275 
Fixed assets    13,477  11,142  9,443  8,364  6,830 
Deferred tax    12,240  8,559  12,560  15,171  10,730 
Current assets    157,879  119,407  96,671  81,171  62,232 
    230,324  184,560  136,720  117,038  86,067 
       
Current fi nancial liabilities and trade payables   (106,630) (71,781) (63,471) (54,213) (34,005)
Total assets less current liabilities   123,694  112,779  73,249  62,825  52,062 
       
Non-current liabilities and provisions   (64,844) (63,045) (47,315) (54,874) (45,249)
       
Net assets    58,850  49,734  25,934  7,951  6,813 
       
Called up share capital   3,776  3,770  3,585  3,266  3,233 
Share premium account   28,840  28,667  21,262  12,515  11,701 
Retained earnings    13,556  15,939  2,437  (8,232) (7,945)
Other reserves    12,648  1,332  (1,592) 72  (315)
       
Total shareholders’ equity   58,820  49,708  25,692  7,621  6,674 
Minority interests in equity   30  26  242  330  139 
       
Total equity    58,850  49,734  25,934  7,951  6,813 
       
       
Statistics       
       
Adjusted net operating margin  % 6.44  7.63  6.81  6.02  4.18 
Adjusted diluted earnings per share  p 34.87  33.36  26.49  18,86  7.86 
Basic earnings per share  p 9.12  30.91  32.44  21.44  8.14 
Dividends per ordinary share  p 4.50  3.00  2.00  1.25  0.75 
Average number of employees  Number 4,643  4,257  3,798  3,203  2,864 
Net (debt) / funds    £’000 (5,729)  (11,125) 8,221  6,214  4,451 

NON- STATUTORY INFORMATION - SUMMARY OF FIVE YEAR TRADING RESULTS (UNAUDITED)    
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